
 

 

 
Wednesday, 19 January 2022 
 
To:   Members of the MCA - Audit, Standards and Risk Committee and Appropriate 

Officers 
 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
You are hereby summoned to a meeting of the South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined 
Authority to be held at 11 Broad Street West, Sheffield S1 2BQ, on: Thursday, 27 
January 2022 at 11.00 am for the purpose of transacting the business set out in the 
agenda. 
 

 
Dr Dave Smith 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
 
 

Webcasting Notice 
 

This meeting will be streamed live or subsequent broadcast via the Mayoral Combined 
Authority’s website. 
 
You should be aware that the Mayoral Combined Authority is a Data Controller under the 
Data Protection Act 2018.  Data collected during this webcast will be retained in 
accordance with the Mayoral Combined Authority’s published policy. 
 
By entering the meeting room, you are consenting to be filmed and to the possible use of 
those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. 
 
 

 

You can view the agenda and papers  
at www.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk  
or use a smart phone camera  
and scan the QR code: 

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/


 

 

Member Distribution 
 
Councillor Phillip Lofts (Chair) Barnsley MBC 
Rhys Jarvis (Vice-Chair) (Independent Member) 
Councillor Ian Auckland Sheffield CC 
Councillor Joanna Baker-Rogers Rotherham MBC 
Councillor Emily Barley Rotherham MBC 
Councillor Ben Curran Sheffield CC 
Councillor Allan Jones Doncaster MBC 
Angela Marshall (Independent Member) 
Councillor Joe Otten Sheffield City Council 
Councillor Sioned-Mair Richards Sheffield City Council 
Councillor Ken Richardson Barnsley MBC 
Councillor Austen White Doncaster MBC 
 



 

 

 
MCA - Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
 

 
 

Thursday, 27 January 2022 at 11.00 am 
 
Venue: 11 Broad Street West, Sheffield S1 2BQ 

 

Agenda 
 

Agenda 
Ref No 

Subject Lead Page 
 

1.   Welcome and Apologies    

2.   Urgent Items/Announcements    

3.   Items to be Considered in the Absence of Public 
and Press  

  

4.   Declarations of Interest by any Members    

5.   Reports from and Questions by Members    

6.   Questions from Members of the Public    

7.   Minutes and Actions of the Previous Meeting held 
on 21 October 2021  

 5 - 14 

8.   Verbal Update from Audit, Standards and Risk - 
Advisory Panel Meeting on 13 January 2022  

Angela Marshall Verbal 

9.   Health and Safety Update/Report  Lynne Sutton 15 - 26 

10.   Strategic Risk Monitoring  Liz Morris 27 - 46 

11.   Risk Dashboard  Liz Morris 47 - 68 

12.   Draft 2022/23 Treasury Management Strategy 
Report  

Gareth Sutton 69 - 122 

13.   Update on 21/22 AGS Governance Improvement 
Action Plan  

Ruth Adams 123 - 134 

14.   2021/22 Annual Governance Review Process  Ruth Adams 135 - 138 

15.   Internal Audit Reports 

 Internal Audit Progress Report 

 Internal Audit Reports 

 Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker 
Report 

Lisa Mackenzie 139 - 224 

16.   Integration Update  Ruth Adams 225 - 232 

17.   Breach of Controls Report  Gareth Sutton 233 - 238 

18.   Committee Work Plan 2021/22   239 - 242 

Date of next meeting: Thursday, 24 March 2022 at 11.00 am 

At:11 Broad Street West, Sheffield S1 2BQ  



This page is intentionally left blank



MCA - AUDIT, STANDARDS AND RISK COMMITTEE 
 

 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON: 
 
THURSDAY, 21 OCTOBER 2021 AT 11.00 AM 
 
11 BROAD STREET WEST, SHEFFIELD S1 2BQ 

 

 
Present: 
Councillor Phillip Lofts (Chair) Barnsley MBC 
Rhys Jarvis (Vice-Chair) (Independent Member) 
Councillor Ian Auckland Sheffield City Council 
Angela Marshall (Independent Member) 
Councillor Joe Otten Sheffield City Council 
Gareth Sutton MCA Executive Team 
Dr Ruth Adams MCA Executive Team 
Mike Thomas MCA Executive Team 
Claire James MCA Executive Team 
Liz Morris SYMCA Executive Team 
 
In Attendance: 
Lisa Mackenzie (Internal Auditor) 
Emily Mayne (Internal Auditor) 

 

    
Apologies: 
Councillor Joanna Baker-Rogers Rotherham MBC  
Councillor Emily Barley Rotherham MBC 
Councillor Ben Curran Sheffield City Council 
Councillor Allan Jones Doncaster MBC 
Councillor Sioned-Mair Richards Sheffield City Council 
Councillor Ken Richardson Barnsley MBC 
Councillor Austen White Doncaster MBC 
Dan Spiller External Audit 
Hassan Rohimun External Audit 
Reyna Ramdhani External Auditors 
Andrew Smith Internal Audit 
Dr Dave Smith MCA Executive Team 
Steve Davenport MCA Executive Team/SYPTE 
 
15 Welcome and Apologies 

 
 The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting.  

 
Apologies for absence were noted as above.  
 
The meeting was not quorate so continued on an advisory basis. 
 

16 Urgent Items/Announcements 
 

 None. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



 

17 Items to be Considered in the Absence of Public and Press 
 

 None. 
 

18 Declarations of Interest by any Members 
 

 None. 
 

19 Reports from and Questions by Members 
 

 Cllr Lofts referred members to a circulated link in relation to the recent National 
Audit Office publication entitled Climate Change Risk: A Good Practice Guide 
for Audit and Risk Assurance Committees, adding that it was likely that this 
would play a substantial part in the Committee’s future work. 
 

20 Questions from Members of the Public 
 

 None. 
 

21 Minutes and Actions of the Previous Meeting held on 9/09/2021 
 

 A Marshall requested the following corrections: 
 

1. Page 8, paragraph 1 – ‘accountancy’ to be amended to ‘final accounts’  
2. Page 8, paragraph 3 – the Panel had agreed an amendment to their Terms 

of Reference, rather than to postpone an amendment. 
3. Page 8, paragraph 5 – the Panel had agreed to undertake a deep dive of 

operational risks, not establish a sub-committee. 
4. Page 10, paragraph 5 – ‘with the public transport workstreams’ to be 

deleted; and 
5. Page 12 – paragraph 5 – ‘ongoing concern’ to be amended to ‘going 

concern’ 

ACTION: Governance Team 

 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 9 

September 2021 be agreed as a true record, subject to the above 

amendments. 

22 Matters Arising Action Log 
 

 A report was presented to provide Members with progress updates on 
Actions/Matters arising from the Audit, Standards and Risks Committee held on 
9 September 2021.  
 
R Jarvis highlighted that whilst all actions had been marked as complete, the 
risk dashboard at Item 15 had not been received.  In response, Dr Adams 
advised that this was due to the clarity of the action, in that it had been noted 
as being added to the Forward Plan as a standing item, rather than being 
presented to the Committee and would be amended accordingly. 
 
 
 

Page 6



 

ACTION: Governance Team to update the action in relation to the Risk 
Dashboard ie to be presented to the Committee, rather than added to the 
Forward Plan. 
 

23 Update from Audit, Standards and Risk - Advisory Panel Meeting (Verbal) 
 

 A Marshall provided a verbal update on the meeting of the Advisory Panel on 8 
October 2021.  The following key points were noted: 
 

 A pre-meet had focused on the re-tendering process for internal and 
external audit.  Other agenda items included risk management and a 
progress update on integration. 

 Current operational challenges presented by driver shortages were 
impacting on services and there was proposed industrial action on the 
system. 

 Internal audit was on track and external audit had completed with an 
unqualified audit opinion issued.  There was an anticipated delay of up to 3 
months for the final report. 

 A deep dive into operational risks had commenced with a presentation in 
relation to Supertram and how emerging issues were being managed 
towards the end of the franchise in 2024. 

 Progress on integration plans and the corporate risk review were discussed.  
The Panel received an assurance that the budget for the project was 
sufficient and there was a reserve allocation to support the £800k budget if 
needed. 
 

The update was welcomed, and the Chair reinforced the importance of member 
attendance. 
 
RESOLVED – That the update from the Audit, Standards and Risks Advisory 
Panel meeting on 8 October 2021 be noted. 

 
24 Health and Safety Update 

 
 R Adams introduced a quarterly report of health and safety issues within the 

South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority organisation and estate. 
 
Key points arising from members’ discussion are summarised below: 
 

 The report was welcomed as was the visibility provided by the Gantt charts 
and the inclusion of ‘near misses’. 

 R Adams advised that she would liaise with the Health and Safety Advisor as 
to whether work had been undertaken to identify whether any improvements 
could be made at the Barnsley Interchange and what mitigation measures 
were in place with regards to the specific elevator incident referred to in the 
report. 

 A written response would be provided as to the monitoring of speed limits at 
the Barnsley Interchange and whether operators were abiding by the set 
speed limit. 
 

ACTION: R Adams to follow up on the information requested in relation to 
the Barnsley Interchange. 

Page 7



 

 
RESOLVED – That the members of the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
present noted the report. 
 

25 Strategic Risk Monitoring 
 

 L Morris presented a report which provided an update on the Strategic Risks of 
the Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA), highlighted risks that had closed, new 
risks added and an update on actions.  
 
Members were advised that the PTE’s risks had been analysed alongside those 
of the MCA to look at them in totality and create a global position in terms of the 
risk environment. 
 
A block of risks remained, predominantly related to the operational transport 
element and these had been analysed further to map against the concerns 
raised by the Advisory Panel.  These would be further reviewed at the combined 
Management Board and risk workshop in November. 

 
Plans were in place to review the risk management frameworks of both the PTE 
and MCA, as well as good practice guides from outside of the organisations to 
bring together a new framework to operate from April 2022 and build in a 
consistent and standard approach across the organisation. 

 
Key points arising from members’ questions and discussion are summarised 
below: 

 

 The potential challenge presented to the organisation by the election of a 
new Mayor, in that any change of leadership could cause disruption, was 
acknowledged, but the wording of the risk would be reviewed to ensure that 
the context was clear. 
 

 A new risk had been added in relation to the integration process given that it 
had the potential to create disruption to the focus of the business and impact 
on the delivery of the Corporate and Business Plan.  There was a separate 
integration risk register which provided a greater level of detail. 
 

 In response to feedback that the significant risks in relation to public 
transport were not clearly visible in the heatmap, it was noted that this was 
referenced in Risk 5 of the budget and financial management risks ie the 
systemic loss of commercial viability of the SYPT network and calls for 
greater public subsidy.  It was also noted that there was limited scope to 
mitigate locally beyond lobbying for Government support. 
 

 The aforementioned dashboard, with accompanying Gantt charts, would be 
key in enabling the committee to focus on the top 5-10 risks.  R Adams 
highlighted several key risks that might be included within that, namely: 
o public transport 
o economic restructuring and rebalancing which given the funding mix 

constraints, was a long-standing issue in South Yorkshire 
o the impending comprehensive spending review and potential risks to local 

authority and partners’ delivery programmes in a post pandemic world, 

Page 8



 

and 
o An internal operational risk which could potentially impact on the capacity 

and capability to deliver the programme arising from significant issues in 
the labour market and recruitment to certain posts. 

 
R Adams concluded that a concerted view of the Management Board’s top risks 
would be brought to the Committee. 
 
In addition to those risks highlighted by R Adams, R Jarvis also referred to the 
critical risk of climate change. 
 
The huge challenges and risks in relation to the public transport network were 
discussed as was the difficulty in strategic planning, given the need for 
Government direction and financial support. 
 
It was noted that the Transport & Environment Board were currently looking at 
commissioned research as to what a good network could look like and a paper 
in relation to regional options was due for MCA consideration shortly. 
 
R Jarvis advised that there was a strong focus on public transport at the Sub-
Panel and highlighted the fragility of operators due to lack of patronage and the 
risk that they could either fold or withdraw from providing future service if there 
was no financial gain.  R Jarvis noted that this issue would become more acute 
from 2024 when the current tram concession – which has insulated the MCA 
from revenue and operating risk – ends, with full responsibility returning to the 
MCA. 
 
A Marshall added that the Sub-Panel had noted the integrated nature of the 
travel systems and how they impacted on each other, which in turn affected the 
passenger response.  

 
RESOLVED – That members of the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
present reviewed the updated position on strategic risks and the associated 
controls and actions planned.  
 

26 Procurement of the External Auditor 
 

 G Sutton presented a report in relation to the appointment of an external auditor 
to undertake the annual statutory audit process. 
 
It was noted that the MCA’s current audit arrangements were due to come to an 
end by March 2023 and a decision was now required on how to appoint an 
auditor from 2023/24 onwards. Whilst the appointment of the external auditor 
was a matter reserved to the Board, the Audit and Standards Committee were 
asked to consider the options available and the recommendation that the MCA 
opt-in to the PSAA arrangements. 

 
RESOLVED – That the members of the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
present endorsed the proposal to opt-in to the PSAA arrangements. 
 
 
 

Page 9



 

27 Governance Improvement Plan 2021/22 - Progress Update 
 

 R Adams presented a report which provided an update on progress against the 
2021/22 Governance Improvement Plan. 

 
A question was raised as to Action No 4, which was marked as on track in the 
narrative, but had moved from green to amber in the RAG rating. In response R 
Adams advised that the action had previously been coded as green at the early 
outset but had moved to amber in recognition of the complexity of the work.  It 
was noted that work was still progressing and to the same timescales. 

 
In response to a question regarding plans to improve committee attendance, Dr 
Adams advised that a stocktake would be undertaken and followed up with 
local authorities as required.  The Chair also voiced concerns as to attendance 
and it was confirmed that member attendance statistics were published and 
included with the Annual Report. 

 
RESOLVED – That the members of the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
present noted the information. 
 

28 Internal Audit Plan Progress Report 
 

 L Mackenzie presented a report which provided an update on the progress of 
the 2021/22 Group Internal Audit Plan. 
 
In response to a question regarding the progress of last year’s planned IT 
advisory report, members were advised that a draft report had been received 
and a final report was expected in the near future. 
 
RESOLVED – That the members of the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
present noted the progress of 2021/22 audit activity undertaken by Grant 
Thornton for  

(i) Joint MCA & SYPTE audits  
(ii) MCA audits  
(iii) SYPTE audits. 

 
29 Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker Report 

 
 L Mackenzie presented an update on the implementation of the 

recommendations made by Internal Audit. 
 
RESOLVED – That the members of the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
present noted the progress of the implementation of internal audit 
recommendations. 
 

30 Internal Audit Reports 
 

 L Mackenzie presented a report which outlined the remaining Internal Audit 
Reports from the 2020/21 Internal Audit Plan. 
 
Members welcomed the progress made from the previous internal audit report. 
 

Page 10



 

RESOLVED – That the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee members 
present noted the findings and recommendations on the internal audits on fraud 
and procurement as outlined in Appendices A and B respectively. 
 

31 Integration Update 
 

 R Adams presented a report which provided an update on the programme of 
activity being undertaken to create a single integrated MCA organisation. 
 
Members’ attention was drawn to the fundamental milestone of integration into 
a single organisation by the end of the financial year.  In parallel to that, it was 
hoped that Government would have enacted all the legal processes to dissolve 
the PTE by that time.  Two landing points had been put in place for both the 
integrated organisation and parliamentary process objectives.   
 
It was recognised that the confirmation regarding the order was out of MCA’s 
hands as it was a parliamentary process to dissolve the PTE.  Feedback from 
Government was that whilst recognised as a priority, it would not be taken as a 
stand-alone piece of legislation.  Officers were pushing hard to seek 
parliamentary time. 
 
It was noted that if parliamentary confirmation had not been received by 7 
January 2022, then it was highly unlikely that the formal order to dissolve the 
PTE would be in place for the end of the financial year. 
 
In preparation for both of the aforementioned landing points, members were 
advised that detailed planning for the implementation of an integrated 
organisation by April 2022 was underway and planning for a scenario in which 
the parliamentary order was not passed, was due to commence shortly. 

 
Key points arising from members’ questions and discussion are summarised 
below: 

 

 One of the key benefits of integration was the integration of data and 

intelligence and greater insight into service construction based on better 

quality information. 

 It was not intended to wait another financial year if the parliamentary order 

was not passed by the required deadline.  

 It was confirmed that the first major milestone in relation to the 

organisational model was on target. 

 Work was ongoing at both a Programme and Management Board level to 

determine whether there were any significant risks posed by integration to 

the overall corporate organisation.  This included a detailed look at the 

operational transport risk and a risk workshop scheduled for mid-November. 

 With regards to the programme delivery slippage outlined at Appendix A, it 

was noted that whilst website development had been curtailed due to 

access to skillset, it would not impact on integration if it was not ready to go 

live by April 2022. 

Page 11



 

In relation to the financial activities outlined, G Sutton outlined changes to the 
current banking arrangements and service level agreement with SCC had been 
mutually agreed and would not affect the overall timeline. 
 
Work in relation to changes to the financial regulations and new contract 
procedure rules had slipped.  However, the capacity constraints in those areas 
had been addressed and there was sufficient time between now and March 
2022 to get work back on track. 
 
RESOLVED – That the members of the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
present noted the report. 
 

32 Breach Report 
 

 G Sutton presented a report which provided details of occasions where the 
Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) had been breached.  

 
It was noted that adherence wasn’t simply a matter of compliance, but also 
about evaluating processes to identify why breaches had occurred and what 
lessons could be learned 

 
Members were advised that the 2 breaches presented, whilst relatively minor in 
value, did speak to systemic issues, particularly in relation to a lack of 
knowledge and understanding.  Measures had been put in place to refresh the 
induction pack and improve communication of the rules and processes. 

 
RESOLVED – That members of the Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
present noted the report. 
 

33 Work Plan 
 

 The Committee considered the updated Work Plan for 2021/22.  
 

Whilst mindful of the extremely busy forthcoming agendas, the Chair referred to 
the need for environmental matters to be considered as part of the work 
programme. 
 
ACTION:  Dr Adams to liaise with the Chair as to how best to incorporate 
environmental updates into the Work Plan. 
 

 
I, the undersigned, confirm that this is a true and accurate record of the meeting. 
 
Signed  

 
Name 

 

 
Position 

 

 
Date 

 

Page 12



 

N:\Policy_Development\Governance\Meetings\Audit Standards and Risk Committee\2022\2022 01 27\07ii  
Matters Arising_Action Log v2.docx 

 
 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
 

27 January 2022 
 

Actions and Matters Arising from the  
SYMCA Audit, Standards and Risk Committee  

held on 21 October 2021 
 

Minute 
No 

Action  Action 
Owner 

Status/Update  

22 Work Plan 
R Jarvis requested that the Risk Dashboard 
be presented as a standing item at future 
meetings (apart from the July meeting).  
 
ACTION: Update the Work Plan. 
 

Christine 
Marriott 

Action Complete 
 
Work Plan has now been 
updated and Risk 
Dashboard to be 
presented at all ASRC 
meetings (apart from in 
July). 

24 Health and Safety Update 
• R Adams advised that she would liaise 

with the Health and Safety Advisor as 
to whether work had been undertaken 
to identify whether any improvements 
could be made at the Barnsley 
Interchange and what mitigation 
measures were in place with regards to 
the specific elevator incident referred 
to in the report. 
 

• A written response would be provided 
as to the monitoring of speed limits at 
the Barnsley Interchange and whether 
operators were abiding by the set 
speed limit. 

 

Ruth Adams Health and Safety 
Advisor has reviewed the 
measures in place at 
Barnsley Interchange at 
the time of the lift 
incident and found them 
to be sufficient.  No 
further improvements 
can be made. 
 
 
 
 

 

 

25 Strategic Risk Monitoring 
R Adams concluded that a concerted view 
of the Management Board’s top risks 
would be brought to the Committee. 
 

Ruth Adams 
 

This is work in progress – 
an internal workshop has 
been held and some 
additional work to scope 
the risks and controls is 
underway.  

Page 13



 

N:\Policy_Development\Governance\Meetings\Audit Standards and Risk Committee\2022\2022 01 27\07ii  
Matters Arising_Action Log v2.docx 

Minute 
No 

Action  Action 
Owner 

Status/Update  

27 Governance Improvement Plan 2021/22 - 
Progress Update 
In response to a question regarding plans 
to improve committee attendance, Dr 
Adams advised that a stocktake would be 
undertaken and followed up with local 
authorities as required.  The Chair also 
voiced concerns as to attendance and it 
was confirmed that member attendance 
statistics were published and included with 
the Annual Report. 
 

Christine 
Marriott/ 
Councillor 
Lofts 

Action Complete 
 
Letter sent to party whips 
for each of the Local 
Authorities party whips 
asking them to remind 
Elected Members of the 
importance of attending 
MCA Board meetings. 
 
Cllr Lofts has also written 
to Mayor Jarvis to inform 
him of this action. 
 

33 Work Plan 
Whilst mindful of the extremely busy 
forthcoming agendas, the Chair referred to 
the need for environmental matters to be 
considered as part of the work 
programme. 
 
R Adams to liaise with the Chair as to how 
best to incorporate environmental 
updates into the Work Plan. 
 

Ruth Adams/ 
Councillor 
Lofts 

Update: 
 
Richard Sulley (Net Zero 
Project Director) 
convened an officer Task 
and Finish Group to 
review the report. Agreed 
a significant piece of work 
that impacts on 
processes, paper in 
development to come to 
Management Board for 
consideration.  
After this meeting will be 
arranged with the Chair.   
 

 

Page 14



 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
 

27 January 2022 
 

Health & Safety Quarterly Update 
 

Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Purpose of this report: 
 

Monitoring/Assurance 
 

Is this a Key Decision?                                   No 
 
Has it been included on the                    Not a Key Decision 
Forward Plan? 
 

 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Steve Davenport, Principal Solicitor/Monitoring Officer 
 
Report Author(s): 
Lynne Sutton 
lynne.sutton@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 

 
Executive Summary 
Quarterly report of health and safety issues within the South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined 
Authority organisation and estate. 
 

What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
This monitoring and auditing of health and safety should ensure peace of mind for all 
employees of SYMCA and for all users of the estate. 
 

Recommendations   
It is recommended that the committee note and discuss the contents of the attached report. 
  

 
1.  Background  
  
1.1 The attached report forms part of a quarterly update to the Management Board on 

Health and Safety issues, including compliance with legislation and any actions 
taken. 

  
 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 9



2. Key Issues 
  
2.1 Please see attached report 
  

3. Consultation on Proposal  
  
3.1 Not applicable 
  
4. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   
  
4.1 Not applicable 
  
5. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  
5.1 Not applicable 
  
6. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
6.1 Not applicable 
  
7. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  
7.1 None 
  
8. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  
8.1 None 
  
9. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
  
9.1 None 
  
10. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  
10.1 None 
  
11. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   

 
11.1 None 
  
List of Appendices Included 
A Health & Safety Quarterly Report (1st October to 31st December 2021) 

 - Annex 1 – Analysis of Accidents and Incidents 

- Annex 2 – Analysis of Crime and Disorder Incidents  
- Annex 3 – RIDDOR Incidents  

 

Background Papers 
Not applicable 
  
  
 

Page 16



 

 
Health & Safety Quarterly Update 
 
VERSION 5.0    
DATE 11 JANUARY 2022 
 

 

Contents: 
 

1. Introduction 
 

2. Update 
 

3. Recommendation 
 

4. Appendices 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
This paper, submitted by the Health & Safety Advisor, presents to the Management Board an 
update on health and safety issues and highlights any areas of concern, work currently being 
undertaken and remedial actions taken during the period 1st October to 31st December 2021.   

 

2. UPDATE 
 

 2.1  Accidents and Incidents 
  There were no accidents, incidents or near misses involving any SYMCA staff during the 
  period. 
  
 2.2 Transport Operations 
 
  Accidents and Incidents - Interchanges 

Analysis of Accidents and Incidents by location and type for the period are summarised in 
 Appendix 1.  The total number of accidents and incidents for the period has increased by 
77.4%, compared to the last quarter, with near misses increasing by 100%.  This increase 
is due to more staff awareness and more accurate reporting.   

  
 Analysis of Crime & Disorder Incidents by location and type are summarised in Appendix 

2.  There has been an overall increase in incidents on the last quarter by 134.7%, with an 
increase in violence related incidents up by 143.4%.  Most disturbing is the increase in 
those types of incidents at Meadowhall which has seen an increase of 509% on the last 
quarter with an increase in footfall of only 23%. Most other sites have seen an increase 
comparative with their footfall increase. 

 
The Health & Safety Advisor has spoken with customer service managers at Meadowhall 
in relation to the increase to ascertain any possible reason or trends.  The managers 
agree that despite more reporting, due to a change in contract staff and management, the 
increase is worrying.  However they are in regular contact with the South Yorkshire Police 
Travel Safe Officer, who has no cause for concern and does not feel there is any need for 
any additional police resource.  As expected a larger number of incidents take place at 
weekends but this only correlates with the increase in footfall at this time.  The East End 
Partnership (made up of representatives from large businesses in the area and South 

Page 17



 

Yorkshire Police) has recently recommenced with meetings, so it is hoped that this may 
assist with any regular offenders or sharing of information between members. 
 

 
 RIDDOR (Reporting of Injuries, Diseases & Dangerous Occurrences Regulations) 
 There were four RIDDOR incidents for the relevant period.  Details of these can be found 

in Appendix 3.  All of these appear to be pure accidents and give no area of concern. 
 
  

 Transport Operator Accident Details 
 The Health & Safety Advisor has obtained details from South Yorkshire Supertram 

Limited (SYSL) in relation to their accident statistics.  Due to a difference in their reporting 
periods details are only available up to 13th November.  However the data shows that 
there were no incidents that needed to be reported under RIDDOR during that time.   

 
Information has been provided from First but Stagecoach have not submitted any 
information in relation to accidents.  The Health & Safety Advisor is to contact both 
operators to try and get a formalised reporting structure with the same information for 
both operators. 

 
 2.3  Premises Audits 

  The Health & Safety Advisor has continued to carry out premises audits for the 
organisation and can report that the vast majority of issues found are housekeeping 
issues.  A visit was also made to the Advanced Manufacturing Park Technology Centre 
(AMPTC) and it can be reported that the vast majority of issues identified in the past are 
now being dealt with and their compliance with health and safety legislation no longer 
gives the Health & Safety Advisor any concern.  

 
 2.4 Fire Risk Assessments 

 The Health & Safety Advisor monitors the status of actions identified on the fire risk 
assessments carried out for all sites. There are still a number of actions outstanding on a few 
interchanges however these are scheduled in with the contractor to be completed in the next 
few weeks.  The next round of assessments will start on 17th January, with the exception of 
Broad Street West and Rotherham which were completed in November. 

 
 2.5 Emergency Evacuation Plans 

 The Health & Safety Advisor has received clarification on the minimum numbers of staff to 
be on site at any given time that the main interchanges are open.  The Emergency 
Evacuation Plans written will now be circulated and discussed at sites and their 
effectiveness monitored. 

 
 A planned emergency evacuation was scheduled to take place at BSW in December.  

Due to the government implementing Plan B and asking everyone to work from home, 
this had to be cancelled.  This will be rescheduled for the New Year.  

 
 2.6 Ventilation 

 Planned works on the ventilation system at Broad Street West were completed 
successfully.  The ventilation system’s efficiency has been increased (incoming fresh air 
and the extraction thereof) and is working as designed across all floors of the building.   

  
 2.7 Covid 19 

 The Health & Safety Advisor has continued to monitor the national information and advice 
in relation to Covid 19 and advise accordingly.  Risk assessments are reviewed on a 
regular basis, particularly when restrictions change. 

 
 The recent email switch over project, which involved staff attending Broad Street West in 

person, gave some cause for concern .  A review has taken place of the process put in 
place and lessons learned.  When the project recommences, there will be clear 
communication to staff about the Covid Secure measures in place, particularly in relation 
to the mandatory wearing of a face covering (unless exempt).  These instructions will also 

Page 18



 

be visible in the designated switch over area on 3rd floor and IT staff will verbally make 
staff aware as they arrive for their appointment. 

 
2.8 Other Business 
 Following a visit to BSW from the Counter Terrorism Unit of South Yorkshire Police, and 

subsequent security recommendations for holding public facing meetings, a meeting plan 
is currently being produced.  The plan will include a Standard Operating Plan (SOP) with 
an Emergency Plan for Management Board to consider.  Once the plan is agreed and put 
in place, the Health and Safety Advisor intends to run a “mock” MCA meeting to identify 
any weaknesses. 

 Training in dealing with suspicious packages and counter terrorism awareness for staff 
who work closely with the Mayor and in front line positions in interchanges has been 
arranged to take place in January 

 

3. RECOMMENDATION 
          The Management Board is asked to note the contents of the report. 

 

4. APPENDICES 
 

 1. Analysis of Accidents and Incidents 
 2. Analysis of Crime and Disorder Incidents 
 3. RIDDOR Incidents 
   

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



1

36

3

2 2

1 1

26

1

5

8

23

11

5

3

7

1 1111 11

13

2

1

16

1

5

1

6

1

4

1

3

1

2

8

1

6

1

3 3

2

1 1 11

2

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Building Damage Medical/Illness Miscellaneous -
Substance Abuse

Moving Vehicle -
Bus

Moving Vehicle -
Private Vehicle

Moving Vehicle -
PV/Pedestrian

Conflict

Moving Vehicle
(Other)

Near Miss Objects - Falling
Objects

Off Site Incident RTA Slip/Trip /Fall X - Not Classified

Appendix 1 (annex 1) - Accidents & Incidents Analysis

Number Incidents

Adwick Mini Interchange

Barnsley Interchange

Barnsley Rail Station

Dinnington Mini Interchange

Doncaster North Park and Ride

Hillsborough Mini Interchange

Legal & Finance

Malin Bridge Park and Ride

Manor Road Maltby

Meadowhall Interchange

Meadowhall Rail Station

Off-Site

Rotherham Interchange

Sheffield Interchange

Swinton Mini Interchange

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Incident_Type

Number 

Incidents

Barnsley 

Interchange

Barnsley 

Rail Station

Dinnington Mini 

Interchange

Doncast

er 

Intercha

Hillsborough 

Mini 

Interchange

Meadowhall 

Interchange

Meadowhall 

Rail Station

Midlan

d Road

Off-Site Rotherham 

Interchange

Sheffield 

Interchange

Woodhouse 

Station

Begging/Homeless 2 1 1

Inappropriate Behaviour 11 1 6 1 1 2

Individuals threatening self-harm/suicide 9 1 7 1

Not Classified 11 1 1 6 1 1 1

Substance Abuse 8 5 1 1 1

Trespass - Other 2 1 1

Trespass - Rail 4 1 3

Violence - Anti-Social Behaviour 39 5 1 22 2 1 5 3

Violence - Physical Assault 27 7 1 2 1 8 2 1 4 1

Violence - Theft 5 3 1 1

Violence - Threatening Behaviour 19 4 2 6 4 3

Violence - Vandalism 17 1 3 1 8 1 2 1

Violence - Verbal Abuse 22 1 2 1 1 15 1 1

2

11

9

11

8

2

4

39

27

5

19

17

22

1 1

5

7

4

1 11 1

2

3

1

2

1

2

1 1 11 11

6 6

5

1

22

8

3

6

8

15

1 1

3

2 2

111 1 1 11 1

7

1

5

4

1

4

1 1

2

1 1

3

1

3

2

11 1

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Begging/Homeless Inappropriate
Behaviour

Individuals
threatening self-

harm/suicide

Not Classified Substance Abuse Trespass - Other Trespass - Rail Violence - Anti-Social
Behaviour

Violence - Physical
Assault

Violence - Theft Violence -
Threatening
Behaviour

Violence - Vandalism Violence - Verbal
Abuse

Number Incidents

Barnsley Interchange

Barnsley Rail Station

Dinnington Mini Interchange

Doncaster Interchange

Hillsborough Mini Interchange

Meadowhall Interchange

Meadowhall Rail Station

Midland Road

Off-Site

Rotherham Interchange

Sheffield Interchange

Woodhouse Station

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3 

HEALTH & SAFETY TRACKING – RIDDOR INCIDENTS 

 

The following are the RIDDOR reportable incidents from 01/10/21 to 31/12/21 

Ref: 26801 – Rotherham Interchange – 29/10/21 

A male fell on the tactile paving close to stand A5.  The individual didn’t sustain any apparent 

injuries but his carer, who was accompanying him, called an ambulance in accordance with 

his company policy. The ambulance never arrived and the two left site as they weren’t 

prepared to wait any longer.  It is assumed that they went directly to the local hospital under 

their own steam. 

Ref: 26828 – Malin Bridge Park & Ride – 22/11/2021 

A female was found by a member of our contract staff sitting on the kerb at Malin Bridge 

Park & Ride.  She informed the staff member that she had slipped off the kerb, sustained an 

injury to her hip and an ambulance had been called.  Upon arrival the ambulance crew 

examined the lady and took her to the local hospital.  There is no CCTV coverage of the 

area of the alleged fall.  An examination of the area was made and no defects were found. 

Ref: 26850 - Barnsley Interchange – 10/12/21 

A lady fell close to the lift outside Citizen Café, close to the entrance of Barnsley Interchange.  

She informed staff on site that she hadn’t wanted to use the lift with her husband but, as she 

turned around to use an alternative route, she caught her foot in her luggage strap and tripped 

over.  She told staff that she thought she had sprained her right shoulder so an ambulance was 

called.  Upon examination by the ambulance crew she was taken to the local hospital.  This 

accident was captured on CCTV. 

Ref: 26853 – Meadowhall Interchange – 11/12/21 

A lady attended the CS desk at Meadowhall and reported that her young child had allegedly 

slipped on the floor in Platform 2 Waiting Room and hit her face on one of the seats.  The child 

had a red mark to her face and the area was slightly swollen.  The mother of the child informed 

staff that she was taking her directly to the local hospital.  There is no CCTV coverage of the area 

where the incident took place.   

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
 

27 January 2021 
 

Strategic Risk Monitoring 
 
Is the paper exempt from the press and public?    No 
  
Purpose of this report: 
 

                   Monitoring/Assurance 
 

Funding Stream:                          Not applicable 
 
Is this a Key Decision?                                                       No        
 
Has it been included on the Forward Plan?                     Not a Key Decision 

 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Ruth Adams, Deputy Chief Executive 
 
Report Author(s): 
Liz Morris, Interim Risk Manager 
Liz.morris@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 

Executive Summary: 
This paper provides an update on the Strategic Risks of the Mayoral Combined Authority 
(MCA), which have been updated, following the Autumn series of Management Board risk 
review activity, to reflect the current status and next steps, in terms of the actions.  
 
In our last ASRC paper we recognised the need to address the volume, build on the 
existing good practice and the risk registers, within both the MCA and PTE.  The 
development activity is taken forward within a second risk management paper.     
 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
Effective risk management is a key principle of good governance and decision making, 
which enables the MCA to pursue its ambitions and objectives in the most effective and 
efficient way, bringing about better outcomes for residents and businesses in South 
Yorkshire. 
 
Recommendations:   
Audit, Standards and Risk Committee (ASRC) Members are asked to note the updated 
position on strategic risks and the associated controls and actions planned and raise any 
questions considered necessary.  
 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
Not applicable  
 
 

 

Page 27

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Liz.morris@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk


1.  Background  
  
1.1 Following a full internal Management Board review and an Internal Audit Report in 

2020, the risk management framework of the MCA was revised and refreshed. The 
Audit, Standards and Risk Committee endorsed the revised policy and process in 
October 2020 and, following their recommendation, it was approved and adopted 
by the MCA at their meeting in November 2020.  
 
In line with the ASRC’s Work Plan, this paper provides the Strategic Risk 
Monitoring update for consideration at the January 2022 meeting.    

  
2. Key Issues 
2.1 Strategic Risk Summary Update 

The table below provides a summary of the five strategic risk categories.  Revised 
Risk Management Actions Plans are provided at appendices A-E. 
 

 
 
   

Strategy 
Focus 

Org 
Mgmt 

Budget 
& Fin 
Mgmt 

Prog 
Mgmt 

Gov & 
Comp 
Mgmt Total  

No. of risks in category 7 8 11 8 8 42  
Overall/average mitigated 
probability score 3.33 2.5 3 2.5 2.5   
Overall/average mitigated impact 
score 3.75 2.7 2.3 3.1 2.5   
Overall/average mitigated risk 
score 3.75 6.75 6.9 7.75 6.25   

No. of highly probable risks 0 0 2 1 0 3  

No. of new risks added 1 0 1 0 0 2  

No. of risks closed 0 0  1 0 0  

No. of open actions 6 4 5 5 6 26  

No. of actions overdue 0 0 0 0 0 0  
 

 
  

Page 28



2.2 Heat Map  

  
 

Im
p

ac
t 

5 Extreme 
          

4 
Major/ 
Serious 

    

  

    

3 Moderate 

    
 
      

2 Minor 
  

  

  
 
    

1 Immaterial 
          

 
   

Remote Unlikely Possible Probable 
Highly 

Probable 
 

   1 2 3 4 5 

  
 

Probability 
  
3 Proposal 
  
3.1 Risk Category – Strategy Focus (Appendix A) 
  
3.1.1 Summary 
 The ‘Overall Residual Risk Score’ for the category ‘Strategy Focus’ is ‘Medium.  

One new risk has been added, as follows:  
 

• #10 The launch of the new Economic Plan, leads to a focus on short term 
pandemic response and recovery, resulting in a potential gap when compared 
to the long-term aspirations of the SEP. 

 
No risks have been closed, one risk, #8 has been updated to reflect the implication 
on time and the ‘Mitigated Probability’ has been refreshed to ‘Unlikely’.  Currently, 
there are seven live risks within the category. 

  
3.1.2 Actions being taken 
 The MCA has the Strategic Economic Plan and the Renewal Action Plan and 

these, along with other policy documents, have been consolidated into a Corporate 
Plan and into detailed business plans.  The 2022-23 business planning cycle is in 
progress.  The intention is to more closely align the 2022-23 Business Plan to the 
Corporate Plan creating a golden thread running through the documents 
demonstrating how business activities deliver the Corporate Plan. Performance 
monitoring will be a standing item for management to consider.   
 
Alongside the above, work is well underway on the development of the Strategic 
Investment Framework.  The process is over half complete and the MCA will 
consider a paper to this effect in January 2022.  At the current time, there is broad 
agreement at officer level of the priorities, outcomes and outcome measures, key 
aspects of the Framework. 
 

OM  

PM  

G&CM 

BFM 

Page 29



The Project Feasibility Fund will be operational from April 2022, onwards, and for 
the first year of South Yorkshire Renewal Fund, it is proposed that the focus will be 
on building capacity and developing a pipeline of ambitious and transformational 
interventions. 
 
The most significant mitigated impact, which continues to be categorised as high 
relates to public transport.  This is unable to be mitigated solely through regional 
endeavours as intervention and investment from Government is required to 
mitigate this risk area effectively. Key aspects of the risk are presented below. 
 
Bus and light rail recovery funding is in place and confirmed to April 2022.  There is 
early indication that further funding may be available beyond March 2022 however, 
it is currently unclear as to DfT and HMT proposals.  Relationships with officials, to 
influence their considerations and the decision-making process, are continuing. 
 
The Transport and the Environment Board approved the submission of the Bus 
Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) to the DfT on 29 October 2021.  This sets out 
the region’s long-term ambitions for the bus network and was informed by the 
recommendations from the Bus Review.  A funding decision is expected from 
government – likely February 2022. 
 

The initial BSIP is intended to become a finalised Enhanced Partnership Plan, 
subject to due process and consultation.  Following approval by the MCA in 
November 21, we issued a formal notice to the bus operators informing them of our 
intention to enter a Statutory Enhanced Partnership, and to consult them on our 
Enhanced Partnership Plan (EPP) and Scheme (EPS).  This statutory 28-day 
consultation process closed on 16 December.  A public consultation of our EPP 
and EPS will start in early January 2022.  A final decision to make an Enhanced 
Partnership Scheme, implementing it from April 2022, will be put to the MCA in 
March 2022. 
 
Tram Sustainability Plans, aligned to medium- and long-term needs, continue to be 
developed and will be subject to the MCA assurance and decision-making process. 
– with an aim of a paper to the MCA Board in July 2022.  At this point, we intend to 
start the mobilisation and delivery of the agreed activities.  However, it is 
anticipated that implementation of the contents of the Plan will take several years 
to conclude.   
 
In the period since we last reported, we have considered and updated the sections 
within the risk register.  Many of the actions are work in progress and we have 
updated each to take account of the activity, which has taken place and next steps.  

  
3.1.3 Movement 
 One new risk has been added, #10, and the risk relating to the Mayoral election, 

#8, has been enhanced to acknowledge time as a key factor and the ‘Mitigated 
Probability’ refreshed to Unlikely.  The new risk has been scored using the 
consistent methodology and the overall scoring for Strategy Focus risks, is 
‘Medium’.  

  
3.2 Risk Category – Organisational Management (Appendix B) 
  
3.2.1 Summary 
 The ‘Mitigated Probability’ score for the Organisational Management category 

remains ‘Unlikely’ and the overall ‘Mitigated Impact’ score is ‘Minor’.  The overall 

Page 30



‘Residual Risk Score’ for the category remains at ‘Medium’. There are no ‘Highly 
Probable’ or ‘Extreme’ impact scores. 
 
The ‘Potential Impact’ #1 has been refreshed to ‘‘Major/Serious’ and ‘Moderate’ as 
an increasing number of employees are moving to roles external to the MCA.   
There are currently eight risks within the category. 

  
3.2.2 Actions 
 The Action relating to the expansion of the HR Team has been closed September 

21.  The actions have been updated to reflect the ongoing nature of each and to 
provide a summary of progress and next steps.   
 
Organisational hybrid working, driven by the pandemic, continues to be refreshed 
in line with latest Government advice.   
 
The action relating to the election and candidate manifesto monitoring will increase 
as clarity over nominees is received. As in 2018, all Mayoral candidates will be 
offered an opportunity to meet with the CEX in advance of the election.  The 
related action will continue to be updated to reflect the enhancement and 
escalation of such activity. 
 
Workforce management continues to be a challenge, as the volume of employees 
leaving has increased, and an innovative approach is being developed, which aims 
to grow our own talent and maintain that commitment through an appropriate 
reward and recognition structure.   
 

Integration is primarily covered through the reporting of the Integration Programme 
and incorporates a work strand relating to the workforce.  Consequently, and 
understandably, there is cross over to the work associated with the Integration 
Programme and the associated risks and action plans to harmonise to one 
organisational structure.  

  
3.2.3 Movement 
 The ‘Impact’ and ‘Mitigated Impact’ of ‘Impact’ #1 have been uprated to 

‘Major/Serious’ and ‘Moderate’ respectively taking into account the increasing 
volume of resignations.  The ‘Mitigated Impact’ of Impact #5 has been refreshed to 
‘Moderate’ from ‘Major/Serious’.   
 
Applying the consistent methodology results in, the ‘Overall Mitigated Probability’ 
as ‘Unlikely’ and ‘Overall Mitigated Impact’ remaining as ‘Minor’ and the ‘Residual 
Risk Score’ is maintained at ‘Medium’. 

  
3.3 Risk Category – Budget and Financial Management (Appendix C) 
  
3.3.1 Summary 
 The ‘Overall Mitigated Probability’ for the category remains ‘Possible’, the 

‘Mitigated Impact Score’ is maintained as ‘Minor’ and the ‘Overall Risk Score’ 
remains ‘Medium’.   
 
Risks #3 and 7 have been refreshed to reflect the latest related position whilst a 
new risk has been included reflecting the significant inflationary pressures which 
are materialising. 
 

Page 31



Whilst short term funding pressures have been released through recovery funding, 
up to the end of the financial year, risks #5 and 6 are still considered to be ‘Highly 
Probable’.  
 
The primary focus of the risk is income shortfalls, financial and commercial viability, 
refranchising the Supertram and the financial implications of transport 
responsibilities.  
 
There are currently eleven live risks within the category 

  
3.3.2 Actions 
 Budget and financial management risk continues to reflect the ongoing impact of, 

and fiscal response to the pandemic along with the change driven by the MCA’s 
continuing devolution journey.  The ongoing commercial sustainability of the 
passenger transport network remains highly contingent on the scale and longevity 
of government support.  The MCA has adopted a financial strategy that allows it to 
play its role in supporting the network in the interim, but this risk report reflects that 
it is predominantly the government that has the necessary powers and fiscal levers 
to shape post-pandemic provision. 

  
 Government funding for both bus and tram has now been committed to the end of 

the financial year, providing near-term stability.  There is early indication that 
further funding may be available beyond March 2022 however, it is unclear what 
DfT and HMT are considering.   
 
Funding for bus has been linked to the development and implementation of the Bus 
Service Improvement Plan (BSIP). Work continues on the development of the tram 
sustainability plan, additional detail is in section 3.1.2. 
 
Since the last reporting date, the impact of the inflationary environment has 
become clearer and begun to emerge as a key planning risk. In particular, the cost 
of buying back the existing portfolio of bus tendered services is now expected to be 
considerably more than current values. This cost escalation will impact upon policy 
choices and dimmish the MCA’s wider financial resilience to the macro 
sustainability risks described. 
 
Given the continued uncertainty with funding and the considerable challenges 
associated with the latest Government advice to work from home, coupled with 
cost inflation, operators are likely to plan for the worse-case scenario.  This is likely 
to lead to operator decisions to withdraw services, which will need to be registered 
with DfT by the end of January 2022 (assuming a 70 day registration timescale) or 
by the end of February (if the pandemic flexibility to 35 day registration deadline is 
extended into 2022). 

  
 The MCA is proposing a transport levy freeze for the forthcoming year, following a 

decade of reductions. This, along with forecast budget savings and the release of 
previously earmarked reserves will provide the basis of a financial mitigation 
package. 
 
The MCA has entered its Business Planning and Budget exercise for 2022-23, 
which provides an opportunity to coordinate and consolidate its funding position 
against business plans for the year to ensure that we plan for the challenges that 
lie ahead.  

  

Page 32



 Integration activity is progressing at pace and is covered as a separate agenda 
item. An integration budget exists and spend is monitored and utilisation reported 
upon to the Programme Board. 

  
 Since the last reporting date the MCA has accepted HM Treasury’s offer of a 

borrowing cap for financial year 2021/22 enabling government to begin the process 
for the laying of secondary legislation. Subject to local authority consents this 
legislation is expected to be tabled in Parliament in January. 

  
3.3.3 Movement 
 The wording of risk #3 and #7 have been updated to reflect the likely policy shift 

relating to the LEP and the CRSTS intended allocation.  A new risk, #11, has been 
added to reflect the inflationary pressures.  There has been no change to the 
‘Overall Average Mitigated Probability’, which is ‘Possible’, the Overall Mitigated 
Impact Score’ which is ‘Minor’ and the ‘Residual Risk Score’, which is Medium. 
 
The Actions have been updated to reflect the movement since our last report and 
the proposed next steps.   

  
3.4 Risk Category – Programme Management (Appendix D) 
  
3.4.1 Summary 
 The ‘Overall Mitigated Probability’ score for the category remains ‘Unlikely’. The 

‘Overall Mitigated Impact Score’ remains ‘Moderate’ and the ‘Overall risk score’ 
remains at ‘Medium’. 
 
Risk #9 has been updated to reflect positive movement on the Getting Building 
Fund programme however, the ‘Mitigated Probability’ has been moved to ‘Highly 
Probable’.  Previous reporting has highlighted the delivery underperformance in 
this area and the limited mitigation opportunities.  The MCA has engaged 
government on this issue and is awaiting a response.  
There are currently nine risks within the category.   

  
3.4.2 Actions 
 An existing mitigation has been refreshed to reflect the independent expert 

procured to review business processes has now made a number of 
recommendations, which are being progressed by a Task and Finish Group 
nominated by the SY and MCA CEX.  
 
An additional weakness has been added to reflect the global and national supply 
chain pressures, which impact on delivery mechanisms and result in cost inflation 
and time delays.  This is primarily driven by the pandemic and a pressure, which is 
being experienced more widely, and is not isolated to the MCA. 
 
The aged action to roll out Better Business Training has been initially concluded as 
in 2019-20 all employees of the MCA, including some within the PTE and Business 
Advisers, undertook the formal Better Business Cases Training course and 
examination.  The aim being to upskill and better equip colleagues for their role.   
 
Employees who joined the MCA in 2020-21 received induction sessions on the 
MCA’s assurance, procurement and contracting processes.  This was partly due to 
pandemic restrictions being in place and partly awaiting HM Treasury’s publication 
of the revised Green Book, which was published in September 2021.  
Subsequently, around 140 employees from the MCA and local authorities attended 

Page 33



a series of training workshops, in Autumn 2021, on the assurance and business 
case development process following the revisions to the Green Book.  The 
intention is still to roll out the formal Better Business Cases training to MCA 
employees who have not previously been trained as well as to local authority 
officers.  Budget is currently being planned to roll-out the training in 2022-23, 
subject to any further pandemic-based restrictions.  This action will continue to be 
monitored and reported on.    
 
The MCA has received Period R04 Adult Education Budget delivery data from 
providers. Initial analysis of provider performance shows a mixed picture emerging. 
Some providers have already delivered above their related period allocation whilst 
others are yet to claim funding for any delivery.  More detailed analysis which 
compares actual to profile (at this point in the academic year) will need to be 
produced to better understand and articulate the position.  This analysis will also 
facilitate performance review meetings with providers and reconciliation.  The next 
provider data, R05, is due in Jan 22. 
  
Finally, a new mitigation has been included within the report concerning resource 
available to support the delivery of the CRSTS programme. This revenue resource 
provides some flexibility to begin preparations and early pre-capitalisation activity 
now. 

  
3.4.3 Movement 
 The ‘Mitigated probability’ of risk #9 has been increased to ‘Highly Probable’ to 

reflect the current status.  The ‘Overall mitigated probability’ remains ‘Unlikely’, the 
‘Overall mitigated impact score’ is ‘Moderate’ and the ‘Residual risk score’ is 
‘Medium’ in line with previous reporting.   

  
3.5 Risk Category – Governance & Compliance Management (appendix E) 
  
3.5.1 Summary 
 The ‘Overall mitigated probability score’ remains as ‘Unlikely’ and the Overall 

Mitigated Impact is ‘Minor’. The overall ‘Residual risk score’ for the category 
remains at ‘Medium’.  No new risks have been added and no risks closed.   
 
One new ‘Existing Mitigation’ has been added to reflect an officer scheme of 
delegation has now been implemented, which establishes consistent officer 
delegations between the PTE and MCA.  This forms a key control within the overall 
control environment of the integrated organisation. 
There are currently eight live risks in the category.   

  
3.5.2 Actions 
 Each of the five actions has been updated to reflect the movement since the last 

ASRC report and specifically the next steps.   
 
Monitoring of procurement breaches and reporting has been established and 
demonstrated through the reporting to the ASRC, consequently we propose to 
close the action.   
 
The Contract Procurement Rules Guidance is being updated for re-issue by the 
end of March 2022.  One Action is held purely for ongoing monitoring purposes, 
AEB Data Management, and this has been updated to reflect the current position, 
which is that R04 data has been received from providers and there are no 
surprises or issues arising.  Provider performance monitoring is being considered, 

Page 34



delivery by some providers is under profile and for other providers it is over.  
Reconciliation across the whole provider landscape is to be undertaken.   
 
Recruitment of the Election Manager has taken place and a plan to deliver the 
election developed, which addressed the recorded action.  Delivery of the plan is 
now underway.  
 
Detailed activity relating to the accessibility action is underway with many of the 
actions being completed. e.g. move to a new website platform, others are in train 
and others will be addressed in 2022 e.g. the remaining pdf documents. 
 
The activity within the Governance & Compliance Management Workstream is 
being taken forward as part of the Integration programme and includes the 
development of a single risk management approach, which is progressing well.  
The post to cover information governance is also being considered as part of the 
integration and we will hold the action until the responsibilities are assimilated into 
the structure.  

  
3.5.3 Movement 
 The ‘Overall mitigated probability score’ is ‘Unlikely’ and the ‘Overall mitigated 

impact score’ is ‘Minor’ and the ‘Overall risk score’ remains stable at ‘Medium’.  A 
new ‘Existing mitigation’ has been added to capture the Scheme of Delegation. 

  
4. Consultation on Proposal  
  
4.1 Not applicable 
  
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision:   
  
5.1 Not applicable 
  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  
6.1 Failure to effectively manage risk could have significant financial and reputational 

implications and for the MCA. 
  
7. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
7.1 There are no legal implications as a result of this report. 
  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  
8.1 There are no human resources implications as a result of this report. 
  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  
9.1 Any risks relating to equality and diversity will be captured in the risk category of 

Organisational Management. 
  
10. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
  
10.1 There are no climate change implications as a result of this report. 

 
  

Page 35



11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  
11.1 There are no ICT implications as a result of this report. 
  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice 

 
12.1 There are no communications or marketing implications as result of this report. 
  
List of Appendices Included 
A Strategy Focus Risk Management Action Plan 

B Organisational Management Risk Management Action Plan 
C Budget & Financial Management Risk Management Action Plan 
D Programme Management Risk Management Action Plan 

E Governance & Compliance Management Risk Management Action Plan 
   

Background Papers: 
MCA Risk Management Policy 
  
 

Page 36



DATE Dec 2021 Appendix A

Risk Category

Probability

Mitigated 

probabilty 

Risk Description

5 4

4

4 3

3 3

3 3

4 2

4 3

3.142857143

Impact Mitigated impact

4 3

4 4

4 4

5 5

3 2

4 3

4 3

4 3

3.375

10.61

Status update
Interim date completion date

Sustained lobbying for future funding for light rail and bus 

services.

UPDATED   

Bus and light rail recovery funding remains in place to April 2022.  DfT has indicated that there may be further funding available in to 2022/23 and this will become clearer in the remaining months of this 

financial year.  A funding decision on the SYMCA Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) submitted in October 2021 is expected in January 2022. 

SYMCA continue to develop the tram sustainability plan aligned to our medium and longer term needs on the system. 

31-Jan-22 Apr-22

Planning for an agreement to the implementation of the 7 

Point Bus Review Plan.

UPDATED As per the last update, since the launch of the National Bus Strategy there is a requirement to develop and agree a Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) for the region. SYMCA have already 

declared their intention to establish an Enhanced Partnership for South Yorkshire.

The BSIP has undergone a number of reviews with partners and stakeholders and will be taken to the Transport and Environment Board in October with submission deadline to DfT at end of October 

2021, which we met.  A fundign decision is expected in January 2022, though the total fundign available nationally is thought to be less than originally planned.  A consultation on the Enhanced 

Partnership is being undertaken between November and January with MCA approval for establishing an Enhanced Partnership required in March 2022. The first full BSIP will then be in place by end of 

March 2022.

Mar-22

UPDATED Development of and agreement to the Strategic 

Investment Framework (revised to Investment Strategy) by 

Members and development of a plan for its implementation

UPDATED To date, Members have agreed the principles of the SY Renewal Fund (MCA Board March 21). Work is well underway developing the underpinning outcomes that will inform the Fund’s 

development, with these being driven by the Strategic Economic Plan. This includes agreeing how social outcomes will be hard wired into all interventions, as well as operationalising the principles of 

equity and subsidiarity to ensure investment is fairly targeted at need and opportunity. This work enables the MCA and each of the four South Yorkshire councils an agreed place based outcomes 

framework that will direct the types of projects and interventions designed and delivered locally alongside a set of South Yorkshire wide/MCA schemes that will deliver at a wider geography or at an 

appropriate scale to the challenge. 

Further work is also underway to agree a policy and a mechanism for ensuring a return on MCA investment wherever possible and to also set up the Project Feasibility Fund. Following this, the detail of 

the investment programme will be developed and Members will shape and agree this before the end of this financial year.  

Our detailed process underpining the above includes a four stage process.  The first stage focused on priorities and this second stage on outcome, we are currently refining the conclusions from the first 

two stages and a paper will be presented to the MCA in January 2022 to update.  Stage three meetings (focusing on interventions and subsidiarity) will commence in October and run till December 21 and 

Stage four discussions (focusing on process and access to funding will run concurrently with stage three as this will have implications for the Assurance Framework, which needs to be considered by the 

LEP and MCA Boards in January and approved in March 2022. All of which is to lead to the SY Renewal Fund becoming fully operational from April 2022.

Jan-22 Mar-22

Manifesto monitoring to be carried out to plan for different 

scenarios.

Ongoing monitoring of developments, which we expect to increase as we reach May 2022 and the election. Ongoing May-22

Business and Corporate Plan monitoring and reporting 

processes are to be enhanced and formalised. 

Management Board received a Business Plan Monitoring Report  and enhanced reporting to be a feature of the 2022-23 business cycle.    Ongoing Apr-22

Develop a Mayoral Plan to include resourcing, budget,  process 

and risk.  

A plan has been developed for the delivery of the mayoral election in May 2022 and early meetings have been held with Election Service Managers in the four constituent councils regarding the 

arrangements. Early discussions have also been held with the Electoral Commissions regarding the Combined Area Returning Officers proposed approach to the election.  A dedicated elections manager 

is now in post and work is underway to implement this election plan. 

31-Jan-22 May-22

Risk / Mitigation Owner Dr Dave Smith

Detailed analysis of economic trends through the SY Data and Intelligence Hub (Updated Sept 21)

Detailed engagement with Management Board, Programme Board, ASR Advisory Panel and the ASRC to provide assurance that integration processes and practices are operating effectively.  

Action Plan

Existing mitigation 

strategies / controls 

weaknesses

NEW The Elections Team is in place and we continue to gather intelligence and monitor the developments as we progress towards the election.

5 A lack of capacity across all aspects of the system (not simply the MCA) to develop and deliver the activity required to deliver an ambitious investment programme and to respond effectively to changing economic circumstances - post pandemic 

6 Reputational damage to the Mayor and the MCA and the Management Board of the MCA Exec.

Potential Impact / 

Consequence if risk 

materialises

Mitigated/Residual risk score

UPDATED Detailed Corporate and associated business plans capturing the priorities of the Transport Strategy (2019), SEP (2020), Renewal Action Plan (RAP) (2020), Devolution Deal (2020) are in place with clear deliverables and monitored against.  Plans are being reconsidered as par of the annual 

business cycle.

Focus activity on local investment (gainshare), local discretionary grants and delivering out the agreed national programmes which address locally specified priorities (£390m). Continue to lobby for flexibility in future Shared Prosperity Funding (SPF) from the pilot to full roll out in subsequent 

years.

Detailed analysis and risk monitoring of income and patronage and risk associated with light rail and bus services.

Existing mitigation 

strategies / controls for 

the risk category

6 Failure to develop, agree and implement a locally developed strategic investment framework could mean continuing reliance on short term, fragmented national funding pots, that do not sufficiently align to the regions aspirations

7. Divergence of views between the Mayor and the MCA in agreeing a vision and a direction of travel for the region leading to a focus on small scale interventions and transactional activity rather than transformation for South Yorkshire.    

[The scoring remains unchanged, Inherent and Mitigated Probability, due to the current unknown nature of the risk.]

7. A lack of transformational impact for the people and economy for the South Yorkshire economy.  

8. UPDATED Election of a new Mayor in 2022 has the potential to change the direction of travel, priorities and programmes of the MCA, which will require time to respond and embed in our programmes.

9. The Integration process may create disruption to the focus of the business leading to a failure to deliver the corporate and business plan of the organisation.

8. Outcomes of the corporate and business plans will not be achieved.

10. NEW The launch of the new Economic Plan, leads to a focus on the short term pandemic response and recovery, resulting in a potential gap when compared to the long term aspirations of the SEP. 

High level of uncertainty re future sources of central government investment to support the delivery of the SEP and RAP and to mitigate some major service transport challenges as a result of COVID-19. MCA has some influence to lobby and challenge but decision making to address the weakness 

is external 

UPDATED Pandemic and imposition of local restrictions is driven by Government decisions and is outside of our local control.  This alongside Government support packages coming to an end results in an unknown impact on our modelling and makes it difficult to plan effectively.  The recent 

Government decision to implement additional, Plan B, measures, exacerbates this situation further however, we continue to monitor the economic situation and patronage levels.  

Strategy Focus

1 CLOSED 

2 CLOSED 

3. Failure to respond effectively, as a Group, to the challenges brought about by the pandemic and changing government direction, for the public transport network and services for which the MCA Group are responsible could mean that transport ambitions for the 

region are not realised.

4 CLOSED 

Overall/average mitigated probability score

1 A lack of focus in priorities leading to a widening of the gap in KPIs of the SY economy with other northern regions, a sustained economic recession, high levels of unemployment, high levels of business insolvancy and significant risks to our places.

2 A lack of investment to deliver the locally agreed interventions with an over reliance on untargeted national solutions. 

3 A significant loss of income for the MCA.

4 A significant reduction in public transport services.

5 A lack of focus, unclear outcomes and resource plans not aligned to priorities.

Overall/average mitigated impact score

Key

1 - Immaterial

2 - Minor

3 - Moderate

4 - Major/Serious

5 - Extreme

Key

1-4 Low

5-10 Medium

11-16 Medium-High

17-25 High

Key

1 - Remote

2 - Unlikely

3 - Possible

4 - Probable

5 - Highly Probable

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



DATE Dec 2021 Appendix B

Risk Category

Probability

Mitigated 

probabilty 

Risk Description

3 2

4 3

4 3

3 1

4 3

4 3

4 3

3 2

2.5

Impact Mitigated impact

4 3

4 3

4 3

3 2

4 3

3 3

7 Fail to deliver the desired outcomes for South Yorkshire 3 2

2.71428571

6.79

Status update Interim date Completion date

Action Plan Review of business continuity plan 2021/22 and updated plan to be agreed UPDATED The BCP for the MCA has been updated to reflect staffing changes in 2021.  The longer term plan, linked to integration, is to review BCP across both 

organisations and for MB to agree a high level reporting structure, template and operating model.

We have been monitoring and responding to changing government guidance (e.g. Plan B) throughout the pandemic.  Hybrid ways of working have been agreed, 

adopted and are planned to operate until the end of the financial year and we continue to monitor the situation.

Ongoing Mar-22

Detailed Manifesto monitoring and the CEX and DCEX offer the candidates a one 

to one pre-election information sharing meeting.

UPDATED Ongoing monitoring of developments, which we expect to increase as we reach May 2022 and the election. Ongoing May-22

Worforce Planning is to be considered and an approach developed to create an 

innovative approach to recruiting, developing talent and reward to attract and 

maintain a committed workforce. 

UPDATED Target Operating Model developed, and workforce planning being considered and developed as part of the work being undertaken by HR and links into the 

Integration Programme. 

Ongoing Jun-22

The Hybrid approach to the way we work is being adopted to the end of March 

22, with a full new policy incorporated into the integration and cultural work from 

April 22. 

UPDATED Hybrid ways of working have been agreed, adopted and are planned to operate until the end of the financial year.  Monitoring of the situation is ongoing and 

we continue to react to the latest Government advice e.g. employees have been asked to work from home in response to the Government advice in December 21.  

Jan-22 Apr-22

Risk / Mitigation Owner Ruth Adams

1 Failure of the leadership of the MCA Executive to respond and adapt to the priorities of the Mayor, MCA and the LEP resulting in organisational priorities and team / individuals objectives that are are poorly articulated and communicated are poorly 

articulated and communicated that could mean outcomes are not achieved.

2 Due to the rate and pace of change, due to the pandemic, devolution and new priorities, the MCA Executive does not have the capacity or capability to deliver the emerging priorities and programmes. That could mean a loss of funding, failure to 

deliver outcomes, reputational damage, and the potential for an increase in staff absenteeism due to stress.

3 Failure to agree a sustainable budget for the MCA Executive, continued dependence on short-term and temporary funding streams, creating a reliance on short-term fixed term contracts and the use of short term consultancy contracts or agency 

workers.

5 UPDATED Disruption to payments, operations, services

7. A new mayor will be elected in 2022, which may result in a shift in focus for the organisation to different priorities and require a refocus of the resource, capability and capacity within priority areas.  

8. Challenges in recruiting into key MCA posts is exacerbated due to skills shortages in the market.   

9. As a result of Integration we fail to develop an organisation with a culture based on ambition, which then fails to deliver the objectives of the  organisation. 

4 CLOSED 

Organisational Management

5 Failure to have in place an adequate and effective approach to business continuity management, which due to  technical, health or operational disruption could mean the operations, programmes and services of the MCA Executive are significantly 

disrupted.

Overall/average mitigated probability score

6  The Integration process may create disruption to the focus of the business leading to a failure to deliver the corporate and business plan of the organisation and high employee turnover.

Overall/average mitigated impact score

Weekly Group Management Board meetings, to facilitate planning for policy and delivery priorities and to agree organisational communication.

Weekly meeting with Mayor, fortnightly meeting LEP Board and regular meetings with Leaders re their portfolio, led by Management Board.

Potential Impact / 

Consequence if risk 

materialises

1 UPDATED Increasing resignations and staff absenteeism 

2 Difficulties in recruiting, leading to higher costs

3 High level of establishment vacancies, higher levels of off-establishment appointments 

4 Outcomes and resource plans not aligned to priorities 

6 Reputational damage to the Mayor and the MCA and the Management Board of the MCA Executive

Business Continutity Plan developed and monitored quarterly. Detailed lessons learned analysis of continuity issues as a result of COVID-19 integrated into MCA Executive Continuity Plan.

Existing mitigation 

strategies / controls for 

the risk category

Detailed work on a hybrid approach to working, blending remote and office based, to maximise impact of collaborative working and the continued safety of employees. MCA has full influence over decision making to address the weakness.

MCA Executive regularly briefs all employees but there is no established Employee Forum, although an independent staff survey is rolling out for 24 months.  MCA has full influence over decision making to address the weakness.

Mitigated/Residual risk score

Existing mitigation 

strategies / controls 

weaknesses

Full review of HR policies and practices, new job evaluation approach, corporate values and behaviours, a new approach to objectives and performance reviews, a new induction and training and development process. MCA has full influence over decision making to address the 

weakness. 

Monthly Programme Board and fortnightly Steering Group for integration to ensure any organisational capacity or capability risks and issues are identified and escalated for resolution

Additional Interim and permanent HR team capacity commissioned /  recruited to ensure HR elements of organisational management can be effectively planned and implemented, with risks identified and mitigated. Appointment of an independent company to run a 24 month 

programme of staff surveys
Approval of the Corporate Plan, development of Business Plans and personal performance development review process providing greater clarity of objectives and the performance expected. Also approval to an approach to establish Collaboration Teams (policy or programme 

focused) to increase the momentum and focus for new areas of activity.

A Vision for the integrated organisation, including the culture, has been developed along with a Target Operating Model.  

Establishment of an Integration Change Ambassadors Forum, whole organisation briefings led by the CEX and Managememt Board and rolling staff engagement survey.  The CEX is carrying out a rolling roadshow for individual teams within the integrated organisation.  

A detailed Integration Plan is in place, which has escalation routes via the Programme Board, Management Board, ASR Advisory Panel and ASRC for oversight and scrutiny. 

Key

1 - Immaterial

2 - Minor

3 - Moderate

4 - Major/Serious

5 - Extreme

Key

1 - Remote

2 - Unlikely

3 - Possible

4 - Probable

5 - Highly Probable

Key

1-4 Low

5-10 Medium

11-16 Medium-High

17-25 High

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Date Dec 21

Risk Category

Probability
Mitigated probabilty 

Risk Description

3 2

4 3

3 3

3 2

5 5

5 5

4 3

2 2

4 3

3 2

5 4

3.090909091

Impact Mitigated impact

5 2

3 2

4 3

3 2

5 3

5 2

5 2

5 2

2.25

6.95

10 A new emphasis on borrowing as a means of financing investment activity requires both government consent and appropriate skills, capacity, and processes to be in place to enable the MCA to mitigate the risk of sub-optimal investment decisions.

9 UPDATED Changes to the regulatory environment around Bus services leads to a further change management exercise, greater capacity pressures, and greater financial exposure to the operational performance of the network.

Annex C
Budget and Financial Management

1 Failure across the MCA Group to create, maintain and implement an effective strategic and operational approach to budgetary, financial and asset management could mean poor financial management accountability, poor transparency and failure to achieve 

intended outcomes 

2 Income shortfalls arise due to post-pandemic behavioural changes, particularly around commercial rents and advertising, impacting upon the amount of earned resource that can be reinvested in services 

3 UPDATED Potential ending of some core funding streams including LEP Capacity Grant and income generated from rents leading to a shortfall in un-restricted revenue funding

4 An inconsistent approach to asset management across the MCA Group and landlord functions leads to sub-optimal performance, tenant disatisfaction, and inefficient reactive expenditure

5 Systemic loss of commercial viability in the South Yorkshire transport network due to patronage reductions, leading to pressure for greater public subsidy

6 Re-franchising of the Supertram mass-transit light-rail system in 2024 exposes the Group to commercial risk that it has previously been shielded from

7 UPDATED The MCA fails to find the local contribution to attract central government support from the CRSTS funding streams impacting upon the ability to draw down on the notional funding envelope

8 No clear consensus on the use of the devolution financial flexibilities and for the use of gainshare, leading to risk averse behaviour could mean failure to maximise the potential to invest in priorities

11 NEW Inflationary pressures impact upon budgets and the timeliness of delivery

Overall/average mitigated probability score

Potential Impact / 

Consequence if risk 

materialises

1 The financial stability of the MCA Executive is compromised as reserves are deployed on an unsustainable basis

2 The MCA is exposed to unplanned and reactive expenditure 

3 The ability of the MCA Group to resource activity beyond immediate priorities is prejudiced

4 The MCA’s ability to adequately control its activity through appropriate staffing levels is compromised

5 UPDATED The mass-transit renewals project stalls

6 The MCA seeks greater unplanned contributions from local partners or there are service reductions 

7 Reputational damage to the Mayor and the MCA and the Management Board of the MCA Executive

8 The MCA is not granted borrowing powers, or not granted the debt cap that it requires to support its investment plans

Overall/average mitigated impact score

Existing mitigation 

strategies / controls for 

the risk category

A review of reserves and provisions has been undertaken to ensure that the Group holds a prudent total quantum of reserves, and that those reseverves are directed to known risks. A complete re-set of reserves is proposed in the new Reserves Strategy, with a number of new earmarked 

reserves created.

Strong internal controls around forecasting and commissioning allows the MCA to control its financial commitments.

The Business Plan and Budget exercise for 2022/23 is now underway

An interim Asset Manager for the Group has been appointed

Following ongoing engagement with the Department for Transport, Government support for both bus and tram has been guaranteed to March 2022

The Group Financial Plan is currently holding, with reserves still available to support identified risk

UPDATED The MCA has accepted an offer from Government for its borrowing cap and legislation is expected to be tabled in January.

Work is underway to develop a Bus Improvement Plan which will enable the MCA to continue to access government funding support for bus networks, whilst developing plans for a move to Enhanced Partnerships which will support greater influence of operations.

Work has commenced on developing an Investment Strategy for the South Yorkshire Renewals Fund, which will shape the MCA's approach to using devolution funding and how the Executive supports it

Mitigated/Residual risk score

Existing mitigation 

strategies / controls 

weaknesses

Short term government funding horizons are inhibiting longer-term planning

There are limited means for the MCA Group to actively intervene in the public transport market to prime demand and redress falling patronage.

There are limited means to manage major investment projects such as the Mass Transit Renewals scheme beyond central government support, and further limited means to manage local contributions without the support of local levy-paying partners.

The MCA Group lacks the resources and powers to manage mass disruption – such as that arising from Covid – on the public transport network, and is reliant on central government support. 

The receipt of borrowing powers is contingent on DLUCG tabling legislation, and Parliament passing the order

NEW The MCA is exposed to global inflationary pressures that cannot be wholly mitigated through local means.

No clarity on future years funding from government including Shared Prosperity Funds, MCF, LEP Capacity Grant. MCA has some influence to lobby and challenge but decision making to address the weakness is external. 

Key

1 - Immaterial

2 - Minor

3 - Moderate

4 - Major/Serious

5 - Extreme

Key

1 - Remote

2 - Unlikely

3 - Possible

4 - Probable

5 - Highly Probable

P
age 41



Status update Interim date completion date

Support the preparation of the bid into the City Region 

Sustainable Transport Scheme

UPDATED We have supported the completion of the business case and received a notional allocation.  Work is underway to develop the further business case requirements of Government. Nov-21 Jan-22

Support the development of the Bus Service Improvement 

Plan to enable ongoing access to government support

UPDATED Since the launch of the National Bus Strategy there is a requirement to develop and agree a Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) for the region. SYMCA have already declared their 

intention to establish and Enhanced Partnership for South Yorkshire (though not excluded the option to pursue franchising if required).  The BSIP has undergone a number of reviews with partners 

and stakeholders and will be taken to the Transport and Environment Board in October with submission deadline to DfT at end of October 2021, which was met. Following submission, a consultation 

on the Enhanced Partnership will need to be undertaken between November and January with MCA approval for establishing an Enhanced Partnership required in March 2022. The first full BSIP will 

then be in place by end of March 2022.

Jan-22 Apr-22

Engage government on the drawdown of borrowing powers 

and the setting of an appropriate debt cap

UPDATED The MCA has accepted the HMT offer of the borrowing cap and is now seeking consent from its constituent authorities.   Jan-22

Support the development of the Investment Strategy for the 

South Yorkshire Renewals Plan

UPDATED Work is underway to co-develop and design the investment strategy with partners.

Our detailed process underpining the above includes a four stage process.  The first stage focused on priorities and this second stage on outcome, we are currently refining the conclusions from the 

first two stages and a paper will be presented to the MCA in January to update.  

Jan-22 Mar-22

Support the Integration Exercise UPDATED Support to the integration exercise is ongoing, a budget set and regular monitoring taking place. Jan-22 Mar-22

Risk / Mitigation Owner Gareth Sutton

Action Plan

P
age 42



DATE Dec 21 Annex D

Risk Category

Probability

Mitigated 

probabilty 

Risk Description

4 3

4 3

3 2

5 3

4 2

5 2

4 3

4 3

5 5

2.88888889

Impact Mitigated impact

4 3

4 3

5 4

4 3

4 3

4 3

4 3

3.14285714

9.08

Overall/average mitigated probability score

MCA Programme Management Risks 

1 The number and diversity of new programmes and government funding, each with its own specific complexities, exacerbate the current limitations in the system (MCA Executive and Partners) to respond to bidding rounds to 

secure resources for programmes to meet Mayor, MCA and LEP priorities.

2 The number and diversity of new programmes exacerbate the current limitations in the system (MCA Executive and Partners) in terms of capacity and capability to develop and deliver well formed programmes and projects that 

meet MCA / LEP objectives.

3 Pace of change and diversity of assurance requirements for different funds requires a range of technical assurance expertise and could mean weaknesses in recommendations made to decision makers.

4 Scale and complexity of work to implement the Bus Review 7 Point Plan, requiring expertise and resources beyond those that are available could mean a failure to effect the desired changes and deliver the desired SY transport 

network. 

5 Scale and complexity of the devolution of the Adult Education Budget, with limited capacity and resources results in underperformance not being identified early enough for the MCA to recycle/reallocate funding within the 

academic year funding window.

6 CLOSE Scale and complexity of work to deliver the Transforming Cities Funding, to the time limits set by Government, exacerbates the limitations in capacity and capability of transport teams to deliver the scale of the 

programme.

7 Failure to collate performance and investment data and risk assessments, adequately analyse and transparently report on performance and benefit realisation outcomes and risks.

8 The SYPTE/MCA Integration Exercise places considerable strain on the organisation and displaces focus from existing priorities.

9 UPDATED The pace of delivery on the Brownfield Fund could see the failure to meet Government mandated expenditure targets with funding foregone.

Potential Impact / 

Consequence if risk 

materialises

1 a reduced level of grant income awarded to the MCA or LEP.

2 a lack of investment in SY to deliver the locally agreed interventions leading to an over reliance on national programmes with minimal influence.

3 public transport services patronage continues to decline resulting in loss of income and failure to meet the priorities of the bus review and the ambition to mitigate climate change.

4 destabilisation of the FE Sector and problems in provision for adults.

5 reputational damage, as a result of poor performance or failure to mitigate risks, to the Mayor and the MCA and the Management Board of the MCA Exec.

6 return of money that cannot be used within a funding window to funding bodies, reducing the amount of funding investment priorities

7  benefits to South Yorkshire are not maximised, where AEB underspend is not identified early enough to take action to recycle funding.

Overall/average mitigated impact score

Existing mitigation 

strategies / controls for 

the risk category

Development programme leading to trained employees with MSP / Prince 2, Better Business Case or Risk Champion training in place and regularly reviewed

Appraisal Models developed and subject to peer review by relvant government departments

The Assurance and Accountability Framework establishes all processes for the development of business cases, assurance and any post approval change requests and sets out decision making 

All schemes report quarterly on milestones, risks. The Programme and Performance Unit summarise information and escalate issues to the Managament Board and to the Thematic Boards and LEP / MCA. 

Commissioned national AEB expert to lead the devolution of AEB programme, with recent experience of heading arrangements in other devolved administrations

UPDATED The procurement of an independent expert to review Business Processes and identify opportunities for improvement has provided a number of recommendations that are being progressed via a Senior Officer Steering Group with a sub-working 

level group of project managers.

The creation of a Project Feasibility Fund to resource the early stage development of schemes on a sustainable basis has been recommended to members as part of the Budget for FY 2021/22

A revenue reserve has been allocated to support the resourcing of the Integration Exercise with further resource allocated through the budget

DCEX appointed to lead programme of MCA / PTE Integration

Government have been engaged on the potential for flexibility to be afforded to meet expenditure targets

NEW £5m of revenue resource has been made available to support the delivery of the CRSTS programme.

Mitigated/Residual risk score

Existing mitigation 

strategies / controls 

weaknesses

Frequency of changes to government funding streams, often launched without guidance and the retrospective application of rules, hampers the ability to provide clarity and to update processes and implement training. MCA / LEP has limited influence to 

address the weakness.

Quality of programme information from Scheme Promotors is not always accurate and therefore milestone and performance reporting makes it difficult to adequately plan and execute mitigation strategies. MCA has influence to address the weakness.

All programme management information is currently processed manually via spreadsheets increasing the potential for errors. MCA has influence to address the weakness.

Key

1 - Immaterial

2 - Minor

3 - Moderate

4 - Major/Serious

5 - Extreme

Key

1 - Remote

2 - Unlikely

3 - Possible

4 - Probable

5 - Highly Probable

Key

1-4 Low

5-10 Medium

11-16 Medium-High

17-25 High

P
age 43



Status update Interim date completion date

Task and Finish Group of MCA Executive and LA Economic 

Development and Transport Teams to be established to 

consider systems weaknesses (capacity, capability and 

resources) leading to an options proposal for Members

UPDATED The Senior Officer Steering Group has commissioned a working group of Project Managers from across the region to contribute to task and process 

focussed improvements within the commissioning and delivery process. This Group has contributed to a number of proposals including funding, assurance, 

governance, and process change.

Jan-22 Mar-22

Roll out of Better Business Training to all MCA Executive and 

external Scheme Promotors, subject to budget constraints

UPDATED In 2019/20 all employees of the MCA, including some within the PTE and Business Advisers, undertook the formal Better Business Cases Training course 

and examination.  Employees who joined the MCA in 2020-21 received induction sessions on the MCA’s assurance, procurement and contracting processes.  This was 

partly due to Covid restrictions being in place and partly awaiting HM Treasury’s publication of the revised Green Book, which was published in September 2021.

Around 140 employees from the MCA and local authorities attended a series of training workshops in Autumn 2021 on the assurance and business case development 

process following the revisions to the Green Book.  However, the intention is still to roll out the formal Better Business Cases training to MCA employees who have 

not previously been trained as well as to local authority officers.  Budget is currently being planned to roll-out the training in 2022-23.

Apr-22 Mar-23

The resourcing, design, and implementation of a Project 

Feasibility Fund

The Project Feasibility Fund was created following a reserves adjustment. Deployment of the Fund will be made in line with the work of the Business Process Review 

Task and Finish Group.

Jan-22 Mar-22

Implementation of Programme Management System 

concluded

The Programme Management System is now implemented with the design of reports underway. It is intended to 'go-live' with the system in the new calendar year. 

Delays reflect capacity constraints and the need to deploy resource to the management of immediate pressures.

Jan-22 Mar-22

To performance manage and monitor and report on AEB 

delivery at a provider based level to facilitate recycling of 

funding.

The MCA has received R04 data. Initial analysis of provider performance shows a mixed picture emerging. Some providers have already delivered over half of their 

allocation whilst others are yet to claim funding for any delivery. More detailed analysis which compares actual to profile (at this point in the academic year) will need 

to be produced to better understand and articulate the position. This analysis will also support the PPU team to hold performance review meetings with providers, 

which will help to create greater focus on reducing provider performance gaps. The next provider data is due in Jan 22.

Jan-22 Mar-22

Risk / Mitigation Owner Gareth Sutton

Action Plan

Existing mitigation 

strategies / controls 

weaknesses

The timing of the Integration Exercise is ultimately dependent on the passage of legislation through Parliament. The final timing of the legislation may impact upon resourcing plans.

NEW Global and national supply chain pressures are impacting upon delivery mechanisms and contributing to cost inflation and time-delays

P
age 44



DATE Dec 2021 Appendix E

Risk Category

Probability

Mitigated 

probabilty 

Risk Description
2 1

3 2

4 3

4 3

4 3

3 2

4 3

3 2

2.375

Impact Mitigated impact

3 2

3 3

3 2

4 3

4 3

3 2

4 3

2.571428571

6.11

Status update
Interim date completion date

UPDATED Roll out of new CPR and processes along with development of a 

MCA Executive wide training programme. 

UPDATED The rebranded Contract Procurement Rules (CPR) document was passed for upload to the intranet with the re-branding of the MCA.

Induction training for new starters, and from a joint perspective of Finance, Procurement and PPU, has been rolled out and will be scheduled for each month as we progress.  We are revising the CPR guidance, 

alongside legal colleagues,  and this is due to be completed by the end of March 22.  

Mar-22

Lessons learnt from 2018 Mayoral election can inform planning and delivery. Budget agreed. Timely start to process.

Overall/average mitigated impact score

Existing mitigation 

strategies / controls for 

the risk category

UPDATED Deputy Chief Executive responsible for governance improvement activity across the MCA Executive and LEP undertaken by development of and review of the Annual Governance Improvement Plan.

Annual review of the Constitution, Financial Regulations, Contract Procedure Rules, Assurance and Accountability Framework and LEP Board Policies. 

Fundamental review of Contract Procedural Rules (CPR) and development of new procurement processes in year. 

OSC and ASC scrutinise policies, processes, decisions. Members have informal briefing sessions with CEX and Senior Officers to increase the effectiveness of the scrutiny process.

HR Policies are reviewed and updated to ensure legislative compliance.

IT Security systems and GDPR Action Plan is in place.

7 Failure to comply with the requirements of the LEP Review, particularly ensuring compliance with the gender diversity KPI

Overall/average mitigated probability score

Potential Impact / 

Consequence if risk 

materialises

4 Bottle-necks in decision making.

5 Increased numbers of FOIs.

8 CLOSED 

9 Failure to create, implement and monitor an effective information asset and GDPR management approach to manage personal data following the devolution of AEB could mean increased probability of data breaches.

1 Poor assessment of governance improvement and compliance by Internal and External Audit and Government as part of the Annual Performance Review of LEPs.

2 Potential Litigation and Financial Penalties.

3 Potential data breach and penalties.

Integration programme established, with Senior Responsible Officer and Programme Manager roles filled.  Within the Programme, a Governance workstream and work packages have been developed to ensure good practice is built into the new arrangements.  

Existing mitigation 

strategies / controls 

weaknesses

1 Failure to create, implement and monitor an effective strategic and operational approach to governance improvement across the MCA Group and for the LEP.

2 CLOSED 

3 Failure to effectively identify and plan for the integration of the PTE with the MCA leading to weaknesses in governance and compliance arrangements as the integration is implemented.

Governance and Compliance Management

6 Reputational damage to the Mayor and the MCA and the Management Board of the MCA Executive.

10  Failure to plan and implement an effective plan to manage and implement the 2022 Mayoral election

11 Failure to interpret and implement the government requirements for accessibility of information via web content and other published data

4 Failure to create, implement and monitor an effective approach to ensuring legislative, regulatory and statutory compliance across the organisation, including an effective approach to the publication of up to date relevant information on procurement, contracts, projects, policy 

documents and meeting papers.

7 Board structures, roles and responsibilities are unclear and become ineffective as a result of the integration.

5 Lack of specialist procurement and commercial expertise and weaknesses in the capability of officers to effectively procure goods and services could mean a failure to secure best value and cost overruns as a result of poorly defined specifications.

6 CLOSED 

NEW Officer scheme of delegation implemented, with consistent officer delegations between PTE and MCA

Lack of resource with data management experience.  Budget agreed for 21/22 to address this weakness.

Action Plan

Mitigated/Residual risk score

UPDATED Lack of an organisation wide training programme for all officers in the requirements of new CPR and procurement process, which makes clear the officer obligations and consequences for non-compliance. MCA has influence to address the weakness.  Work is well underway to address the weakness. 

Accountabilities for website information unclear, leading to risk of non-compliance with accessibility requirements materialising

Key

1-4 Low

5-10 Medium

11-16 Medium-High

17-25 High

Key

1 - Remote

2 - Unlikely

3 - Possible

4 - Probable

5 - Highly Probable

Key

1 - Immaterial

2 - Minor

3 - Moderate

4 - Major/Serious

5 - Extreme

P
age 45



Commission capacity, implement and seek assurances with regard to the 

data management and IT systems work for the devolution of AEB.

UPDATED The IT systems in place were able to import and validate the most recent ILR data return (R04) without generating any un-anticipated errors.  The IT systems are, likely, reaching a point of evolution 

which will allow for more consistent operation in the future.  

CONTINUE TO REVIEW FOR A YEAR POST GO LIVE DATE IN AUGUST 21.

Jan-22 Ongoing

UPDATED Recruitment of resource to deliver 2022 Election.  Development 

and implementation of an Election Plan leading to an effective election in 

May 2022.

(Propose to close the existing Action and record the delivery of the Election 

Plan as the Action) 

UPDATED Budget agreed, Election Manager appointed and an Election Plan developed, based on the previous election activity undertaken in 2021, which is to be implemented over the months leading to the 

May 2022 Election.   

Propose to report upon the delivery of the Election Plan within the next ASRC paper. 

May-22

Recruit to post agreed in Business Plan 20/21 for Information Governance to 

address lack of resource for data management.

UPDATED Budget agreed for Business as Usual post.  However, during the Integration process the scope of this role is being considered further and appointment is now deferred until the full role and 

responsibilities have been defined as part of the Integration work. 

Jan-22 Apr-22

Develop a plan for managing accessibility risks UPDATED Project Team established led by Dep CEX - Completed - Propose to delete

New accessibility statement agreed with Cabinet Office Digital Services and defined as comliant.  Propose to delete

Tools have been identified and are to be used to run detailed internal diagnostics - to be undertaken on the new wesite platform.

Specialist resource is in place to ensure compliance of existing website by September 21 - Completed - Propose to delete

Role identified for a Digital Communications Manager - budget agreed and pending recruitment

Accesibility training purchased and has been delivered to key employees within associated roles.    

New single website is planned, an associated project proposal developed, to include Accessibility.

The move to a new wesite platform and the content review has been completed and resolved the majority of the non compliance issues however, there are a small number of pdf documents that will be 

addresssed in the new year, 2022. 

Part of the integration programme oversees the project to develop a new website, which will take forward the managment of accessibility risks.  

Jan-22 Mar-22

Governance & Compliance Management to be considered as part of the 

Integration Programme.  

An Integration Programme Action Plan has been developed and a Governance and Compliance Management Workstream has been established, associated monitoring and reporting is taking place through the 

Integration Programme Board. 

Ongoing Apr-22

Risk / Mitigation Owner Steve Davenport

Action Plan

P
age 46



 
 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
 

27 March 2022 
 

Risk Management Development 
 

Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Monitoring/Assurance 
 

Is this a Key Decision?                                   No 
 
Has it been included on the                    Yes 
Forward Plan? 
 

Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Ruth Adams, Deputy Chief Executive 
 
Report Author(s): 
Liz Morris 
Liz.morris@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 

Executive Summary 
This paper provides an update to the Committee on the development of a new Risk 
Management Framework and Corporate Risk Register which takes account of the integration of 
the MCA and the Passenger Transport Executive into a single organisation.   
 
This paper sets out the process followed to develop the documents presented as appendices 
A, Risk Management Framework and Appendix B Corporate Risk Register and provides 
assurance that the work is progressing as intended. 
 

What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
Effective risk management is a key principle of good governance and decision making, which 
enables the MCA to pursue its ambitions and objectives in the most effective and efficient way, 
bringing about better outcomes for residents and businesses in South Yorkshire. 
 
Recommendations   
The Committee is asked to: 
 
Consider the development of the new framework, and provide their view re endorsing this for 
adoption to the MCA Board    

Page 47

Agenda Item 11



Agree standing down the current business as usual MCA risk register included in Item 10, with 
immediate effect and endorse its replacement with the new corporate risk register proposed to 
be adopted by the new integrated MCA Executive.  
 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
None  

 
1.  Background  
  
1.1 As separate organisations the MCA and the PTE have each held a risk 

management framework and operated independent processes resulting in different 
approaches to identifying, assessing, evaluating and recording risks.  This has 
resulted in risk registers that are very different. 
 
As part of the work to integrate the MCA and PTE, the development and agreement 
of a single, unified approach to risk management has been considered in greater 
depth and a new Framework and a Corporate Risk Register developed. This has 
been approved by the Management Board and further development activity 
commissioned to implement and embed the new Framework within the MCA.   

  
2. Key Issues 
  
2.1 Development Approach 

The Risk Management Framework, Appendix A, has been developed utilising the 
best of the existing frameworks of both the MCA and PTE, industry best practice in 
the form of the Risk Management standard, ISO 31000, the public sector based 
Orange Book, benchmarking of comparable organisations along with experiential 
knowledge of good practice.    
 
The Risk Register, Appendix B, has been developed in collaboration with senior 
leaders and their respective teams, following a detailed view of all risks identified 
and monitored by the MCA and PTE.  The risks of both organisations were 
brigaded together and allocated into categories and a detailed review of each 
category undertaken: 

• Strategy Focus, 14th September 2021. 

• Organisational Management, 21st September 2021. 

• Budget and Financial Management, 5th October 2021. 

• Programme Management, 5th October 2021. 

• Operational Transport, 9th November 2021. 

• Governance and Compliance Management, 9th November 2021. 

• Risk Workshop, 9th November 2021 to consider the top risks facing the 
integrated MCA and  

• Review of the MCA’s Top Risk Register, in draft format, and content, 7th 
December 2021 and again on 11th January to confirm agreement. 

 
The Risk Management Framework and Corporate Risk Register have been shared 
with independent members of the Committee and discussed on 11th January 22.  
The clear feedback has been that reporting of risks should be accompanied by a 
risk heatmap and dashboards to provide visual and graphical representation of the 
risks. 

  
 

Page 48



2.2 Risk Register Content 
At the current time, we have not prepared any additional detailed narrative relating 
to the Corporate Risk Register as this level of detail is included in the previous 
paper, Item 10 of the Agenda.   

  

2.3 Next Steps 
The next steps are to: 

• Present the new Corporate Risk Register to the Audit, Standards and Risk 
Committee 27th January 2022. 

• Conclude the development of the new Risk Management Framework and 
present to the ASRC at the 27th January 2022 meeting. 

• MCA Board to consider the Risk Management Framework and Corporate 
Risk Register in March 2022. 

• Implement and embed across the business and the operating structures. 

• Digitise risk recording and reporting, through the provision of a technical 
recording and reporting solution 

• Develop risk reporting to include heatmaps and dashboards. 

• Enhance understanding and training and build supporting resources.  

• Carry out a post implementation review approximately six to 12 months after 
implementation.  

 
The steps will facilitate risk management becoming integral to the culture and ways 
of working and make a positive contribution to strengthening the control 
environment, assurance arrangements, systems and processes. 

  
3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal 
  
3.1 The option to utilise an approach from either the current MCA or PTE approach 

was discounted and a full refresh, aligned to the development and accountabilities 
of the emerging new organisation agreed. 

  
4. Consultation on Proposal  
  
4.1 Independent Audit Committee Members 
  
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   
  
5.1 N/A 
  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  
6.1 N/A 
  
7. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
7.1 N/A 
  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  
8.1 N/A 
  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 

Page 49



  
9.1 N/A 
  
10. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
  
10.1 N/A 
  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  
11.1 N/A – at this stage 
  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   
  
12.1 Management Board and other teams have undertaken many sessions, workshops 

to review and develop the new approach to risk.  
  
List of Appendices Included  
 
A Risk Management Framework 
B Corporate Risk Register  
   

Background Papers 

N/A  
 

Page 50



Risk Management Framework                                                                                                                Page 1 of 14 
 

 

Risk Management Framework      Appendix 1 
VERSION 0.1 DATE January 2022 

 

 

Page 51



Risk Management Framework                                                                                                                Page 2 of 14 
 

Document Control: 

 

Version Date  Brief Summary of Changes Author 

1 06/01/21 First draft prepared Liz Morris 
2 Click or tap to 

enter a date. 

  

3 Click or tap to 
enter a date. 

Click or tap here to enter text. Click or tap here  

4 Click or tap to 
enter a date. 

Click or tap here to enter text. Click or tap here  

5 Click or tap to 
enter a date. 

Click or tap here to enter text. Click or tap here  

6 Click or tap to 
enter a date. 

Click or tap here to enter text. Click or tap here  

7 Click or tap to 
enter a date. 

Click or tap here to enter text. Click or tap here  

8 Click or tap to 
enter a date. 

Click or tap here to enter text. Click or tap here  

9 Click or tap to 
enter a date. 

Click or tap here to enter text. Click or tap here  

10 Click or tap to 
enter a date. 

Click or tap here to enter text. Click or tap here  

 

  

Page 52



Risk Management Framework                                                                                                                Page 3 of 14 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 
 

Introduction  
Risk management is a planned and systematic approach to the identification, evaluation, prioritisation 
and control of risks and opportunities facing an organisation.  Effective risk management is an integral 
part of good corporate governance and internal control arrangements and should be a part of everyday 
management processes across any organisation.  
 
South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA) is committed to ensuring robust risk management 
arrangements are in place and operating effectively across the organisation.  This is particularly 
important as transformation takes place and the two organisations integrate bringing together different 
process and ways of working to harmonise to a single operating model.  Moving forward Management 
Board will champion risk management and ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place, 
maintained and reported upon on an ongoing basis.   
 
Additionally, the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, applicable to the MCA, contain provisions on 
financial management, annual accounts, internal control and audit procedures, which require a sound 
system of internal control to be maintained, which includes the effective arrangements for the 
management of risk.  Furthermore, the Regulations require, as part of the financial control systems, 
measures to ensure that risk is appropriately managed to be in place. 
 
This framework sets out the MCA approach to risk management, the roles and responsibilities and 
provides a proportionate process, risk appetite, boundaries and tolerances.  The structured approach 
takes into account the maturity of the organisation, in terms of risk management knowledge, and the 
operational challenges the organisation faces.  As part of the approach to developing and defining this 
framework, and as part of good project management, a post implementation review should be 
undertaken approximately six months after implementation.  This should consider if risk management is 
operating as intended and adjust this framework and operating process to acknowledge the stable 
operational status of the organisation.  
 

Risk Management Definitions 
There are many definitions of risk, which fundamentally have at their heart that risk is the effect of 
uncertainty on objectives.  The technical recording of risk is expressed in terms of causes, potential 
events and the consequences.   

• Cause, element(s) has the potential to lead to risk(s), this can be structured as ‘due to’. 

• Event, something planned that doesn’t happen or something not expected, which happens, this 
may be structured as ‘there is a risk that’ or ‘leads to’. 

• Consequence, the outcome of an event(s) affecting objectives structured as ‘results in’. 
 
Risk Management is the co-ordinated activities designed and operated to manage risk and exercise 
internal control within an organisation.  
 
The core of the above has been taken from the Orange Book, as defined in 2020, and it should be noted 
that a risk can be based on a threat or an opportunity. 
 

Effective Risk Management and its Benefits 

The Management Board of the MCA agrees to embed effective risk management throughout the 
organisation by: 

• ensuring this structured and consistent approach to the management of risk is embedded and 
risk management roles and responsibilities are built into the structure and its reporting lines. 
 

• using the approach to facilitate effective prioritisation of resource and risk taking and therefore 
built into decision making arrangements. 
 

• using data and management information to build up a full picture of risks to facilitate good 
decision making and continuous improvement. 
 

Page 53



Risk Management Framework                                                                                                                Page 4 of 14 
 

• ensuring continuous review of risks and mitigations takes place and risk management 
performance is reported on regularly. 
 

• ensuring that all risks are managed at the most effective and practical level and escalation takes 
place in line with the requirements.  
 

• commissioning a post implementation review in approximately six months from the date of 
implementation to review and consider any adjustments; and 
 

• regularly review the framework, listen to feedback to ensure arrangements remain fit for purpose 
and risks are managed effectively.  
 

• establishing a network of risk champions and coordinators, based across the MCA, to embed the 
approach and to act as part of the centre of excellence in taking risk management forward. 
 

• embedding risk management into the annual business planning cycle. 
 

• providing user friendly risk management guidance and support based on good practice. 
 
The implementation of effective risk management enhances management functions and processes 
within the MCA and it is a key feature of good corporate governance.  As such, risk management works 
alongside financial management, performance management and business planning to enhance and 
demonstrate transparency and accountability.  It also forms a key component of the delivery of the 
MCA’s objectives including the Strategic Economic Plan and associated delivery plans.  
 
Through effective risk management, the MCA can prioritise and manage both threats and opportunities 
to the delivery of objectives.  By implementing and embedding a continuous and standardised approach 
to risk management, a process is developed to prioritise resources, implement effective and 
proportionate controls to manage threats and exploit opportunities.  Consequently, this framework’s 
aspiration is that risk management becomes a fundamental and demonstratable factor of all decisions 
taken by the MCA.   
 

  

Page 54



Risk Management Framework                                                                                                                Page 5 of 14 
 

Our approach, the Risk Management Process 
The effective risk management process is recorded here and covers each of the fundamental principles 
of the process.  

Risk Assessment  

 

 

 

 
 
Each step is considered in more detail below, within the Risk Management on a Page and the additional 
appendices.  
 
Scope and Context 
Risk management in the MCA is set against the delivery of the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) and the 
operations and activities the organisation takes to deliver that.  This means that risks are defined against 
the objectives that are set within the plans to deliver and achieve the priorities of the SEP and may be 
either internal to the MCA or externally facing as work is undertaken with partners and stakeholders to 
transform the economy of South Yorkshire for the people, business and places.  
 
Communication and Consultation 
Communication and consultation are key attributes of this Risk Management Framework and they aim to 
assist stakeholders in understanding risk and its role as a basis on which decision are made.  
Communication in this context will enhance awareness of risk and its management and consultation will 
take place with stakeholders to seek feedback and agreement to the content of this Framework and the 
recorded risks, which results in a framework and outputs which are co-created.  Coordination across the 
two will ensure that the information contained within the framework and output registers is relevant, 
accurate, timely and understandable and delivers within the context of the organisation and its operating 
environment.   
 
Risk Assessment Process 
Risk Assessment is the overall process of risk identification, risk analysis and evaluation.  The 
assessment should be systematic, iterative and take place dynamically and collaboratively considering 
the views of related stakeholders.   
 
 
 

The risk management process is broken 
down into a number of areas, in line with the 
diagram, which implies it is sequential 
however, it is more dynamic and a continuous 
cycle of reviewing and revisiting the steps 
within the process as time and events impact 
on the achievement of objectives.  It is 
presented in more detail in Appendix A, Risk 
Management on a Page and the following 
pages. 
 
The process has been creating using Risk 
Management standard, ISO 31000, The 
Orange Book, benchmarking of comparable 
organisations and the previous processes 
along with experiential knowledge of good 
practice gained across the public and private 
sector.   
 
There can be many applications of risk 
management within the organisation 
however, the fundamental principle is to 
support the achievement of objectives.  In the 
case of the MCA this is focused on the 
delivery of the Strategic Economic Plan.    

 

Identify 

 

Risk 
Treatment 

 
OBJECTIVES 

 

Assess 

 
Mitigate  

and Control 

Scope and Context 

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

tio
n

 a
n

d
 C

o
n

s
u

lta
tio

n
 

 

Recording and Reporting 

M
o

n
ito

rin
g

 a
n

d
 R

e
v

ie
w

 

Page 55



Risk Management Framework                                                                                                                Page 6 of 14 
 

Objectives 
As the MCA undertakes its business cycle, the business planning round for 2022-23 sets out the process 
for aligning the Business Plan to the Corporate Plan objectives and actions.  Teams are required to set 
out the key deliverables and milestones and the resourcing, budget and technical requirements needed 
in to deliver the objectives recorded within the Corporate Plan.  As part of this process, risks should be 
identified, considered and recorded within the corporate risk register template (Appendix B) in line with 
the process recorded below.  
 
Additionally, risks may be identified outside of the business planning process and as part of everyday 
business and may be added to the register, as necessary.  
 
Risk Identification 
The risk identification step aims to identify and describe risks that may help or prevent the achievement 
of objectives e.g. what might happen that could affect that progress, it could be negative or positive i.e. 
an opportunity.   
 
There are many ways in which risk can be identified, which are often aligned with management 
processes including: 

• horizon scanning. 

• SWOT analysis, considering Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats. 

• Lessons learnt from experience, including review of associated logs, mapped across to existing 
process, systems and delivery. 

• Root cause analysis, including asking why five times to each concern to reach the cause to be 
addressed. 

• Control & Risk Self-Assessment, collaboratively delivered with a range of stakeholders to seek the 
views of all parties creating a rounded approach to identifying risk. 

• As part of business planning and objective setting, which means that risk management is at the 
heart of everything that is undertaken within the organisation. 

 
How to write a risk, when recording within a risk register, board papers and more widely, it is helpful to 
think of the risk using a common methodology, which helps to build consistency, as follows: 

• reason for occurrence, cause or ‘due to’. 

• risk itself, event or ‘there is a risk that’.  

• consequence, the result, ‘results in’. 
 

Reason for a risk occurring  
The event or situation trigger 
(the cause / ‘due to’)  

Risk itself  
Area of   uncertainty, (what may 
happen – ‘leads to’ / ‘there is a 
risk that’) 

Consequence of the risk  
The effect should the risk 
materialise. (‘results in’) 

Flooding leads to a delay in the 
progress of a  scheme 

results in outcomes not   being 
realised in the timescales. 

Increased cyber attacks  leads to successful infiltration  results in operational disruption, data 
corruption, outage and financial loss. 

 
Grouping the Risks  
The following categories have been established, in which the risks will be grouped and analysed to 
develop corporate and board level reports. It is important that each risk is allocated to an appropriate 
catorgory, as follows:  
 

• Policy, relates to the setting of interventions to tackle specific matters to develop the strategic 
objectives of the MCA. 

• Financial, relates to establishment and maintenance of financial health and wellbeing to achieve 
strategic and financial objectives.  

• Organisational, relates to the structure and makeup of the organisation to deliver the objectives 
and the corporate plan. 

Page 56



Risk Management Framework                                                                                                                Page 7 of 14 
 

• Operational and Delivery, incorporates the programmes and projects of the MCA to deliver the 
objectives we have set for the region.  

• Legal Compliance and Regulation, relates to the obligations the MCA is required to adhere to 
including the upholding of laws, statutes and regulations e.g. professional standards, laws 
relating to ethics, bribery, corruption and fraud. 

• Transport, operational transport related matters that would have historically formed part of the 
Passenger Transport Executive risk register.   

 
Assess the Risk 
Each risk should be recorded within a risk register and a template has been prepared, at Appendix B. 
 
Once a risk has been identified, the risk owner will be defined within the risk register.  The risk owner is 
the person that takes responsibility for the risk and its overall management. 
 
The assessment of each risk is undertaken using a five by five Probability Impact Grid, as follows:   
 

Im
p

a
c
t 

5 
Critical 

5 10 15 20 25 

4 
Serious 

4 8 12 16 20 

3 
Moderate 

3 6 9 12 15 

2 
Minor 

2 4 6 8 10 

1 
Immaterial  

1 2 3 4 5 

    
1   

Remote 
2 

Unlikely 
3 

Possible  
4 

Probable 

5 
Highly 

Probable 

  
Probability 

 
Once each risk has been assessed for probability and impact, an overall risk score is created by 
considering the probability of the risk occurring and also the impact if it did occur.  Simply, this requires 
the multiplication of the probability score (1-5) by the impact score (1-5) to reach a risk score.   
 
Further guidance on scoring is included within the guidance matrices at Appendix C established to help 
build consistency throughout the MCA process. 
 
Mitigation and Control 
Each risk is assessed inherently, prior to any controls being applied, and again after the application of 
existing controls, captured in the risk register, to reach a current risk score.  Appendix B, the risk register 
template demonstrates the flow of this risk information.  The current risk score for each risk provides an 
opportunity to rank and a means of prioritising to identify those risks posing the greatest threat or 
opportunity to the organisation.   
 
Within the risk register additional actions are recorded, which are deemed necessary to reduce the risk 
exposure to an acceptable level or maximise the opportunity, which in turn creates an Action Plan.  An 
action owner and delivery deadlines or timescales should also be recorded.   
 
Risk owners are able to monitor and review alongside the risk register and track the actions through to 
completion.  It is important that the actions are tracked to ensure that risks are treated appropriately and 
at the right time.  Action plans also create a baseline for information for use in reporting into directorate 
management teams, Management Board, Audit, Standards and Risk Committee and more widely.  
 
 
 

Page 57



Risk Management Framework                                                                                                                Page 8 of 14 
 

Risk Treatment 
Once the risk has been recorded and existing controls have been established and a current risk score 
defined a decision needs to be made as to what to do next.  The risk treatment options are: 

• Treat, take action to reduce a risk. 

• Tolerate, accept the risk. 

• Transfer, pass responsibility e.g. insurance.  

• Terminate, avoid the activity. 

• Take up, to maximise an opportunity. 

• Share, with partners e.g. public private initiatives/partnerships (PPI/PPP). 
 
Appetite  
The current risk score needs to be related to the appetite the organisation has set, to establish how 
much risk that the organisation is willing to accept or tolerate.  The expectation here is that a risk owner 
will manage each risk to its lowest practical level and where it is not possible to do so a risk(s) will be 
escalated through the organisational reporting structure and ultimately to Management Board.  This is in 
line with the Recording and Reporting requirements set out below and the approach to appetite is in line 
with the approach to reporting e.g. risks with a score of 16 and above will be escalated to Management 
Board for awareness and additional instruction, should this be necessary. 
 
A further expectation here, is that Management Board will direct and instruct the executive teams into 
action or accept/tolerate risk i.e. the status quo. 
 
Monitoring and Review 
Monitoring and Review are ongoing and applied across all levels of the risk management process.  It is 
part of the mechanism that allows for and leads to assurance and improvement of the quality and 
effectiveness of the process, its implementation and the outcomes e.g. risk registers.  Ongoing 
monitoring and regular review are built into the process and the requirement for this is captured under 
Recording and Reporting below.   
 
The risk management framework and operating practices, once written and implemented, will be subject 
to a post implementation review to consider lessons, lead to adjustments as necessary, and to determine 
if it has achieved the intended benefits.  This will take place approximately 6 months to one year after 
implementation and is in line with good practice for system development activity.   
 
Subsequently, the framework and outputs will be subject to an annual review for similar purposes i.e. 
learning lessons leading to the preparation of a Management Board presentation and a paper to the 
Audit, Standards and Risk Committee as part of an annual report. 
 
Recording and Reporting 
Regular reporting is required to track risks and to demonstrate tracking is taking place regularly.  It 
allows the  MCA to respond to situations as they arise and make appropriate decisions to avoid issues 
before they happen and forms a key aspect of the organisation’s approach to governance.  
 
The requirement is that the risk management process and outcomes will be documented and reported 
through appropriate mechanisms, in line with the table below and the arrangements for governance of 
the process and its outcomes.  Escalation and de-escalation of risks is in line with the table below:   
 

Score 
 

Rating Monitoring and Review and Recording and Reporting *  

16-25  High 1 - 3 month review.   
Monthly directorate management team reporting.   
Reporting to Management Board quarterly and subsequently to ASRC.   

11-15  Med/High 1 - 3 month review.   
Two monthly directorate management team reporting.   
Reporting to Management Board quarterly (maximum).  

5-10  Medium 3 - 6 month review.   
Quarterly directorate management team reporting.   
Reporting to Management Board every 6 months.  

Page 58



Risk Management Framework                                                                                                                Page 9 of 14 
 

** Health and Safety risks scored 5 and above are reported as High rated 
risks  

1-4  
 

Low Annual review.   
Six monthly directorate management team reporting. 
Reporting to Management Board annually. 

*The stated frequency of reporting may be shortened, where required by exception, but not extended. 
**Risks which are health and safety focused will have a low appetite and any such risks with a score of 6 
and above will be escalated to Management Board for visibility, direction and to determine regularity of 
reporting. 
 
The intention here is that risks are escalated to directorate management teams and Management Board 
for awareness and understanding and decision making e.g. to seek instruction where a risk reaches a 
specified score e.g. risks scored 16 and above are reported to Management Board taking forward the 
MCA approach to escalation and reporting when a risk reaches a taper level.   
 
Annual reporting of all risks to Management Board will also take place. 
 
Management Board and directorate management teams may request deep dives into the high level risks 
that face the organisation, on an ad-hoc basis, and this will require risk owners to develop presentations, 
which assure the risk is being managed.  Where it is not possible to effectively control a risk e.g. where 
effective management may be outside of the organisation’s control a risk may be tolerated.  In such a 
case, Management Board need to sanction the approach taken to a specific risk.  Minutes of meetings 
will need to capture the discussion and decision(s) made. 
 
Governance  
The diagram below provides a visual representation of the flow of risk information within the structure ot 
the MCA.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Statutory Officers/Management Board 

Project 
Boards 

Collaborative 
Teams 

Functional 
Teams

Programme & Performance Unit 

Thematic Boards 

MCA 

Schemes 

Audit, Standards & Risk Committee 

Page 59



Risk Management Framework                                                                                                                Page 10 of 14 
 

 
To supplement the above diagram, the table below provides an overview of the governance associated 
with risk reporting to the different groups within the organisation. 
 

Group 
 

Risk Reports 

MCA • The MCA will receive an annual report on the risks, the type and 
exposure, which is within the context of the Corporate Plan and Business 
Plan Review 

• Risk Management is included within the standard MCA report format, 
forming a part of the decision-making process.   

• The MCA will receive and annual report from the Audit, Standards and 
Risk Committee (ASRC) providing their overview commentary.   

Audit, Standards and 
Risk Committee 

• The ASRC will receive the high level risk register and commentary at each 
quarterly meeting. 

• The ASRC will also receive an annual report and commentary.  

Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP)* 

• The LEP will receive an annual report on the risks, type and exposure, in 
line with the MCA report. 

• Risk Management is included within the standard board report format, 
forming a part of the decision-making process. 

Thematic Boards • Programme dashboard relevant to the thematic area at each meeting. 

• Risk Management is included within the standard report format, forming a 
part of the decision-making process 

Statutory Officers and 
Management Board 

• High level risk reports will be presented to Management Board quarterly, 
in line with the Recording and Reporting requirements, timescales and 
parameters. 

• Additional extraordinary risk reporting will take place by exception for risks 
and topical themes e.g. deep dive reporting for high / critical level risks. 

• Risk Management is included within the standard board report format, 
forming a part of the decision-making process 

Project Boards / 
Collaboration Teams 
 

• Project and programme risk registers presented at each meeting in line 
with good practice Programme and Project Management. 
 

* to be reconsidered after publication of the LEP Review 

 
[To add internal structures, roles and responsibilities for embedding risk management] 
 

Page 60



Risk Management Framework                                                                                                                Page 11 of 14 
 

Risk Management on a Page Appendix A 
Context and Scope 

The MCA and LEP have agreed a 20-year Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) to transform the South Yorkshire economy and society for People, Business and Places.  The SEP paves the way to a 
Stronger, Greener and Fairer economy as the potential is unlocked to create prosperity and opportunity for all.  A Renewal Action Plan has been agreed setting out the actions needed to accelerate 

delivery of the SEP, a Corporate Plan and Business Plan exist to operationalise delivery of the SEP and risks are set in this context.  The scope of risk may be internal to the MCA or externally facing. 
 

Objectives Identify the Risks Assess the Risks  Mitigate and Control Risk Treatment 

Objectives which are clear and 
understood 

Threats and opportunities identified Score the risks and consider the 
appetite 

Controls identified to manage the 
risk (impact & probability) 

Select and implement options to 
address the risks. 

What will be achieved?  What 
does good look like?  How will we 
know we have achieved? 

What could happen to hamper or 
enhance achievement of objectives.  
What concerns or opportunities exist? 

What is the likelihood of the risk 
occurring?  How serious is the impact?  

What is to be done to control a risk? 
What more can be done? 
Who will do this and by when?  

What can be done, what are the 
options?  Can the options be 
implemented? Is treatment working? 

Objectives are set against the 
plans.  There are a number of 
ways and levels at which objective 
can be set e.g. strategic, funding, 
programme, project level and 
operational. 
 
Objectives may be tiered and 
must align, e.g. by flowing from/to 
the SEP, RAP, Corporate and 
Business Plan objectives and can 
be incorporated into team and 
employee performance objectives. 

There are a number of ways to identify 
risks to achievement e.g.  

• horizon scanning. 

• SWOT analysis, Strengths to Threats. 

• Lessons learnt exercises. 

• Root cause, asking ‘five whys’. 

• Control & Risk Self-Assessment with 
a range of stakeholders. 

 
It is helpful to structure risk as: 
reason for occurrence (due to) 
risk itself (a risk that) 
consequence (results in).  

Firstly, a Risk Owner is allocated.  
Risks are scored inherently, before 
any controls are added, using a 5 x 5 
scoring matrix (Guide at Appendix C). 
 

Im
p

ac
t 

5 5 10 15 20 25 

4 4 8 12 16 20 

3 3 6 9 12 15 

2 2 4 6 8 10 

1 1 2 3 4 5 

    1 2 3 4 5 

  Probability 
An Inherent score is recorded.   

Controls currently in place to 
mitigate a risk are identified and 
recorded.   
 
Each risk is scored again, using the 
5 x 5 matrix, to create a Current 
score, which is compared to the 
appetite / reporting to decide next 
steps and treatment.   
 
Additional Actions should be added 
to address the risk, where it exceeds 
appetite and is possible.  An Action 
Owner is established for each.  

Treatment options should be decided 
based on the overall current risk score 
compared to risk appetite / tolerance.   
 
Options are: 

• Treat, take action to reduce. 

• Tolerate, accept the risk. 

• Transfer, pass responsibility e.g. 
insurance. 

• Terminate, avoid the activity 

• Take up, pursue an opportunity 

• Share, with partners e.g. public 
private initiatives 

Monitoring and Review  
Risks, controls & process monitored and reviewed leading to learning and improvement.  Has the action been taken?  If not, what next?  Has anything changed? 

Required to improve the effectiveness of the process, implementation and outcomes and should be planned and regularised.  The results of this should be incorporated within the performance 
management processes, measurement and reporting activities. 

Recording and Reporting  
To provide information for decision making, learning lessons and improving risk management activities, process and outcomes.   

Processes, activities and outcomes should be documented and reported through appropriate structures. 
Current Score Rating Review and Reporting - The specified frequency of reporting can be shortened, where required, but not extended.  

16-25 High 1 - 3 month review. Monthly directorate management team reporting. Reporting to Management Board quarterly and subsequently to ASRC.  
11-15 Med/High 1 - 3 month review.  Two monthly directorate management team reporting.  Reporting to Management Board quarterly.  
5-10 Medium 3 - 6 month review.  Quarterly directorate management team reporting.  Reporting to Management Board every 6 months.  
1-4 Low Annual review.  Six monthly directorate management team reporting.  Reporting to Management Board annually. 

 All risks are reported to Management Board annually in an annual report. 
 Risks which are health and safety focused will have a low appetite, risks with a score of 5 and above, will be escalated to Management Board for visibility, instruction and direction. 
Therefore, risks are escalated to Management Board and directorate management teams for direction, where a risk reaches a specified score taking forward the MCA approach to appetite/tolerance. 
 
The process once written will be subject to a post implementation review to consider lessons, adjust as necessary and to determine if it has achieved the intended benefits. 

Communication and Consultation 
Communication promotes awareness and understanding of risk management.  Consultation involves obtaining feedback and information to inform decision making.  Coordination between the two 
facilitates factual, timely, relevant, accurate and understandable exchanges of information, taking account data protection requirements.  Communication and Coordination with relevant stakeholders 
should take place during all steps of the Risk Management process.   

P
age 61



Risk Management Framework                                                                                                                Page 12 of 14 
 

Risk Register Template Appendix B 

     
Pre-response assessment (inherent) 

 Current risk assessment (residual)  

  

Category Risk Description Owner Probability 
1 - 5 
L - H  

Impact 
1 - 5 

L to H 

Inherent 
Risk 

Score  

Existing Controls Prob’ty  
1 - 5 

L to H 

Impact 
1 - 5 
L- H 

Current 
Risk 

Score 

Action Action 
Owner 

Due date 
00/00/00 

  Due to Risk Result                       

Organisation Cyber Security 
Due to the pandemic there 
is an increase in cyber-
attacks, leading to 
infiltration of our systems, 
resulting in operational 
disruption, data 
corruption, systems 
outage and loss of 
finances. 

Ruth 
Adams 

5 5 2500% a. Anti virus software, updated hourly, 
installed across all infrastructure.  
b. Mimecast, Advanced Threat Protection, 
installed, evolves to address current threats, 
covers email filtering to identify and block 
impersonators and filtering attachments for 
abnormalities for the IT team to check prior to 
release.   

3 5 
 

a. Cyber 
Essentials 
accreditation. 

XXX a.01.04.22 
b.  

             

             

 

P
age 62



Risk Management Framework                                                                                                                Page 13 of 14 
 

Risk Assessment  Appendix C 
The assessment of risk takes account of the probability or likelihood of a risk occurring and also the impact 
if it was to materialise.  Each risk is scored using a five by five scoring matrix, a guide is included below: 
 
Probability, the following approach to scoring is used: 
 

Probability Descriptor 
 

Remote Unlikely Possible Probable Highly Probable 

Score  
 

1 2 3 4 5 

Description  Very unlikely 
to occur 

Unlikely to 
occur 

Could occur at 
some point 

More likely to 
occur than not 

Very likely to 
occur 

 

 
Impact, the table below has been prepared to guide colleagues and to describe the different types of impact a 
risk may have and at different levels.  The table content is not meant to be complete or absolute and is offered 
as a guide for, risk owners, managers and employees.  Additionally, where a risk has a different level of impact 
in several areas (or no impact at all), then the risk owner should use their professional judgement to define the 
impact score.   
 
Impact 
Description 

Immaterial Minor Moderate Serious Critical 

Score 
 

1 2 3 4 5 

Reputational 
relates to the 
perception of 
the MCA by 
employees, 
partners and 
stakeholders. 

Isolated, internal 
issue contained 
within the MCA / 
LEP, no adverse 
publicity. 

Minor internal 
issue, minimal 
external 
publicity, a 
single adverse 
article 

Short term 
adverse local / 
regional publicity.  
Reduction in 
stakeholder 
confidence.  

Adverse regional / 
national publicity. 
Serious reduction 
in stakeholder 
confidence. 

Sustained 
adverse regional / 
national publicity. 
Stakeholder 
confidence lost.  

Environmental 
relates to 
worldwide 
+1.5°C 
temperature 
increase and the 
target to be net 
zero by 2040. 

No adverse 
impact on the 
environment.  
 
 

Minor levels of 
carbon output or 
impact on the 
environment. 

Modest levels of 
carbon output or 
adverse impact 
on the 
environment 
locally. 

Serious levels of 
carbon output or 
impact on the 
environment 
regionally.   

Critical levels of 
carbon output and 
extensive 
damage to the 
environment 
nationally. 

Financial  
relates to the 
financial viability 
/ health of the 
MCA and 
strength over 
time to achieve 
strategic and 
financial 
objectives 

Immaterial 
financial loss or 
cost, contained 
within budget. 

Minor loss or 
costs that can 
be contained 
within budget. 

Modest loss or 
costs that cannot 
be contained in 
budget requiring 
a new budget to 
be approved 

Loss or costs 
detrimental to the 
financial health of 
the MCA. 
Single year risk. 
 

Loss or costs that 

destabilise the 

financial health of 

the MCA.   

Multiple year risk. 

Legal and 
Regulatory 
Compliance 
adherence to 
laws and 
regulations incl. 
professional 
standards, 
ethics and fraud. 

No impact or 
statutory 
compliance 
breach. 

Minor breach in 
regulatory 
compliance. 

Single breach in 
statutory 
responsibility. 
External 
recommendations 
and Improvement 
notice applied. 

Multiple breaches 
in statutory 
responsibility. 
Improvement 
notices and 
enforcement 
action. 

Extensive 
breaches in 
statutory 
responsibility and 
sanctions.   
Prosecution. 

Page 63



Risk Management Framework                                                                                                                Page 14 of 14 
 

Health & Safety 
relates to the 
health & safety 
of MCA 
employees, 
service users, 
partners and 
stakeholders 

No injury. Minor injury 
suffered, no 
professional 
medical 
treatment 
required. 
Small number of 
sick days. 

Injury to 
individual(s) 
requiring 
professional 
medical 
treatment. 

Multiple serious 
injuries requiring 
professional 
medical treatment 
or hospitalisation.  
Enforcement 
agency involved. 

Injury so severe 
that it results in 
fatality of 
individual(s).  
Prosecution from 
enforcement 
agency. 

Employees 
relates to 
workforce 
planning, 
capacity, 
capability and 
morale of the 
workforce 

No impact on 
employees, 
capacity or 
capability. 

Minor or short-
term reduced 
capacity, 
capability or 
morale. 

Low employee 
levels 
Insufficient 
experience.  
Modest employee 
engagement.   

Employee 
capacity or 
capability causes 
delivery failure.  
Low level of 
engagement  

Strategic 
objectives 
severely impacted 
due to capacity or 
capability. 
Critically low level 
of engagement. 

Digital Security  
relates to digital 
and cyber 
impacts 

No digital 
security breach. 
Digital assets 
maintained. 

A minor digital 
security breach 
of low level or 
non- sensitive 
data or system. 
Recovery quick. 

A single breach of 
operational data 
or systems.   
Recovered and 
contained. 

Multiple breaches 
of operational 
data or systems. 
Limited ability to 
recover or 
contain.  
Single breach of 
sensitive data or 
critical system. 

Multiple breaches 
of data or 
systems including 
sensitive systems 
and personal data 
or loss of data 
itself. 
Enforcement 
agency action 
and fine. 

Programmes 
and Projects 
relates to 
programmes 
and projects the 
MCA 
undertakes to 
deliver its 
objectives 
internal and 
external. 

Little or no 
slippage to 
delivery 
No threat to the 
intended 
benefits, output 
or outcome. 

Minor delay, 
which can be 
managed in the 
respective 
stage. 
No threat to 
intended 
benefits, output 
or outcome. 

Slippage delays 
delivery of 
milestone. 
No threat to 
intended benefits, 
output or 
outcome. 

Slippage causes 
significant delay 
to milestone 
delivery. 
Serious threat to 
intended benefits, 
output or 
outcome. 

Delivery of the 
entire programme 
or project 
threatened and or 
being cancelled. 

 

Page 64



Jan-22

Category Owner Probability

1 - 5

Low - High 

Impact

1 - 5

Low to High

Risk Score Existing Controls  Probability 

1 - 5

Low to High

Impact

1 - 5

Low to High

Risk Score Action Due date 

00/00/00

Policy Ruth Adams 3 5 15 a. Engaging with Government officials to shape proposed policy priorities and shifts.

b. Ongoing horizon scanning- to monitor the situation and respond quickly.

c.  Leadership of the M10 network and knowledge sharing with other CAs.

2 5 10

Policy Ruth Adams 3 5 15 a. development and agreement of the Investment Strategy with the four LAs.

b. in the process of securing the borrowing powers to maximise funding.

c. The corporate policy is embedded to include its guardianship of the SEP.

d. Closer monitoring of the SEP outcomes, the Corporate Plan outcomes and development and 

delivery of the Business Planning framework.  

2 5 10

Policy Dave Smith 3 5 15 a. An Elections Manager has been recruited to deliver the election process.

b. Lessons learned sessions carried out with election managers in the four LA and additional control 

added to the process.

c. Covid secure election process being developed.

d. QC call off support on standby should it be needed.

e. Election level risk register in place. 

2 5 10

Policy Helen Kemp 4 2 8 a. We have responded to the initial consultation aiming to influence the outcome of the LEP 

Review.

b. We have built into our thematic boards members from the private sector to ensure that we 

maintain their insight to influence our role and activity to meet the needs of business and the 

communities we serve.  

4 1 4 To reconsider when the LEP Review is concluded and the outcome received and 

considered.  

Policy Helen Kemp 3 4 12 a. development of inclusion plan setting out clear actions with owners and resource levels to take 

forward the policy objective as one.

b. Inclusion has been hard wired into project development through business case processes.

c. agreeing a set of eligibility conditions (by end of March 22)and principles for an employers 

charter,  by 31 March 2022, which will become part of the performance monitoring 

d. A new Skills Strategy is being written, by 31 August 2022

2 2 4 Skills Strategy development ongoing, to be drawn up and adopted, by August 2022. 01.09.22

Policy Martin Swales 3 5 15 a. The MCA strategy requires that the Net Zero response runs through our core programmes.  

Consequently, we are building de-carbonisation into allocation requirements for the Renewal Fund.

b. Working with partners / stakeholders to develop projects that take account of de-carbonisation.  

For CRSTS schemes our submissions and proposals are being scrutinised by Government to ensure 

sustainability is demonstrated, which is a core aspect of the programme.  

3 4 12 a. We are actively working with Sheffield University to develop regional data to 

understand the impact of our (& partners) programmes and projects to understand 

the current position and baseline. 

b. The most impactful interventions to focus the renewal fund upon are being 

determined through our work with partners e.g. should we carry out additional tree 

planting and promotion and usage of green power.

c. Integrating our response to net zero and climate emergency into investment 

decision making processes.   

01.04.22

Operational Martin Swales 4 5 20 a.  Actions to implement the recommendations of the recent independent BPR implemented 

through the refreshed Assurance Framework, including work to establish a feasibility/ development 

fund.  

b. Immediate resource planning for the next stage submission of CRSTS, deadline January 2022.

c. Working with Finance to support LAs in developing and submitting project proposals efficiently 

for CRSTS by April 2022 (to note CRSTS proposals are made up of 80-100 individual projects).

3 5 15 a. Employee to be released from BSIP and EP to focus on mechanisms and 

streamlining process and working with LA partners. 

b. Continue to work with Finance to LA submissions to create a pipeline of activity.

c. Additional team members to support the work will be requested through the 

annual business planning process.

  

01.04.22

Transport  Steve Edwards 5 5 25 a. Ongoing dialogue with officials and ministers to shape the existing and future proposals.

b. Recovery funding secured until April 2022 

c. Continue payment of concessions at pre-COVID rates until April 2022

d. Adjustments to pre-COVID rates proportionate to network mileage to allow underspend to be 

retained and potentially used for future network protection.

e. Service change/consultation process in place with operators to ensure early notice of potential 

changes.

4 5 20 a. Continue to press government for clarity on future funding arrangements

b. Working with bus operators to identify services at most risk of reduction and 

prepare prioritised list of services for consideration.

c. Engaging with SYSL on future tram service pattern from April 2022.

d. Rolling patronage forecast  to inform likely service levels 

e. Agree future arrangements for a return to concessionary payments (based on 

actuals) and opportunity to recycle any underspend to support services

f. Commencing stakeholder engagement on likely service changes and prioritisation 

01.04.22

Transport Steve Edwards 3 5 15 a. Operators and key stakeholders have been engaged through the development of the BSIP 

b. Consultation process in place covering operators, key stakeholders and public

c. Ongoing engagement with DfT officials on EP progress

2 4 8 a. Public consultation commenced Jan-22

b. EP implementation plan being delivered

c. EP Governance arrangements being developed

d. Formal report to make EP scheduled for Mar MCA

01.04.22

Transport Steve Edwards 3 5 15 a. EP scheme developed based on available funding

b. Stakeholder comms setting expectations around deliverable improvements shared and approved 

(MCA/TEB/STOB)

c. Ability to add/amend EP Scheme(s) if further funding becomes available.

3 3 9 a. Formal confirmation from DfT of CRSTS schemes that can support bus 

improvement - subject to final approval from DfT/HMT/No10

b. Continue to lobby DfT officials/ministers for BSIP funding support - decision 

expected Feb-22

c. Explore alternative funding sources as they become available (e.g. LUF, ZEBRA)

d. Submission of ZEBRA bid for EV vehicles end Jan-22

Ongoing

Transport Steve Edwards 5 5 25 a. Appointment of an Interim Programme Director (IPD)- Light Rail Transport Operation.

b. Light Rail Development Programme established and key milestones identified

c. Governance arrangements established to oversee the programme of work (Concession end, 

Financial Sustainability, Asset Renewal and Future Vision)

d. Reporting and engagement plan established encompassing Management Board, SY Chief Execs, 

TEB and MCA

4 5 20 a. Develop analysis of options for concession end 

b. Briefing to key stakeholders on options and risks/benefits

c. Prepare a briefing paper on options for consideration by MCA - Mar-22

01.04.22

Organisational Steve Davenport 2 5 10 a. Health and safety policy and procedures in place and audited by independent H&S advisor.

b. Training provided to all staff.

c. Appropriate maintenance contracts in place to undertake fabric and M&E repairs and inspections 

as required.

d. Monitoring of incidents and near misses undertaken, quarterly reports presented to 

Management Board and the ASRC.

e. Health and Safety in Transport Deep Dive with independent members of ASRC. 

1 5 5 a. Job descriptions will be amended to ensure role responsibilities are set out to 

strengthen MCA controls.

TBC

Net Zero - Sustainability

Inability to galvanise the required level of support, consensus 

and leadership across the region, from our partners and 

stakeholders both private and public, leads to a fragmented 

approach, which results in failing to achieve the net zero 

target, by 2040.  

Recovery Funding and Low Patronage

Reduced/terminated recovery funding from central 

government and lower levels of patronage results in an 

unviable transport system.

Enhanced Partnership

Failing to agree an Enhanced Partnership with bus operators 

and stakeholders leading to the withdrawal of DfT funding. 

Enhanced Partnership

Insufficient funding to deliver meaningful service 

improvements through Enhanced Partnership/BSIP 

Tram Services

Failing to reach a timely agreement on the future operating 

model for tram services beyond the current operating 

concession exposes the MCA to  operational transport risks 

resulting in financial and  capability and capacity pressures. 

Health and Safety

A major accident or injury occurs involving SYMCA assets and 

/ or people, leads to regulator intervention, resulting in 

liability and adverse impact on the workforce, budgets and 

reputation of the MCA.

Transport

The award of the CRSTS programme funding will provide 

related regional capital funds for five years from April 2022 

and will be closely monitored by DfT . The Risks is that the 

capacity and capability in the region is insufficient to deliver 

extensive projects in the programme within timescale, with 

the potential damage to the reputation of the MCA and 

Mayor.    

Inclusion 

Dispersed strategic level ownership of the Inclusion policy 

objective, leads to drift in direction, resulting in delayed 

and/or ineffectual delivery mechanisms and inefficient use of 

resources. 

Mayoral Election

We fail to deliver the election in accordance with the 

legislation, leading to a potential legal challenge of the result, 

concluding in lack of public confidence in it and reputational 

damage.

Risk Description

Policy Change

Changes to the political and policy operating environment, 

lead to a shift in regional priorities, resulting in disruption to 

the prospects of achieving our mission e.g. Devolution White 

Paper or Mayoral Election.   

Pre-response assessment (inherent) Current risk assessment (residual)

Growth

The LEP Review changes the role of the LEP, in a way that 

hinders the MCA Growth imperative, resulting in the policy 

objective and strategy being undermined.

Strategic Economic Plan 

We lose focus on delivering the SEP, and its direction of 

travel to regenerate the economy, as a consequence of 

resource levels, external and unanticipated pressures.

Appendix 2

P
age 65



Organisational Ruth Adams 3 3 9 a. structure developed, agreed and communicated.

b. operating model to shape internal responsibilities and ways of working agreed and 

communicated

c. Corporate Plan being updated and revised to provide clarity of outcomes, priorities and 

accountabilities

d. Annual business planning cycle will consider any resourcing gaps or risk areas

2 2 4 a. Work on corporate culture and values in process of being designed and delivered TBC

Organisational Ruth Adams 2 3 6 a. Corporate Plan being updated and revised to provide clarity of outcomes, priorities and 

accountabilities and a corporate business plan / resource plan in development to match resources 

to priorities. 

b. Introduction of a HR Business Partnering approach to work closely with teams to enable early 

identification of emerging risks or issues in capacity. 

c. Workforce data reported to Management Board and employee engagement surveys in place to 

provide feedback from the workforce 

1 2 2

Organisational Ruth Adams 5 5 2500% a. Anti virus software, updated hourly, installed across all infrastructure. 

b. Mimecast, Advanced Threat Protection, installed and always evolving to address current threats, 

covers email filtering to identify and block impersonators and filtering attachments for 

abnormalities for the IT team to check prior to release.  

c. Web-filtering to restrict and prohibit unauthorised access and data loss.

d. An IT Policy exists and is updated as necessary, last updated in 2021. 

e. Password policy exists implementing good practice to build strong access controls including multi-

factor authentication. 

f. Activity monitoring takes place including how people access the system.  

g. Phishing attacks, internal testing takes place.

h. Software patching takes place to ensure software updates are carried out.

i. Annual outsourced penetration testing, which is part of the Cyber Essentials requirements.

j. Physical security enhancements including restricting a non employee plugging a laptop into MCA 

network.   

3 5 15 a. Achieve Cyber Essentials accreditation.  

b. Enhance Management Board reporting of attacks and their management. 

c. Enhance employee awareness and reporting of current threat types, volume and 

attacks prohibited.  

a. 01.04.22

b. 01.04.22

c. 01.04.22

Organisational Ruth Adams 3 3 9 a. Programme Structures applied including Senior Responsible Officer, Programme Manager and 

establishment of leads for individual strands.

b. Programme, work package monitoring takes place and reporting is in place including change 

management, highlight reports and risks and issues logs presented to a Programme Board.

c. An independently appointed strategic partner supported the development of the programme and 

on-going independent check and challenge is in place at the Programme Board

d. Oversight and scrutiny of the programme is enhanced as programme papers are presented to 

the ASRC. 

e. Review of existing processes that will need to continue as the order to formally dissolve the PTE 

and transfer associated powers and  responsibilities to the MCA is delayed has taken place. 

2 1 2 a. Continue to monitor and refine the work plan to ensure integration meets the 

planned milestones

a. 31.03.22

Financial Gareth Sutton 3 3 9 a. An internal cross discipline team is shaping the strategy through work with internal and external 

colleagues 

b. A four point engagement plan is underway with external partners with two of the four stages 

being met 

c. The MCA has authorised acceptance of a borrowing cap and consents are now being sought 

ahead of legislation being tabled in January 

d. A draft plan has been designed setting our core principles and indicative investment sequencing 

e. The outcomes of the BPR workstream and steering group are beginning to be folded into the 

overall Strategy

2 3 6 a. A report will be tabled at the January MCA setting out the proposed approach 

b. Work will continue to develop interventions ahead of the March Board 

c. Work will continue ahead of the March Board with the SY directors of finance to 

operationalise the principles 

d. Negotiation with HM Treasury will commence in December for the borrowing cap 

for financial year 2022-23

a. 31.01.22

b. 31.03.22

c. 31.03.22

d. 31.03.22

Financial Gareth Sutton 3 5 15 a. The MCA Group undertakes annual integrated business and budget planning to ensure resource 

is effectively aligned to priorities 

b. The MCA Group undertakes cyclical budget monitoring to identify financial performance allowing 

for the reallocation of resource mid-year 

c. The MCA has undertaken a significant reserve refresh re-deploying resource to known risks and 

holding a prudent amount of resource to mitigate financial shock 

d. The MCA reports frequently to the Board and ensures partners remain apprised on financial 

matters through the Directors of Finance Group and Member budget engagement sessions 

2 4 8 a. The MCA continues to lobby government for ongoing financial support to the 

public transport network alongside other peer authorities 

b. The MCA continues to lobby government for the continuation of capacity funding 

for core activity alongside other peer authorities 

c. The MCA's developing Investment Strategy is couched within the context of the 

wider funding environment 

d. The MCA has commenced its business planning exercise for the new financial 

year

a-c ongoing

d. 31.03.22

Financial Gareth Sutton 2 3 6 a. The MCA sets an Annual Treasury Management Strategy that is scrutinised by the Audit 

Committee and approved by Board. This governs its approach to borrowing and debt 

b. The MCA ensures it has access to professional support via a contracted arrangement with SCC 

and Link Treasury Advisors, and internally through officers with appropriate qualifications 

c. The MCA reports on its Treasury performance to Audit Committee and Board through a forward, 

backward and mid-year review 

d. The MCA has developed good working relationships with HM Treasury officers and negotiated an 

initial borrowing cap.

2 2 4 a. The MCA is shaping its approach to its new borrowing vires through the 

Investment Strategy work 

b. The MCA has engaged with HM Treasury to begin its second round of borrowing 

cap negotiations 

c. The MCA has re-set the role of SCC in supporting its borrowing activity 

a-c 31.03.22

Financial Gareth Sutton 3 3 9 a. MCA seeks to ensure a broad supplier basis through open market competition 

b. The MCA has access to a number of broad framework agreements to call off, in a timely fashion 

c. The MCA conducts pre-contract financial health due-diligence on major contracts including  

seeking details of associated sub contracting and proportion of delivery / contract. 

d. The MCA holds a prudent level of reserves to mitigate financial shock.

e. Standard Supplier Questionnaire completed by potential suppliers as part of the procurement 

process to ensure consistency of procurement and information provided by bidders.  Part of it is 

backward facing seeking assurance over previous experience and therefore quality, competency 

and financial health. 

f. Rules and standards are set through the Contract Procedure Rules and Financial Regs

g. Evidence sought to confirm responses e.g.  payment terms sought and Insurance levels  

h. When bids received, further analysis is undertaken on the accounts and specifically around 

liquidity and the proportion of turnover which is MCA generated.  

i. The applicant is risk assessed and decisions made on that basis.

j. Appropriate security to cover risk is considered for example a charge may be applied on land or 

property as security for a loan.

2 3 6 a. Internal Audit have tested supplier resilience and offered a number of 

recommendations that will be implemented 

b. New contract function to ensure the financial health of key suppliers is tested in 

contract as well as pre contract to provide early warning.

c. MCA to continue to broaden its supplier base through more effective market 

engagement. 

d. Business Continuity Plans to be re-tested for loss of key suppliers.

e. Work is ongoing with project sponsors to test the forecast cost of schemes 

effected by supply chain pressures.

01.07.22

Cyber Security

Increase in the number of cyber-attacks, due to the 

pandemic, may lead to penetration resulting in operational 

disruption, data corruption, systems outage and loss of 

finances.

Integration 

We fail to effect the integration to a single way of working, 

which may lead to further disruption and uncertainty, 

resulting in loss of employees and the benefits being 

unachieved.

Investment Strategy

Failure to agree an Investment Strategy, leads to calls for the 

inefficient use of funding, impacting on our ability to 

restructure the South Yorkshire economy.

Financial Health

The MCA does not have the quantum, breadth, and flexibility 

of funding to deliver on all its activities, leading to 

unsustainable calls on reserves. Structural funding issues are 

exacerbated by the inflationary environment and disruption 

to commercial income streams

Supply Chain

The MCA experiences supply chain failure/disruption either 

from a contracted supplier entering into financial distress 

and/or an insolvency event, the market being unable to 

provide services, or the market being unable to deliver 

services at contracted prices. This disrupts provision of 

service, leads to delays, cost pressures, and reputational 

damage. 

Borrowing

The MCA receives new borrowing vires which exposes it to 

new financial risk around exposure to interest rates and debt 

management and also a new compliance regime that 

requires HM Treasury consents for annual borrowing caps

Organisational Design

The organisational transformation linked to the integration of 

the MCA and PTE organisations, leads to confusion in the 

structure and ways of working, resulting in inability to deliver 

the outcomes outlined in the  economic plan and in the 

Corporate Plan

Workforce Planning 

Inadequate planning for future resource needs, leads to a 

reactive approach, resulting in an overstretched and under 

resourced workforce. 

P
age 66



0

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 

 
27 January 2022 

 
Draft Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23 

 

Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Monitoring/Assurance 
 

Is this a Key Decision?                                   No 
 
Has it been included on the                    Yes 
Forward Plan? 
 

 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Gareth Sutton, Chief Finance Officer/s73 Officer 
 
Report Author(s): 
Mike Thomas 
Mike.Thomas@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 

 
Executive Summary 
This paper provides an update to the Committee on the development of the 2022/23 Treasury 
Management Strategy for the SYMCA group. This draft Strategy will shape the MCA’s 
approach to managing its cash and debt portfolios over the course of the following financial 
year. 
 

What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
The MCA’s treasury management strategy is an integral part of its budget, which provides the 
resource to deliver upon South Yorkshire’s aspirations. The developing business plans and 
accompanying budgets will determine how, where, and to what level the MCA invests in the 
region in the coming years and will set out how that investment is to be funded. 
 
Recommendations   
The Committee is asked to: 

• Endorse the draft Treasury Management Strategy for onward approval by the MCA 
Board, alongside the proposed 2022/23 Revenue Budget and Capital Programme, in 
March 2022; 

• Endorse the borrowing strategy set out in Section A of Appendix 1; 

Page 69

Agenda Item 12



• Endorse the capital expenditure estimates and associated prudential indicators set out in 
Section B of Appendix 1; 

• Endorse the minimum revenue provision policy set out in Section C of Appendix 1; 

• Endorse the annual investment strategy set out in Section D of Appendix 1; 

• Endorse the granting of delegated authority to the Group Finance Director in 
consultation with the Chief Executive to provide a financial guarantee in favour of the 
SCR Financial Interventions Holding company; 

• Note the intention to negotiate with HM Treasury and DLUHC to agree a borrowing cap 
for 2022/23 for all functions (transport & non-transport), and; 

• Endorse the draft treasury management practices at Appendix 2.  
 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
MCA Board – March 2022  

 
1.  Background  
  
1.1 The treasury management strategy is forward looking and seeks to ensure that: 

• The MCA’s overarching borrowing strategy is appropriate in the context of 
the current economic climate;  

• The MCA capital plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable (as 
measured via a series of prudential indicators); 

• Prudent charges are made to revenue for the repayment of debt by adopting 
a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy that is compliant with statutory 
MRP guidance; 

• Investments and borrowings are organised in accordance with the MCA’s 
risk appetite (as measured via a series of treasury indicators); and  

• The MCA’s investment strategy pays due regard to security (the 
management of risk and the protection of the principal sums invested) and 
liquidity (availability of cash to meet liabilities as they fall due) as first 
priorities and then what level of return (yield) can be obtained based on risk 
appetite and the contribution each investment activity makes. 

   
2. Key Issues 
  
2.1 In common with constituent member authorities, regulation and the MCA’s 

Constitution require that the MCA approve the adoption of an Annual Treasury 
Management Strategy (TMS) which must comply with the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 2003, the CIPFA Prudential Code, DLUHC MRP Guidance, the 
CIPFA Treasury Management Code and DLUHC Investment Guidance.    

  

2.2 Proposed changes to CIPFA’s Prudential Code and Treasury Management Code 
are currently out to consultation with the focus on ensuring that speculative 
investments in commercial properties are limited.  
 

2.3 The annual treasury management strategy is set in the wider context of the MCA’s 
medium and longer-term capital investment plans. At this stage, whilst business 
investment, capital infrastructure and transport programmes beyond 2021/22 are 
still being developed, the financial planning horizon has been limited to the three-
year minimum specified by the Code based on existing commitments.  
 

2.4 The TMS sets the parameters within which the MCA will deliver its cash and debt 
management activities. The key sections of the draft TMS are appended to this 

Page 70



report, including an Investment Strategy and Prudential Indicators. Progress 
against this proposed strategy will be reported to this Committee and to the MCA at 
the mid-year point, and again at outturn. 
 

2.5 The MCA’s approach to its Investment Strategy is determined by a hierarchy of 
criteria designed to protect the public purse. This hierarchy places greater focus on 
the security and the liquidity of the MCA’s investments rather than on the yield 
generated from them. 
 

2.6 The key advantage of this approach is to limit the MCA’s exposure to losses arising 
from counterparty default. However, it also limits the returns that can be generated 
from investing cash resource until it is required. Given the significant uncertainties 
in financial markets, the draft TMS proposes to maintain the current stance, limiting 
investments to the safest of counterparties. 
 

2.7 Although interest rates have increased recently, they are forecast to remain at 
record lows for some time to come. Hence, it is probable that income generated 
from the MCA’s investment activity will also remain low. The impact of this will fall 
on the Group’s proposed revenue budgets, with modest income returns limiting the 
amount of revenue activity that can be funded. 
 

2.8 The draft TMS also notes that £8m of borrowing will be retired during the year, 
following the £61m repaid over the past two years. The repayment of this borrowing 
in 2022/23 reduces the cost of debt by c. £0.39m. 
 

2.9 Repaying legacy debt will reduce the overall burden of financing costs on the 
revenue budget and the transport levy. This trend is matched to the release of 
reserves from the Levy Reduction Reserve, meaning that when that reserve is 
exhausted the cost of debt will have fallen to such an extent that, all things being 
equal, the revenue budget will be much less dependent on the reserve subsidy. 
 

2.10 Committee members should note that the draft TMS proposes to maintain the 
operational boundary and the authorised limit on debt the MCA can hold. Whilst at 
this stage there are no known requirements to finance expenditure from borrowing, 
maintaining the limits at this juncture provides the MCA with the necessary 
headroom to initiate a programme of borrowing funded activity during the year, 
should the need or opportunity arise. 
 

2.11 Finally, Committee members are asked to note the consultation currently underway 
on Minimum Revenue Provision guidance. This consultation is seeking to address 
abuse of the current guidance, particularly through speculative investment in 
commercial properties and the avoidance of debt provisions for that investment. 
The Committee is asked to note the implications of this consultation on the MCA’s 
developing longer-term investment plans, and the positive engagement the MCA 
has had with government and partners on the issue to-date. 
 

3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal 
  
3.1 The option to adopt a less conservative approach to its investment strategy was 

discounted on the basis of prudency. 
  

 

Page 71



4. Consultation on Proposal  
  
4.1 Independent Audit Committee Members 
  
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   
  
5.1 The proposed TMS must be approved by the MCA Board before the forthcoming 

financial year. 
  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  
6.1 The financial implications are clearly set out in the main body of this report as well 

as in Appendix 1. 
  
7. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
7.1 In the opinion of the Section 73 Officer, the draft TMS is fully compliant with all 

relevant legislation.  
  
8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  
8.1 N/A 
  
9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  
9.1 N/A 
  
10. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
  
10.1 N/A 
  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  
11.1 N/A 
  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   
  
12.1 The key principles underpinning this draft TMS will be tested on the four South 

Yorkshire Directors of Finance, their technical teams and the MCA’s external 
treasury management advisers.  
 

List of Appendices Included  
 
A Appendix 1 – Principal Sections of the Draft TMS 
B Appendix 2 – Proposed Treasury Management Practices  
   

Background Papers 

N/A  
 

Page 72



 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 
 

SOUTH YORKSHIRE MAYORAL COMBINED AUTHORITY  
 
DRAFT ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2022/23 
 
Introduction  

The annual treasury management strategy is forward looking and seeks to ensure that: 

• The MCA’s overarching Borrowing strategy is appropriate in the context of the current 
economic climate  

• The MCA Group’s capital plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable (as measured via a 
series of prudential indicators); 

• Prudent charges are made to revenue for the repayment of debt by adopting a minimum 
Revenue provision (MRP) policy that is compliant with statutory MRP guidance 

• investments and borrowings are organised in accordance with the MCA’s risk appetite (as 
measured via a series of treasury indicators); and  

• The MCA Group’s investment strategy pays due regard to security (the management of risk 
and the protection of the principal sums invested) and liquidity (availability of cash to meet 
liabilities as they fall due) as first priorities and then what level of return (yield) can be obtained 
based on risk appetite and the contribution each investment activity makes. 

 
The annual treasury management strategy is set in the wider context of the MCA’s medium and longer 
term capital investment plans. At this stage, whilst business investment, capital infrastructure and 
transport programmes beyond 2021/22 are still being developed, the financial planning horizon has been 
limited to the three-year minimum specified by the Code based on existing commitments.  
 
In addition, the annual treasury management strategy sets out the MCA Group’s position on: 
 

• borrowing in advance of need; 
• debt rescheduling; and 
• use of external service providers. 

 
These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the CIPFA Prudential Code, 
MHCLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management Code and MHCLG Investment Guidance. 
 
Proposed changes to CIPFA’s Prudential Code and Treasury Management Code are currently out to 
consultation with the focus on ensuring that: 
 

• risks associated with commercial property investment are properly addressed 
• treasury management staff and members receive adequate training to ensure that they have 

the necessary expertise, knowledge and skills to perform their duties 
• treasury activities pay due regard to Environmental, Social and Governance risks over the 

sums invested  
 
The impact of these changes will be reported back in the mid-year report on treasury management.  
 
Treasury management reporting 
 
The annual treasury management strategy is the first of a minimum of three reports that will be reported 
in respect of 2022/23 treasury activity. As a minimum the two other reports will comprise: 
 

• a mid year report which will provide an update on treasury activity for the first 6 months of the 
2022/23 financial year, and   

Page 73



 

 

• an annual report which will report actual performance against the treasury management strategy 
after the end of the 2022/23 financial year   

 
In addition, should there be any material changes to the strategy or associated indicators these will be 

brought back for approval before being implemented.  

Recommendations (for the MCA Board in March 2022) 

Members are asked to: 

• Approve the annual treasury management strategy;  

• Approve the borrowing strategy set out in Section A of the annual treasury management 

strategy; 

• Approve the capital expenditure estimates and associated prudential indicators set out in Section 

B of the annual treasury management strategy; 

• Approve the minimum revenue provision policy set out in Section C of the annual treasury 

management strategy; 

• Approve the annual investment strategy set out in Section D of the annual treasury management 

strategy; 

• Grant delegated authority to the Group Finance Director in consultation with the Chief Executive 

to provide a financial guarantee in favour of the SCR Financial Interventions Holding company, 

and; 

• Support the intention to negotiate with HM Treasury and DLUHC to agree a borrowing cap for all 

MCA functions (transport & non-transport) for 2022/23.  

  

Page 74



 

 

Section A 
 
Borrowing Strategy  
 
Previously, the borrowing strategy related solely to the transport functions of the MCA as, at the time of 
writing the 2021/22 TMS, the MCA had no borrowing powers in relation to its LEP functions.  
 
However, this position will change in Q4 of 2021/22, to enable the MCA to borrow money for non-
transport purposes, up to a Government agreed cap of £170.77m. These powers will be conferred by 
separate legislation, following successful negotiation with HM Treasury and DLUHC on the appropriate 
level of cap needed to meet the MCA’s strategic plans - having regard to affordability, prudence and 
sustainability. 
 
The draft borrowing strategy for 2022/23 is to maintain the status quo, in other words: where possible to 
meet any borrowing need for the year internally from treasury investments rather than taking out external 
borrowing. This is in the expectation that the cost of new borrowing will continue to exceed likely 
investment returns. This plan will remain subject to the emerging investment strategy. 
 
In addition, the draft strategy is to repay debt as it falls due rather than to refinance debt. This 
assumption has been built into the financial plans resulting in a projected fall in debt servicing costs as 
debt is repaid. 
 
The strategy also seeks to take the opportunity to reschedule existing debt where this will lead to an 
overall saving. However, for the reasons described further on in this report it is considered unlikely that 
any such opportunities will arise in the short to medium term.  
 
Lending arrangements introduced by government in November 2020 tightened the rules governing local 
authorities, including MCAs, access to PWLB borrowing. The new rules do not allow access to PWLB 
where a local authority intends to buy commercial investment assets held primarily or partially to 
generate a profit for yield within its capital plans at any point in the next three years regardless of 
whether the transaction would notionally be financed from a source other than PWLB. The definition of 
commercial investment assets in this case is that contained within DLUHC Statutory Guidance on Local 
Government investments and includes, for example, investment property portfolios whose main purpose 
is to generate a profit.  
 
The MCA Group’s investment property portfolio is a legacy of bus deregulation and comprises former 
transport assets which are not being actively managed to achieve commercial returns. Accordingly, they 
are not considered to fall within the definition of commercial investment assets under the Statutory 
Guidance. This will however be kept under review should there be any plans to expand or diversify the 
portfolio. 
 
 
 
  

Page 75



 

 

Section B 
 
Capital Expenditure Plans and Prudential Indicators: 2021/22 to 2024/25 
 
Indicator 1 - Group Capital expenditure estimates  
 
The table below summarises the MCA Group’s capital investment plans for the forthcoming year and 
indicative estimates for the following two years.  
 
The estimates are based on known commitments at this point in time. It is highly likely that these 
commitments will change as new Government funding streams announced in the Spending Review 
come on-line, and the MCA begins to shape its own gainshare funded investment strategy. The 
estimates may also materially change should the MCA be successful in its bid into Government for 
additional transport capital funding in the new year, such as Levelling Up Fund. The estimates below 
reflect known commitments: 
 

1. Group Capital Expenditure Estimates  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

  Forecast  Estimate  Estimate  Estimate  

  £m £m £m £m 

City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) £0 £114 £114 £114 

Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) £8 £63 £0 £0 

Parkway Widening £6 £17 £0 £0 

Active Travel £3 £5 £0 £0 

Growth Deal (Transport) £0 £4 £4 £4 

Highways Capital Maintenance  £11 £0 £0 £0 

Pothole & Challenge Fund  £14 £0 £0 £0 

Integrated Transport Block  £7 £0 £0 £0 

Business Investment (LGF) £21 £13 £0 £10 

Brownfield Fund  £2 £8 £10 £10 

Getting Building Fund  £31 £0 £0 £0 

Gainshare Capital - Place Investment £0 £21 £0 £0 

Gainshare Capital - Flooding £0 £7 £0 £0 

Digital (LGF) £0 £2 £2 £2 

Uncommitted:         

Gainshare Capital £0 £11 £18 £18 

          

Total Capital Investment  £103 £265 £148 £158 

 
Indicator 2 – Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) estimates 
 
The table below shows how the planned capital expenditure is expected to be financed.  Any capital 
expenditure not funded by capital grants, capital receipts, or revenue contributions, results in a need for 
borrowing. 
 

2. Group Capital Financing Estimates  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

  Forecast  Estimate  Estimate  Estimate  

  £m £m £m £m 

Total capital investment £103 £265 £148 £158 

          

Government Grant - CRSTS £0 £114 £114 £114 

Page 76



 

 

Government Grant - TCF £8 £63 £0 £0 

Government Grants - other transport  £41 £26 £4 £4 

Government Grants - Brownfield Fund £2 £8 £10 £10 

Government Grants - Getting Building Fund  £31 £0 £0 £0 

Gainshare - capital  £0 £39 £18 £18 

Capital Receipts - LGF £21 £15 £2 £12 

Earmarked reserves £0 £0 £0 0 

Revenue contributions  £0 £0 £0 0 

          

Total capital funding £103 £265 £148 £158 

          

Net borrowing needed for the year  £0 £0 £0 £0 

 
 
The borrowing need stems from the decision taken in 2018/19 to borrow up to £23.3m over the 3-year 
period 2018/19 to 2020/21 to support capital investment in South Yorkshire transport schemes 
(Rotherham Interchange, re-railing and the transport capital pot).  
 
The cumulative borrowing need over the period from 2018/19 to 2020/21 was £23.1m and therefore 
within the overall amount approved. The revenue implications of this borrowing have been factored into 
the 2022/23 South Yorkshire transport revenue budget approved by the MCA at its meeting on 24 
January 2022. 
 
As noted above under the section on Borrowing Strategy, the MCA will be negotiating with HM Treasury 
and MHCLG on a borrowing cap for non transport purposes. This has been factored into the table above 
on the assumption that the necessary legislation will be passed.  
 
Based on the above capital investment plans and capital financing proposals, the Group’s overall 
forecast underlying need to borrow or Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is forecast to change as 
follows: 

 
Group Capital Financing Requirement  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

  Forecast  Estimate  Estimate  Estimate  

  £m £m £m £m 

Opening CFR  £109 £109 £106 £103 

          

movement in CFR          

Additional borrowing requirement   £4 £0 £0 £0 

(deferred due to use of GBF in 2020/21)         

MRP  -£3 -£3 -£3 -£3 

Capital receipts set aside for the repayment of 
debt 

£0 £0 £0 £0 

Other adjustments  £0 £0 £0 £0 

          

Closing CFR  £109 £106 £103 £99 

 
Indicator 3 - Amount of external debt against the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)  
 
The purpose of this indicator is to assess the extent to which borrowing is only being used in the medium 
to longer term to finance capital expenditure. The benchmark recommended by CIPFA is that the 

Page 77



 

 

estimated amount of gross debt should not exceed the estimated CFR for the current and following two 
years. 
 

Group external borrowing 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

  Forecast  Estimate  Estimate  Estimate  

  £m £m £m £m 

          

MCA Loans £25 £25 £25 £21 

Expected change in MCA Loans £0 £0 -£4 -£4 

SYPTE Debt £108 £100 £92 £46 

Expected change in SYPTE Debt -£8 -£8 -£46 £0 

          

Gross Debt £125 £117 £67 £63 

Capital Financing Requirement £109 £106 £103 £99 

Debt in excess of CFR £16 £11 -£36 -£36 

 
Historically, gross debt has exceeded CFR because MRP has been charged annually to the transport 
levy to write down the CFR but no loan repayments had taken place. As illustrated in the table above, 
this situation is now rebalancing as debt matures and significant loan repayments are being made. The 
turning point is in 2023/24 when £50m of debt will be repaid. 
 
The repayment of borrowing is also drawing down on the cash investments built up in previous years for 
the repayment of debt with the consequence that the level of investments is also forecast to fall - see 
Investment Strategy - Table 2. 

Indicator 4 - Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

This indicator is a measure of the affordability of decisions taken to finance capital investment borrowing 
in the context of the Group’s overall financial sustainability. 

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue streams 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

Forecast  Estimate  Estimate  Estimate  

£m £m £m £m 

Interest £8 £8 £6 £5 

MRP £3 £3 £3 £3 

Less Investment Income -£1 -£1 -£1 -£1 

Net Financing Costs £11 £11 £9 £7 

Income - transport levy £54 £54 £54 £54 

Finance Costs/Unrestricted Revenue Income % 20% 20% 16% 13% 

Interest payable is principally fixed rate PWLB borrowing. The reduction in the amount of interest 
payable is therefore a function of PWLB debt being repaid as it matures. A significant amount of PWLB 
debt is scheduled to be repaid over the period to 2024/25 as illustrated in Indicator 3, hence, the 
downward trend.   

The return on investments is a function of the average level of treasury investments and target returns 
which are expected to be achieved. The reduction in investment income reflects the fact that investments 
are being used to settle loan repayments as they fall due in accordance with the borrowing strategy 
thereby reducing the level of core funds. The expected returns on investments are also expected to 
decline as long term investments on which decent returns are currently being earned unwind - see 
Investment Strategy Table 2.    

Page 78



 

 

External Debt – borrowing limits – Indicators 5 and 6  

There are two indicators on borrowing limits: the authorised limit and operational boundary. 

The authorised limit represents a control on the maximum amount of debt the Group can borrow for 
capital investment and temporary cash flow purposes. Under Section 3 of the Local Government Act 
2003 this limit is agreed by the MCA and cannot be revised without that body’s agreement. 

The authorised limit reflects the level of external debt which, while not desired, could be afforded in the 
short term, but is not sustainable in the long term. 

The operational boundary is the maximum amount of money the Group expects to borrow during the 
financial year. It acts as a useful warning if breached during the year that underlying spend may be 
higher than expected or income lower than budgeted. 

 

 

Both the Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary allow for up to a £500m increase in borrowing 
capacity to accelerate delivery of the Gainshare funded Investment Programme by bringing forward all 
uncommitted Gainshare capital that the MCA is due to receive in years 3 to 30 so that it can be invested 
upfront in the near term. The figure of £500m represents the upper limit of what is potentially affordable 
to enable the associated debt financing costs to be contained within the overall 30 year Gainshare 
allocation. It will also be subject to the borrowing cap that the MCA agrees on an annual basis with HM 
Treasury and DLUHC for non-transport purposes. 

In addition, the authorised limit allows for an additional £40m headroom over the maximum expected 
amount of gross debt in 2022/23 (excluding the £500m referred to above) - the operational boundary 
allows for an additional £25m headroom. The headroom provides capacity for short term temporary 
borrowing to manage the MCA’s cash position rather than having to realise higher yield longer term 
investments early before they are due to mature.  

The MCA has ready access to temporary borrowing should the need arise through local authority to local 
authority lending. Currently, borrowing rates in the local authority to local authority market are around 
0.25% to 0.5% for one to two year borrowing. In this context, having headroom of up to £40m is 
considered affordable in the short term.  

The Other Long-Term Liabilities set out in the table below represents the PFI liability in respect of 
Doncaster Interchange.  

For some combined authorities, major changes to local authority accounting rules under IFRS 16 in 
respect of accounting for leasing may lead to “right of use” leased assets being brought on balance 
sheet which would increase the value of Other Long-Term Liabilities. The new accounting rules were due 
to come into effect in 2020/21 but implementation has now been deferred until the start of 2022/23. 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Forecast Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£m £m £m £m

Loans £673 £665 £657 £607

Other Long Term Liabilities £11 £11 £10 £10

Total £684 £676 £668 £617

Authorised Limit

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Forecast Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£m £m £m £m

Loans £658 £650 £642 £592

Other Long Term Liabilities £11 £11 £10 £10

Total £669 £661 £653 £602

Operational Boundary

Page 79



 

 

Finance officers in the MCA and SYPTE have assessed the impact of IFRS16, and it is not expected that 
any other long term liabilities will need to be brought on balance sheet on 1 April 2022.  

Indicator 7 – Maturity structure of borrowing  

The maturity profile is important in ensuring there is sufficient liquidity to meet loan repayments as they 
fall due. 

Maturity of Group 
borrowing: 

Amount     

£m % 
 

2021/22 8 6%  

2022/23 8 6%  

2023/24 50 38%  

2024/25 4 3%  

2025/26 4 3%  

2026/27 4 3%  

2027/28 22 16%  

2028/29 0 0%  

2029/30 4 3%  

2030/31 4 3%  

2043 to 2056 25 19%  

Total £133 100%  

 
 
The level of core funds available up to and including 2023/24 (see Investment Strategy - Table 2) 
indicates that there are sufficient internal funds to meet loan repayments in the medium term without the 
need for external borrowing.  
 
In the period 2024/25 to 2026/27 the amount raised as MRP through the levy will more or less match the 
loan repayments of £4m p.a. in each of these years. Hence, it is not until 2027/28 that there is a potential 
need for external borrowing. This is on the assumption that: 
 

• Borrowing requirement - the net borrowing need is as set out in Indicator 2 

• Market loans - there is no early repayment of market loans (considered very unlikely in the 
prevailing low interest rate environment - see Debt Rescheduling below)  

 

Debt Rescheduling 

Opportunities for debt rescheduling depend on the difference between the repayment rates on early 
redemption and the interest rates on existing debt. 
 
Where repayment rates on early redemption are lower, a premium (cost) is payable. Where repayment 
rates are higher, a discount (saving) can be obtained.  
 
In the present low interest rate environment, PWLB rates for early repayment are currently in the range 
of 0.5% to 1.25%. This is significantly lower than rates on the Group’s existing PWLB debt portfolio 
which range from 4.25% to 8.50%. Early repayment would therefore incur a very substantial premium.  

The interest rates on the Group’s market loans range from 4.50% to 4.95%. As these are considerably 
higher than the prevailing rates it is considered unlikely that the lender would exercise their call option 
which would trigger an opportunity to repay the debt early and refinance it by cheaper PWLB debt.  

Page 80



 

 

The prospect of refinancing or paying off early some of the underlying PFI debt relating to Doncaster 
Interchange in order to reduce future unitary payments over the remainder of the PFI term is discussed 
at the regular review meetings with the PFI Operator. No such opportunities have presented themselves 
to date.   

Borrowing in advance of need 

The MCA will not borrow more than, or in advance of, its needs purely in order to profit from the 
investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will be within forward 
approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates and will be considered carefully to ensure that value 
for money can be demonstrated and that the MCA can ensure the security of such funds.  

Risks associated with any borrowing in advance will be subject to prior appraisal and reporting through 
the mid-year treasury report or annual report on treasury management.  

Financial guarantee  
 
The MCA has a wholly owned subsidiary, the SCR Financial Interventions Holding Company whose sole 
purpose is to hold finance to support the delivery of the LGF programme. The company does not trade, 
is controlled by the MCA Executive and only has intercompany transactions with the MCA.  

Under Companies Act legislation, the company can be made exempt from the requirement for audit, and 
therefore save the public purse, if the MCA as parent provides a financial guarantee in the required 
format stating the financial year to which it relates.  

The effect of the guarantee is that the MCA guarantees all outstanding liabilities to which the company is 
subject at the end of the financial year to which the guarantee relates until they are satisfied in full; and, 
the guarantee is enforceable against the MCA by any person to whom the company is liable in respect of 
those liabilities. However, as the company’s only liability is to the MCA, there is no risk to the MCA 
group. 

It is therefore proposed that the MCA provides a financial guarantee in respect of the 2021/22 financial 
year and that this remains in force if and until such time that the company transacts with parties other 
than the MCA. As the MCA’s Financial Regulations allow the Group Finance Director to enter into any 
borrowing, investment and financing arrangements on behalf of the Authority compliant with the Treasury 
Management Policy, it is recommended that delegated authority be given to the Group Finance Director 
to provide the financial guarantee on the MCA’s behalf for filing with Companies House. 
 
Use of external advisors  

Link Asset services have been appointed as treasury advisors to the MCA to provide technical guidance 

and support on treasury matters, including providing a creditworthiness service on financial institutions 

and other potential counterparties.  

The MCA also has a service level agreement with Sheffield City Council to provide day to day banking 

and treasury services including managing the MCA’s investment portfolio on its behalf. 

Where external advisors are appointed to provide specialist skills and resources, officers will ensure that 

the terms of their appointment and methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed 

and documented.   

Page 81



 

 

Section C 
 
 
Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement  
  
This policy statement has been prepared having regard to the Revised Statutory MRP Guidance issued 
in 2018. This limited the maximum number of years over which MRP can be charged to 50 years unless 
a suitably qualified professional advisor advises that the related asset will deliver service functionality for 
more than 50 years. 
 
In practice, this change will have little or no practical effect on the existing profile of MRP charges. 
 
The broad aim of MRP is for an authority to make a prudent provision by charging revenue over time to 
reduce its Capital Financing Requirement. In doing so, an authority should align the period over which 
they charge MRP to one that is commensurate with the period over which its capital assets / expenditure 
provides benefits either in terms of service potential or economic return. 
 
Regulation 28 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 [as 
amended] gives local authorities flexibility in how they calculate MRP, providing the calculation is 
‘prudent’. In calculating a prudent provision, local authorities are required to have regard to statutory 
guidance on determining MRP which offers a number of options for meeting this requirement.  
 
In addition, an authority may charge an amount greater than the statutory minimum should it wish to do 
so. The MCA has not elected to charge in excess of the minimum statutory amount to date and has no 
plans to do so in 2021/22.  
 
The MCA is recommended to approve the following MRP statement for financial year 2022/23: 
MRP on the residual Capital Financing Requirement at the end of 2015/16 relating to capital expenditure 
incurred before 1st April 2008, is being charged on a flat line basis over fifty years. This is considered a 
more prudent approach to the “regulatory method” adopted up to and including 2015/16, as it better 
aligns the charges to revenue to the benefits the related assets deliver.   
 
MRP on capital expenditure incurred since 1st April 2008, financed by unsupported borrowing will be 
based on the ‘asset life method’. This means that MRP will be based on the estimated useful life of the 
assets created. The MCA will apply a maximum life of 50 years to new assets unless a suitably qualified 
professional advisor advises that an asset will deliver service functionality for more than 50 years or 
where an asset is a lease or PFI asset, and the length of the lease/PFI contract exceeds 50 years. 
MRP will commence in the year after an asset becomes operational to align charges to revenue to the 
economic benefits generated from those assets. 
 
MRP on capital loans and capital grants awarded to partners and third parties financed by borrowing will 
be charged over the useful life of the assets concerned. 
 
MRP on capital expenditure on assets not owned by the MCA or on assets for use by others will similarly 
be charged over the useful life of the assets concerned. MRP on expenditure capitalised by virtue of a 
statutory direction, repayment of capital grants or loans received, or acquisition of share capital, will be 
charged over a period not exceeding the maximum period specified by regulation. 
 
If, as noted in the section concerning the Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary, the MCA agrees 
maintain its borrowing capacity at £500m to accelerate delivery of the South Yorkshire Renewal Plan, 
Gainshare capital will be applied in the first instance to meet the requirement to set aside an amount to 
repay debt in lieu of charging revenue. 
 
Members are asked to note the consultation on MRP changes currently underway. The draft proposals 
on this consultation may preclude the use of capital grant in-lieu of charging revenue. The MCA is 
engaging DLUHC on this issue and believes it has a strong basis to challenge the proposals. 
 

Page 82



 

 

Section D 
 
Investment strategy  
 
The MCA’s investment policy has regard to the following:  
 

• MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government Investments  

• CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance 
Notes 2017  

• CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018   
 
The MCA’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second and then yield (return). The MCA 
will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments commensurate with proper levels of security 
and liquidity and with the MCA’s risk appetite.  
 
MHCLG and CIPFA place a high priority on the management of risk. Accordingly, the MCA has adopted 
a prudent approach to managing risk and defines its risk appetite by the following means:  
 

• Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list of highly creditworthy 
counterparties.  This also enables diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk. The 
key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the short term and long-term ratings.   

 

• A defined list of types of investment instruments that the treasury management team are 
authorised to use. These fall into two categories - ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments.  
 

• Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and subject to a 
maturity limit of one year or have less than a year left to run to maturity if they were 
originally classified as being non-specified investments solely due to the maturity period 
exceeding one year.  

• Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may be for periods in 
excess of one year, and/or are more complex instruments which require greater 
consideration by members and officers before being authorised for use.  

 

• Lending limits (amounts and maturity) for each counterparty will be set through applying the 
matrix in Table 4 

 
• A limit on investments which are invested for longer than 365 days - see Table 2 
 

At the advent of the Covid 19 pandemic the Bank of England took emergency action in March 2020 to 
reduce the base rate to first 0.25% and then to a historic low of 0.10%. The base rate remained at this 
level until 16 December 2021 when it was raised to 0.25%. This, together with the Government’s fiscal 
stimulus package, has resulted in returns on traditional types of investment being suppressed. This is 
likely to remain the case in the medium term as illustrated in the table in the section below on Prospects 
for Interest Rates. 
 
In view of this and in accordance with the 2020/21 annual treasury management strategy, preliminary 
discussions took place last year with the Group’s treasury advisors and bankers on options to diversify 
into other types of pooled investment funds including, for example: 
 

• Short dated bond funds (suitable for investors with a minimum time horizon of 2 to 3 years)  

• Property Funds (suitable for investors with a minimum time horizon of at least 5 years) 

• Multi-asset income funds (suitable for investors with a minimum time horizon of at least 5 years) 
 
These types of investment can generate a higher rate of return but inevitably at a greater risk than 
traditional types of investment.  A comprehensive understanding of the varying degrees of risks 

Page 83



 

 

associated with these types of investment is therefore required to assess against the potential rewards 
having regard to appropriate professional advice from external advisors. 
 
Given the risks and uncertainties in the current economic climate, the focus for the time being at least, 
has been and will continue to be on maximising returns from traditional types of investment rather than 
on diversification. 
 
Investment Performance  
 
Over the course of 2021/22 in the 9 months to December 2021, the average size of the investment 
portfolio was £418m with the weighted average return on investments falling from 0.55% in April 2021 to 
0.31% in December 2021 and averaging 0.37% for the 9 months to date. 
 
The types of investment included within the investment portfolio are the more traditional ones held by 
local authorities, namely: 
 

• Deposits with local authorities through the local authority to local authority market; 

• Call accounts with reputable banks with a high credit rating, and;  

• Low volatility low risk highly liquid Money Market Funds which provide for instant access. 
  
The returns on all of these types of investment have declined over the year with the average return now 
being 0.79% on local authority deposits (including longer term investments), 0.35% on call accounts and 
0.06% on Money Market Funds.  
 
The reason for the weighted average return for the 9 months to date of 0.37% being higher than the 
returns on traditional investments is due to the higher returns being earned on longer term fixed interest 
local authority deposits of more than 365 days duration. As at January 2022 there were £40m of such 
longer investments on which the average return was 1.20%.   
 
Table 1 - Prospects for interest rates 
 

 
 
As shown in the forecast table above, the Bank Rate is expected to increase to 1.25% over the next three 
years as the Bank of England takes action to counter the threat of inflation. During this period, economic 
recovery is expected to be only gradual and, therefore, prolonged. 
 
Returns on investments are expected to remain suppressed at or below 1.0% on investments of shorter 
duration and at or below 1.20% on investments of 12 months. 
 
PWLB interest rates on borrowing are expected to rise to around 2.0% to 2.5%, depending on the term 
of the loan, over the next three years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Link Group Interest Rate View  20.12.21

Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24 Jun-24 Sep-24 Dec-24 Mar-25

BANK RATE 0.25 0.25 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25

  3 month ave earnings 0.20 0.30 0.50 0.50 0.60 0.70 0.80 0.90 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

  6 month ave earnings 0.40 0.50 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10

12 month ave earnings 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.10 1.10 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20

5 yr   PWLB 1.40 1.50 1.50 1.60 1.60 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.90 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00

10 yr PWLB 1.60 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.30

25 yr PWLB 1.80 1.90 2.00 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50

50 yr PWLB 1.50 1.70 1.80 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30

Page 84



 

 

 
 
Table 2 - Core funds and balances and longer term investments of more than 365 days 
 

Core Funds 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

Forecast  Estimate  Estimate  Estimate  

£m £m £m £m 

Reserves and balances - revenue and capital £89 £80 £76 £86 

Cash set aside to repay debt £16 £11 -£36 -£36 

Capital grant received in advance £147 £50 £100 £100 

Sub-total £252 £142 £140 £150 

Short term cash / working capital £184 £25 £25 £25 

Total £437 £167 £165 £175 

 
 
The level of core funds available beyond 2022/23 will remain reasonably constant until 2027/28 when (as 
illustrated in Indicator 7) £22m of borrowing is due to be repaid.  
 

Investment greater than 365 days 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

Forecast  Estimate  Estimate  Estimate  

£m £m £m £m 

Maximum - end of the year  £140 £150 £150 £150 

Existing long term investments  £40 £40 £15 £10 

Balance available to invest  £100 £110 £135 £140 
 
The table above shows the estimated amount available to invest in longer term investments of more than 
365 days duration based on the estimated level of core funds available (excluding short term cash and 
working capital) measured against the existing longer term investment portfolio as at the end of 
December 2021. 
 
It shows that some significant capacity remains for further longer term investments in the next three 
years due to the substantial balance on capital grants received in advance (£250m as at 31 December 
2021). Even after forecast capital expenditure of £103m in 2021/22, the balance carried forward will be 
c.£147m.  
 
 
Table 3 - Target return on investments (Yield)  
 
Using the prospects for interest rates, returns on longer term investments and core funds available to 
investment set out above, the target return on the investment portfolio as a whole (short and long term) 
is as follows: 
 

Returns on investments 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

Forecast  Estimate  Estimate  Estimate  

% % % % 

Target return on treasury investments 0.37% 0.70% 0.70% 0.70% 

 
Security  
 
The risk of default varies according to the type of investment. Local authorities are assumed to have a 
zero default rate. The default risk attached to other counterparties depends on their creditworthiness and 
duration of investment. The MCA’s treasury advisors provide historic default rates for different types of 

Page 85



 

 

counterparty as a guide. The risk of default on non local authority investments in the investment portfolio 
as at March 2021 using historic default rates provided by the MCA’s treasury advisors at the end of 
2020/21 is c. 0.012% or £7k.  
 
This is considered an acceptable level of risk against an average portfolio of £418m. 
 
Liquidity  
 
A balance of £25m will be maintained in highly liquid instant access investments / the bank to manage 
day to day treasury activity. 
 
Creditworthiness policy  
 

The MCA has adopted the creditworthiness service provided by its external treasury management 
advisors to manage counterparty risk. 
 
The service involves a risk weighted scoring of the three main credit rating agencies to arrive at a colour 
coding system to recommend the maximum duration of investments. This is summarised in the table 
below: 
 

Colour Band Duration 

Yellow 5 years * 

Dark pink 5 years for Ultra Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.25 

Light pink 5 years for Ultra Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.5 

Purple  2 years 

Blue  1 year   (only applies to nationalised/semi nationalised UK Banks) 

Orange 1 year 

Red  6 months 

Green  100 days   

No colour  not to be used  

 
The Lending limits (amounts and duration) for each counterparty are unchanged from 2021/22.  
 
At the foot of the matrix table, other investment options have been introduced.  These include, for example, 
short dated bond funds, property funds and multi asset income funds. No limits have been specified for 
these new investment types as yet, subject to further investigation into the risks and suitability of these 
options.  
 
Table 4 - Lending Limits 
  

Colour (and long 
term rating where 
applicable) 

Maximum sum 
and/or % 
Limit (per 
institution) 

Time 
Limit 

Banks * Yellow 100% 5 years 

Banks  Purple £30m 2 years 

Banks  Orange £30m 1 year 

Banks – part nationalised** Blue £50m 1 year 

Banks (UK Banks) Red £20m 6 months 

Banks (non-UK Banks) Red £15m 6 months 

Banks  Green £10m 100 days 

Banks  No colour Not to be used 

Page 86



 

 

 

Colour (and long 
term rating where 
applicable) 

Maximum sum 
and/or % 
Limit (per 
institution) 

Time 
Limit 

MCA’s banker (Barclays) in the 
event of the bank being ‘no 
colour’ 

- 
100 % 5 days*** 

DMADF AAA 100% 6 months 

Local authorities and other 
suitable public bodies or bodies 
delivering public services 
funded by the government 

N/A 

£50m 10 years 

Money market funds – CNAV 
**** 

AAA 
100 % Liquid 

Money market funds – LVNAV 
***** 

AAA 
100 % Liquid 

Money market funds – VNAV 
****** 

AAA 
100 % Liquid 

Ultra short dated bond funds 
with a credit score of 1.25 

Dark pink / AAA 
100 % Liquid 

Ultra short dated bond funds 
with a credit score of 1.5 

Light pink / AAA 
100 % Liquid 

Short dated bond funds    

Property Funds    

Multi Income Asset Funds     

* Please note: the yellow colour category is for UK Government debt, or its equivalent, constant net asset value money market 
funds and collateralised deposits where the collateral is UK Government debt. 
** When placing deposits with part nationalised banks the MCA will take care to review when it expects the UK Government to 
divest its interest in the institution, and the impact this move would have on the MCA’s view of the institutions security. 
*** to cover period to next working day allowing weekends and bank holidays such as Easter 
**** CNAV refers to Constant Net Asset Value Money Market Funds when investors will be able to purchase and redeem at a 
constant Net Asset Value (£1 in / £1 out) 
***** LVNAV refers to Low Volatility Net Asset Value Money Market Funds when investors will be able to purchase and redeem 
at a stable Net Asset Value to two decimal places, provided the fund is managed to certain restrictions 
****** VNAV refers to Variable Net Asset Value Money Market Funds where the price may vary 

 
The MCA is alerted to changes to ratings through the creditworthiness service provided by its external 
treasury advisors.   
If a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer meeting the MCA’s minimum 
criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn immediately. Any existing investment will 
be redeemed as soon as it is economically viable. 
Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed under the ‘specified’ and ‘non-
specified’ investments categories. Counterparty limits will be as set through the MCA’s treasury 
management practices.  
 
Country limits 
The MCA has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from countries with a minimum 
sovereign credit rating of “AA-” from Fitch. The list of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at 
the date of this report are as shown below.  Should ratings change, this list will be added to, or deducted 
from, by officers in accordance with this policy. 

AAA                      

• Australia 

• Denmark 

• Germany 

• Luxembourg 

Page 87



 

 

• Netherlands  

• Norway 

• Singapore 

• Sweden 

• Switzerland 

 

AA+ 

• Canada    

• Finland 

• U.S.A. 

 

 AA 

• Abu Dhabi (UAE) 

• France 

 

AA- 

• Belgium 

• Hong Kong 

• Qatar 

• U.K. 

 
Specified and Non specified investments  
The distinction between specified and non specified investments is important because of the additional 
procedures that need to be undertaken in considering the risk attached to non specified investments.  
 
Specified Investments 
Statutory Guidance on Investments defines specified investments as ones having the following 
characteristics: 

• Denominated in sterling 

• The duration is 12 months or less 

• The investment is high quality or is with the UK Government or a local authority  
 
High quality is determined by reference to the matrix table included in the creditworthiness policy. 
 
 
Table 5 - Limits on Specified Investments 
 
 

 

 Minimum 
credit 
criteria / 
colour band 

** Max % of total 
investments / £ 
limit per 
institution 

Max. maturity period 

Money Market Funds CNAV AAA 100% Liquid 

Money Market Funds LNVAV AAA 100% Liquid 

Money Market Funds VNAV AAA 100% Liquid 

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds 
with a credit score of 1.25  

AAA 100% Liquid 

Page 88



 

 

 

 Minimum 
credit 
criteria / 
colour band 

** Max % of total 
investments / £ 
limit per 
institution 

Max. maturity period 

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit 

score of 1.5   
AAA 100% Liquid 

Local authorities yellow 100% 12 months  

Term deposits with banks and building societies 
or housing associations 

Blue 
Orange 

Red 
Green 

No Colour 

As per lending 
limits table 

12 months  
12 months  
 6 months 
100 days 
Not for use 

CDs or corporate bonds with banks and building 
societies 

Blue 
Orange 

Red 
Green 

No Colour 

As per lending 
limits table 

12 months  
12 months  
 6 months 
100 days 
Not for use 

UK government debt  Yellow 100% 12 months 

  
Non specified investments 
These are any investments which do not meet the specified investment criteria.  
As far as the MCA is concerned, Non-specified investments represent those with a duration of more than 
one year, and/or are more complex instruments which require greater consideration by members and 
officers before being authorised for use.  
 
The table below illustrates the types of non specified investment that are currently being invested in or 
could be considered at a future date. The list is not however intended to be exhaustive and may be 
expanded as other types of investment are investigated.  
 
Table 6 - Limits on Non Specified Investments 
 

 Duration of more than one year  
* Minimum Credit 
Criteria 

** Max % of total 
investments 

Max. maturity period 

Term deposits – local authorities  N/A 100% 10 years  

Term deposits – banks and building 
societies  

Purple £30m  2 years  

UK Government Debt  Yellow 100% 5 years 

Multi asset income funds     

Property Funds     

Short dated bond funds     

 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

SOUTH YORKSHIRE MAYORAL 

COMBINED AUTHORITY 

 

           

 

 

Treasury Management Policy and 

Practices 2021/22 

 

 

 

 

 

Version Control: 

Version No Date Changed Changed By 

1.0 19/01/22 M Thomas 

   

   

   

   

   

   

 

 

Page 91



 

 

Contents 

 
 
 

Treasury Management Policy Statement..... 

 

 
Treasury Management Practices..... 

 
TMP 1 Treasury risk management 

 
TMP 2 Performance measurement 

 
 

TMP 3 Decision–making and analysis 

 
 

TMP 4 Approved instruments, methods and techniques 

 

TMP 5 
Authority, clarity and segregation of responsibilities, and 

dealing arrangements 

 

TMP 6 
Reporting requirements and management information 

arrangements 

 
TMP 7 Budgeting, accounting and audit arrangements 

 
 

TMP 8 Cash and cash flow management 

 
 

TMP 9 Money laundering 

 
 

TMP 10 Training and qualifications 

 
 

TMP 11 Use of external service providers 

 
 

TMP 12 Corporate governance 

 
TMP13 

Investment management practices for non-treasury 

investments 

 
 

Page 

 
..……...3 

 
 
 

 
..……...4 

 

……...14 

 
 

……...16 

 
 

……...18 

 

 
……...20 

 

 
……...24 

 
 

……...27 

 
 

……...28 

 
 

……...29 

 
 

……...31 

 
 

……...32 

 
 

……...34 

 
 

……...35 

Page 92



 

 

The Treasury Management Policy Statement 

The treasury management policy statement 

South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority (SYMCA) defines its treasury management activities 
as: 

1. The management of the Authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money 

market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with 

those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

2. This Authority regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to be 

the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities will be 

measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury management activities will 

focus on their risk implications for the Authority, and any financial instruments entered 

into to manage these risks. 

3. SYMCA acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide support towards 

the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is therefore committed to the 

principles of achieving value for money in treasury management, and to employing 

suitable comprehensive performance measurement techniques, within the context of 

effective risk management. 

 
 

Clauses to be formally adopted 

1. SYMCA will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective treasury management: 

• a Treasury Management Policy Statement (TMSS), stating the policies, objectives 

and approach to risk management of its treasury management activities 

• suitable Treasury Management Practices (TMPs), setting out the manner in which 

the Authority will seek to achieve those policies and objectives, and prescribing how 

it will manage and control those activities. 

The content of the policy statement and TMPs will follow the recommendations 

contained in Sections 6 and 7 of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code (the Code), 

subject only to amendment where necessary to reflect the particular circumstances of 

this Authority. Such amendments will not result in the Authority materially deviating from 

the Code’s key principles. 

2. SYMCA will receive reports on its treasury management policies, practices and 

activities, including, as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, a 

mid-year review and an annual report after its close, in the form prescribed in its TMPs. 

3. SYMCA delegates responsibility for the implementation and regular monitoring of its 

treasury management policies and practices to the Group Finance Director, and for the 

execution and administration of treasury management decisions to the Group Finance 

Director, who will act in accordance with the Authority’s policy statement and TMPs. 

4. This Authority nominates the Audit Standards and Risk Committee to be responsible 

for ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies. 

Page 93



 

 

TMP 1 RISK MANAGEMENT 

The responsible officer (in the case of SYMCA, the Group Finance Director) will design, 

implement and monitor all arrangements for the identification, management and control of 

treasury management risk, will report at least annually on the adequacy/suitability thereof, and 

will report, as a matter of urgency, the circumstances of any actual or likely difficulty in 

achieving the Authority’s objectives in this respect, all in accordance with the procedures set 

out in TMP6 (‘Reporting requirements and management information arrangements’). In 

respect of each of the following risks, the arrangements which seek to ensure compliance with 

these objectives are set out in the schedule to this document. 

1. Credit and Counterparty Risk Management 

Credit and counter-party risk is the risk of failure by a counterparty to meet its contractual 

obligations to the Authority under an investment, capital project or partnership financing, 

particularly as a result of the counterparty’s diminished creditworthiness, and the resulting 

detrimental effect on the Authority’s capital or current (revenue) resources. 

This Authority regards a key objective of its treasury management activities to be the security 

of the principal sums it invests. Accordingly, it will ensure that its counterparty lists and limits 

reflect a prudent attitude towards organisations with whom funds may be deposited, and will 

limit its investment activities to the instruments, methods and techniques referred to in TMP4 

(‘Approved Instruments Methods And Techniques’) and listed in the schedule to this 

document. It also recognises the need to have, and will therefore maintain, a formal 

counterparty policy in respect of those organisations from which it may borrow, or with whom                       

it may enter into other financing arrangements. 

1.1. Policy on the use of credit risk analysis techniques 

1.1.1. SYMCA will use credit criteria in order to select creditworthy counterparties for placing 

investments with. 

1.1.2. Credit ratings will be used as supplied from all three rating agencies - Fitch, Moodys 

and Standard & Poors 

1.1.3. Treasury Management Consultants will provide regular updates of changes to all 

ratings relevant to SYMCA. 

1.1.4. The responsible officer will formulate suitable criteria for assessing and monitoring 

the credit risk of investment counterparties and shall construct a lending list 

comprising maturity periods, type, group, sector, country and counterparty limits. This 

Authority will use the Link Group creditworthiness service based on using colours 

determined by minimum combinations of ratings to derive maturity limits as follows: - 

 

Colour Band Duration 

Yellow 5 years * 

Dark pink 5 years for Ultra Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.25 

Light pink 5 years for Ultra Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.5 

Purple  2 years 

Blue  1 year   (only applies to nationalised/semi nationalised UK Banks) 

Orange 1 year 

Red  6 months 

Green  100 days   

No colour  not to be used  

 

Page 94



 

 

In addition, a credit default swap overlay is used as a further safeguard to give early 

warning of potential creditworthiness problems which may only belatedly lead to 

actual changes in credit ratings. 

As this methodology is complex, readers are referred to the Suggested Credit List 

produced by Link Asset Services which lists counterparties by creditworthiness under 

the Link Group’s colour rating scheme. . 

 
1.1.5. Credit ratings for individual counterparties can change at any time. The Group 

Finance Director is responsible for applying approved credit rating criteria for 

selecting approved counterparties. Treasury management staff will add or delete 

counterparties to/from the approved counterparty list in line with the policy on criteria 

for selection of counterparties. 

1.1.6. This Authority will not rely solely on credit ratings in order to select and monitor the 

creditworthiness of counterparties. In addition to credit ratings it will therefore use other 

sources of information including: - 

• The quality financial press 

• Market data 

• Information on government support for banks and 

• The credit ratings of that government support 

1.1.7. Maximum maturity periods and amounts to be placed in different types of investment 

instrument are shown below. At present the maximum investment period for Specified 

Investments is 3 months. That limit reflects SYMCA’s funding arrangements. 

1.1.8. Diversification: this Authority will avoid concentrations of lending and borrowing  by 

adopting a policy of diversification. It will therefore use the following: - 

• Maximum amount to be placed with any one institution - limits considered 

annually having regard to creditworthiness rating and specified in the Investment 

Strategy . 

• Country limits – a minimum sovereign rating of AA- is required for an institution to 

be placed on our approved lending list. However, UK banks will be considered 

regardless of the UK’s sovereign rating at the time of investment. 

1.1.9. Investments will not be made with counterparties that do not have a credit rating in 

their own right. 

1.1.10. The definition of ‘high credit quality’ in order to determine what are specified 

investments as opposed to non-specified investments which do not have high credit 

ratings is set out at the end of TMP1 in schedule 1. SYMCA will not use non-specified 

investments. 

 

 
1.2 Liquidity Risk Management 

This is the risk that cash will not be available when it is needed, that ineffective 

management of liquidity creates additional unbudgeted costs, and that the Authority’s 

business/service objectives will be thereby compromised. 

This Authority will ensure it has adequate cash resources to enable it to discharge its 

affairs and mitigate insolvency risk. SYMCA will maintain a reserve strategy designed to 

enable the Authority  to react to financial shock. 

Page 95



 

 

 

 

1.2.1. Amounts of approved minimum cash balances and short-term investments 

SYMCA’s current accounts with its own bank are interest bearing. SYMCA will aim to hold 

not less than £1m at any time with its own bank in same day access accounts and will aim 

to hold not more than £10m to limit its exposure risk. SYMCA recognises that there will be 

occasions when both aspirations may not be able to be met due to unforeseen cash flow 

adjustments. In those circumstances SYMCA will redress the situation as soon as 

practicably possible. 

1.2.2. Details of: 

a. Standby facilities 

SYMCA’s investment strategy is designed to ensure it has ready access to 

sufficient cash balances to both manage its day-to-day business and manage 

financial shock. SYMCA will retain at least £1m in liquid cash with its own bank 

at any point. 

b. Bank overdraft arrangements 
SYMCA has pooled banking arrangements with Barclays, which involves access to an 
overdraft facility. 

c. Short-term borrowing facilities 
SYMCA has a net overdraft facility on its pooled banking arrangements of £50k. It also 
has access to the highly liquid inter local authority market, and has access to borrowing 
for periods of between 1 and 50 years from PWLB (Public Works Loan Board). 

d. Insurance/guarantee facilities 

Whilst retaining general insurance provisions, SYMCA does not specifically 

insure financial transactions nor enter into factoring arrangements. SYMCA’s 

operations are underpinned by an effective guarantee from its four constituent 

member authorities.  

 

1.3 Interest Rate Risk Management 

This represents the risk that fluctuations in the levels of interest rates create an 

unexpected or unbudgeted burden on the Authority’s finances, against which the 

Authority has failed to protect itself adequately. 

 
For SYMCA, this risk is relatively negligible as its loan portfolio entirely comprises fixed 

interest rate arrangements. Instead, interest rate fluctuations only impact upon the rate 

of interest generated on short-term deposits held to manage cash flow. 

 
To limit this exposure, SYMCA takes an extremely prudent view of deposit investment 

income when setting the budget for the forthcoming year. Accordingly, fluctuations in 

interest rates and cash balances does not have a material impact upon SYMCA’s ability 

to resource its expenditure plans. 
 

1.3.1 Policies concerning the use of instruments for interest rate management. 

a. forward dealing 

Consideration will be given to dealing from forward periods dependent upon 

market conditions. 

Page 96



 

 

b. callable deposits 

SYMCA may use callable deposits as part as of its Annual Investment Strategy (AIS). 

 
1.4 Exchange Rate Risk Management 

This represents the risk that fluctuations in foreign exchange rates create an unexpected 

or unbudgeted burden on the Authority’s finances, against which the Authority has failed 

to protect itself adequately. 

SYMCA does not have material expenditure denominated in foreign currencies and does 

not expect  to do so into the future. 

1.5 Refinancing Risk Management 

SYMCA routinely explores options for repayment of expensive legacy debt, however in 

the current low interest rate environment the early redemption costs are not considered 

to represent good value for money. SYMCA, hence the Authority is not exposed to risk 

around the refinancing of maturing debt. 

1.5.1. Debt/Other Capital Financing, Maturity Profiling, Policies and Practices 

SYMCA has adopted a minimum revenue provision policy, the aim of which is to ensure 

that the Authority generates sufficient cash o repay all legacy debt.  

1.5.2. Projected Capital Investment Requirements 

The Group Finance Director will prepare a three-year plan for capital expenditure for 

SYMCA. These expenditure plans will be presented to the MCA Board as part of the 

annual budget report. The Authority will seek to reduce borrowing by maximizing the use 

of capital grant wherever possible. 

The definition of capital expenditure used in the Code will follow recommended 

accounting practice as per the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. 

1.5.3 Policy Concerning Limits on Affordability and Revenue Consequences of Capital 

Financing 

The Authority will agree an annual borrowing limit with HM Treasury. When negotiating 

the limit, the Authority will have regard to the long-term affordability of its capital 

expenditure plans. 

 
1.6 Legal and Regulatory Risk Management 

This represents the risk that the Authority itself, or an organisation with which it is dealing 

in its treasury management activities, fails to act in accordance with its legal powers or 

regulatory requirements, and that the Authority suffers losses accordingly. 

This Authority will ensure that all of its treasury management activities comply with its 

statutory powers and regulatory requirements. It will demonstrate such compliance, if 

required to do so, to all parties with whom it deals in such activities. In framing its credit 

and counterparty policy under TMP1[1] credit and counterparty risk management, it will 

ensure that there is evidence of counterparties’ powers, authority and compliance in 

respect of the transactions they may affect with the Authority, particularly with regard to 

duty of care and fees charged. 

This Authority recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact on  its 

treasury management activities and, so far as it is reasonably possible to do so, will seek 

to minimise the risk of these impacting adversely on the Authority. 

Page 97



 

 

1.6.1. References to Relevant Statutes and Regulations 

The treasury management activities of SYMCA shall comply fully with legal statute, 

guidance, Codes of Practice and the regulations of SYMCA. These are: 
 

• Local Government Finance Act 1988 section 114 – duty on the responsible officer 
to issue a report if SYMCA is likely to get into a financially unviable position. 

• Requirement to set a balanced budget - Local Government Finance Act 1992 
section 32 for billing authorities and section 43 for major precepting authorities. 

• Local Government Act 2003 

• S.I. 2003 No.2938 Local Government Act 2003 (Commencement No.1 
and Transitional Provisions and Savings) Order 2003 13.11.03 

• S.I. 2003 No.3146 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003 and associated commentary 10.12.03 

• S.I. 2004 No.533 Local Authorities (Capital Finance) (Consequential, Transitional 
and Savings Provisions) Order 2004 8.3.04 

• S.I. 2004 No.534 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2004 8.3.04 

• S.I. 2004 no. 3055 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (Amendment) (England) (No. 2) Regulations 2004 

• S.I. 2006 no. 521 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2006 

• S.I. 2007 no. 573 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2007 

• Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 s238(2) – power 
to issue guidance; to be used re: MRP 

• S.I. 2008 no. 414 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2008 

• S.I. 2009 no. 321 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2009 

• S.I. 2009 no. 2272 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance And 
Accounting) (England) (Amendment) (No.2) Regulations 2009 

• S.I. 2009 no. 3093 The Local Government Pension Fund Scheme 
(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009 

• S.I. 2010 no. 454 (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) (England) 
Regulations 2010 

• Localism Act 2011 
• S.I. 2012 no. 265 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 

(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012 

• S.I. 2012 No. 711 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) (Amendment) (No. 2) Regulations 2012 

• S.I. 2012 No. 1324 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (England) (Amendment) (No.3) Regulations 2012 

• S.I. 2012 No. 2269 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (England) (Amendment) (No. 4) Regulations 2012 

• S.I. 2013 no. 476 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 

• S.I. 2015 no. 234 Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 
 

Guidance and codes of practice 
•  

• CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 2018 
• CIPFA Treasury Management Code 2017 
• CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Guidance Notes for Local 

Authorities 2018  

Page 98



 

 

• MHCLG Statutory Guidance on Local Authority Investments in England 2018 
• MHCLG Statutory Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision 2018 
• Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom: A 

Statement of recommended Practice 
• The Market in Financial Instruments Directive II 

• CIPFA Practitioners’ Guide to Capital Finance in Local Government 2018 

• CIPFA Local Authority Capital Accounting - a reference manual for practitioners 
2014 Edition 

• CIPFA Guide for Chief Financial Officers on Treasury Management in 
Local Authorities 1996 

• CIPFA Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management 2002 

• CIPFA Standard of Professional Practice on Continuous professional Development 
2005 

• CIPFA Standard of Professional Practice on Ethics 2006 
• The Good Governance Standard for Public Services 2004 

• LAAP Bulletins 
• PWLB circulars on Lending Policy 
• The Non-Investment Products Code (NIPS) - (formerly known as The London 

Code of Conduct) for principals and broking firms in the wholesale markets. 
• Financial Conduct Authority’s Code of Market Conduct 

• SYMCA’s Standing Orders relating to Contracts 

• SYMCA’s Financial Regulations 

• SYMCA’s Scheme of Delegated Functions 
 

1.6.2 Procedures for Evidencing SYMCA’s Powers/Authorities to Counterparties 

Under the terms of the Devolution Deal SYMCA can extend its borrowing powers to non-
transport activity, subject to legislation being laid before Parliament and agreement on an 
annual borrowing limit with HM Treasury. The Authority will use the legislation as evidence of 
its borrowing powers, along with its treasury management strategy approved by the MCA 
Board.  

SYMCA will make available on request the scheme of delegation of treasury  management 
activities contained in this document, which states: 

• which officers carry out specified duties 

• which officers are the authorised signatories 
 

Required Information on Counterparties 

Lending shall only be made to counterparties on the Approved Lending list. This list has 

been compiled using advice from SYMCA’s treasury advisers (Link Asset Services) 

based upon credit ratings supplied by Fitch, Moodys and Standard & Poors. 

1.6.3 Statement on SYMCA’s Political Risks and Management of Same 

The Group Finance Director shall take appropriate action with SYMCA, the Chief 

Executive Officer  and the Chair of SYMCA to respond to and manage appropriately 

political risks. 

1.6.4 Monitoring Officer 

It is the duty of the monitoring officer to ensure that the treasury management activities 

of SYMCA are lawful. 

1.6.5. Chief Financial Officer 

The Chief Financial Officer is the Group Finance Director, also referred to as the Section 

73 Officer. The duty of this officer is to ensure that the financial affairs of SYMCA are 

conducted in a prudent manner and to make a report  to SYMCA if he/she has concerns 

Page 99



 

 

as to the financial prudence of its actions or its expected financial position. 

 

1.7 Fraud, Error and Corruption, and Contingency Management 

This represents the risk that SYMCA fails to identify the circumstances in which it may 

be exposed to the risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its 

treasury management dealings, and fails to employ suitable systems and procedures 

and maintain effective contingency management arrangements to these ends. It 

includes the area of risk commonly referred to as operational risk. 

SYMCA will ensure that it has identified the circumstances which may expose it to the 

risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its treasury 

management dealings. Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems and procedures, and 

will maintain  effective contingency management arrangements, to these ends. 

SYMCA will therefore:- 

a) Seek to ensure an adequate division of responsibilities and maintenance at all 
times of an adequate level of internal checks which minimises such risks. 

b) Fully document all its treasury management activities so that there can be no 
possible confusion as to what proper procedures are. 

c) Staff will not be allowed to take up treasury management activities until they have 
had proper training in procedures and are then subject to an adequate and 
appropriate level of supervision. 

d) Records will be maintained of all treasury management transactions so that there 
is a full audit trail and evidence of the appropriate checks being carried out. 

 
 

1.7.1. Details of Systems and Procedures to be Followed, Including Internet Services 

Authority 

• The Scheme of Delegation to Officers sets out the delegation of duties to officers. 
• All investments are negotiated by the responsible officer or authorised persons. 

 

Procedures 

• The Barclays.net electronic banking procedures includes internet access to 
SYMCA’s  bank account for both account information and payment transactions. 

• Access to the Barclays.net system, and all approvals thereon, are secured through 
biometric scanners unique to the fingerprint of each individual. 

• Authorisation of payments, the creation and amendment of bank templates, and 
administrative changes all require two approvers to consent. 

• Individual payment transactions require three individuals: one transaction 
originator, one transaction processor and one  approver. 

• Payment files are generated from the Epicor system, downloaded into a secure file, 
sent via secure email to Sheffield City Council and then uploaded into the 
Barclays.net system.1 

• Checks are then made against templates to ensure data has not been compromised 
in transmission. 

• Manual bank payments not generated from the Accounts Payable module will be 
supported by a package of information and electronic signatures from appropriate 
approvers to mimic the Accounts Payable approval process. 

 
1 The step in the procedure which refers to SCC Treasury only applies to SYMCA currently; with effect from 1 April 
2022 the entire procedure will be managed in-house by Control team, in the same way as SYPTE currently.  

Page 100



 

 

 

 
Investment transactions 
• All investment placements must be pre-approved by two authorised approvers, with 

transaction templates being completed by a third officer. 
• Investment redemptions must be approved by one approver, with transaction 

templates being completed by a second officer. 
• Investment redemptions must only be made into the same account that funds were 

transmitted from unless prior approval has been secured from two of SYMCA's 
authorised signatories. 

• The Financial Controller will retain access to documentation of all investment 
decisions held by SCC Treasury, whilst bank transactions will also be retained to 
show approvals of cash transactions through the Barclays.net system. 

 

 
Regularity and security 

• Investments are only made to institutions on the Approved List of 
Counterparties. 

• Funds available for investment will be swept into a specific 
Barclays account held by the SYMCA (sweep account). SCC 
Treasury team will have access to this account in order to make 
investments on behalf of the Authority, under the terms of its 
service legal agreement. 

• All investments will be returned to SYMCA’s sweep account.  

• Counterparty limits are set for every institution that SYMCA invests with. 

• Brokers, agents, and direct bank contacts have a list of named officials 
authorised to agree deals. 

• There is a separation of duties between dealers and the checking and 
authorisation of all deals. All deals require pre-approval by two approvers with 
an independent third check on details. 

• SYMCA’s bank holds a list of officials who are authorised signatories for 
treasury management transactions. 

• The Barclays.net system can only be accessed via a biometric scanner 
recognising the unique fingerprint of an authorised user. 

• All transactions that involve cash leaving the bank account require two 
approvers and one transactor who is not an approver. 

• All administrative changes within the Barclays.net system require two 
approvers. 

• All inter-account transfers require one approver. 

• There is adequate insurance cover for employees involved in loans 
management and accounting. 

 

Checks 

• The bank reconciliation is carried out monthly from the bank statement to 
the  financial ledger and presented to the Financial Controller for review. 

• An analysis of the investment portfolio is prepared to support each investment 
decision. 

• An investment income listing is produced monthly by SCC Treasury 
and reviewed on a quarterly basis against the budget for interest 
earnings and debt costs. 

 

Calculations 
• The Financial Controller will maintain analysis to ensure investment income paid to 

SYMCA    is correct. 

Page 101



 

 

 
1.7.2. Emergency and Contingency Planning Arrangements 

Disaster Recovery Plan. 
 

SYMCA’s main Business Continuity Plan includes a detailed section covering the 
essential financial systems and procedures, including banking, payments and revenue 
collection. All members of the Finance team are familiar with this plan and new members 
will be briefed on it. The plan is reviewed and updated at regular intervals with both paper 
and electronic copies being available. 

 
SYMCA’s plan is based upon remote working and access to Cloud and web-based systems. 

All computer files are backed up in the Cloud to enable files to be accessed from remote 
sites. 

 

1.7.3. Insurance Cover Details 

A full suite of insurance policies is maintained by SYMCA insurance brokers including: 

• Premises 

• Business Interruption Employers liability 

• Legal expenses 

• Terrorism 

• Directors’ and officers’ liability 

• Employment practices liability 

• Corporate legal liability 

• Business travel 
• Cyber security and 
• Professional Indemnity Insurance 

 
1.8 Market Risk Management 

 

This represents the risk that, through adverse market fluctuations in the value of the 

principal sums an Authority borrows and invests, its stated treasury management 

policies and objectives are compromised, against which effects it has failed to protect 

itself adequately. 

SYMCA will seek to ensure that its stated treasury management policies and objectives 

will  not be compromised by adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums 

it  invests, and will accordingly seek to protect itself from the effects of such fluctuations. 
 

1.8.1. Details of Approved Procedures and Limits for Controlling Exposure to 
Investments Whose Capital Value May Fluctuate (Gilts, CDs, Etc.) 

SYMCA will not invest in instruments which are susceptible to capital fluctuations. 

SYMCA will limit its investments to term deposits and constant and low volatility net 

asset money market funds. 

Page 102



 

 

TMP 2 PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT 

 
2.1 Evaluation and Review of Treasury Management Decisions 

SYMCA has a number of approaches to evaluating treasury management decisions, including: 

a. Weekly review reports from our treasury management consultants detailing 
current markets, forecasts and model portfolio returns. 

b. Monthly reviews carried out by the Group Finance Director and Financial Controller. 

c. Annual review of performance and strategy with our treasury management 
consultants. 

d. Comparative reviews. 

 
2.1.2 Reviews with our treasury management consultants 

The Financial Controller meets with Link Asset Services every 6 months to review the 

performance of the investment portfolios and discuss emerging market issues. 

2.1.3 Annual Review after the end of the financial year 

In addition to the mid-year Treasury Management report to the MCA Board, the end of 

March out-turn report includes an annual treasury management report which reviews the 

performance of the investment portfolio. This report contains the following: 

a. total investments at the beginning and close of the financial year and average 
investment rates 

b. investment strategy for the year compared to actual strategy 
c. explanations for variance between original strategies and actual 
d. actual investment rates available through the year 
e. comparison of return on investments to the investment benchmark 
f. compliance with Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

 
2.1.4 Comparative reviews 

When data becomes available, comparative reviews are undertaken to see how the 
performance of the Authority on investments compares to other comparable authorities. Data 
can be sourced from CIPFA Treasury Management statistics published each year for the last 
complete financial year and Link Asset Services’ model portfolio. 

 
Any comparative review will note the particular funding arrangements which define 
SYMCA’s  approach to cash flow management and its resulting investment strategy.

Page 103



 

 

2.2 Benchmarks and Calculation Methodology: 

 

 
2.2.1 Investment 

The performance of investment earnings will be measured against the suggested 

target investments returns on short term deposits of c. 3 months duration provided 

by the Authority’s treasury advisors from time to time in their Updated Interest 

Rate Forecasts.  

 
2.3 Policy concerning methods for testing Value for Money in Treasury Management 

 

2.3.1 Frequency and processes for tendering 

SYMCA’s bank was appointed on a three-year contract, and its Treasury Advisors on a 

one- year contract with options for extension. The length of future appointments will be 

considered at the point of retender exercises. 

2.3.2 Banking services 

SYMCA’s banking arrangements were procured by Sheffield City Council via a 

competitive tender. SYMCA’s bank (Barclays) was appointed in September 2018 for a 

three-year period which has now been extended for a further year. SYPTE’s banking 

arrangements were procured by officers of SYPTE via a competitive tender. SYPTE’s 

bank (Barclays) was appointed in June 2021 for a 3-year period. The plan is to move 

SYMCA bank accounts onto the same banking contract as SYPTE for the start of the 

2022/23 financial year in readiness for the integration of the two organisations. 

2.3.3 Money-broking services 

SYMCA may use money broking services in order to make deposits and will establish 

charges for all services prior to using them. SYMCA will also make use of money-market 

fund portals, and will review options prior to contracting. 

2.3.4 Consultants’/advisers’ services 

SYMCA retains professional external advice from Link Asset Services. 
 

2.3.5 Policy on External Managers (Other than relating to Superannuation Funds) 

SYMCA’s policy is not to appoint external investment fund managers. 

Page 104



 

 

TMP 3 DECISION-MAKING AND ANALYSIS 

3.1 Investment and New Instruments/Techniques: 

 

3.1.1 Records to be kept 

The following records will be retained: 
• Internal investment decision templates. 
• Investment confirmation documentation received from direct investments. 
• Broker confirmation slips as necessary. 
• Bank approval documentation. 

 
3.1.2 Processes to be pursued 

• Cash flow analysis. 
• Investment maturity analysis. 
• Ledger reconciliation. 
• Investment returns review 

 
 

3.1.3 Issues to be addressed 
 

3.1.3.1. In respect of every treasury management decision made SYMCA will: 

a) Above all, be clear about the nature and extent of the risks to which SYMCA 
may  become exposed 

b) Be certain about the legality of the decision reached and the nature of the 
transaction, and that all authorities to proceed have been obtained 

c) Ensure that the appropriate internal approvals have been secured 

d) Be content that the documentation is adequate both to deliver SYMCA’s 
objectives and protect SYMCA’s interests, and to deliver good housekeeping 

e) Ensure that third parties are judged satisfactory in the context of 
SYMCA’s  creditworthiness policies, and that limits have not been 
exceeded 

f) Be content that the terms of any transactions have been fully checked against 
the market and have been found to be competitive. 

Page 105



 

 

TMP 4 APPROVED INSTRUMENTS, METHODS AND TECHNIQUES 

4.1 Approved Treasury Management Activities 

• Investment management 

• Cash management, including the management of cash flows 

• Bank account management and administration 

• Borrowing 

 
4.2 Approved Instruments for Investments 

Refer to the Treasury Management Strategy. 
 

4.3 Approved Techniques 

• Forward dealing 
• The use of structured products such as callable deposits 

 
4.4 Investment Limits 

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement sets out the limits and the guidelines for 

use of each type of investment instrument. 

 

4.5 Borrowing Strategy 

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement sets out the Authority’s borrowing 

strategy which, in summary, is to meet any borrowing need for the year internally from 

treasury investments rather than taking out external borrowing.

Page 106



 

 

TMP 5 Authority, Clarity and Segregation of Responsibilities, and 

Dealing Arrangements 

 
5.1 Allocation of responsibilities 

 

(i) SYMCA Board 

• receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices and 
activities 

• approval of annual treasury management strategy 

• approval of capital strategy and capital programme 

• approval of annual revenue budget 

(ii) Audit & Standards Committee 

 
• recommendation of amendments to the Authority’s adopted clauses, treasury 

management policy statement and treasury management practices 

• approval of the division of responsibilities 

• reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making 
recommendations to the responsible body. 

 
 

5.2 Principles and Practices Concerning Segregation of Duties 

5.2.1 SYMCA ensures a division of duties in the following manner: 
 

Investment placement – internal parameters 
Deals must be pre-approved by two authorised approvers, with documentation reviewed in 
advance by a third officer. 

 
Investment placement – money market funds 
The ICD money market portal is configured to allow for a pool of traders and a pool of 
approvers. All transactions require one individual from the pool to enter transactions, and one 
individual from the pool to approve the transaction. 

 
Accounts Payable – payment proposals 
Every payment proposal must be proposed by one officer and then approved by a second. One 
of the Financial Controller, Finance Manager, or Assistant Accountant must then upload the 
payment file to Barclays.net. 

 
Bank transactions 
All transactions must be approved by two authorised approvers, with the bank transaction 
being entered by a third officer. An approver cannot also be a transactor. 

 

Investment redemption 
All redemptions must be pre-approved by one authorised approver, with documentation 
reviewed in advance by a second officer. 

 
Ledger input 
All banking journals require approval from an officer different to he/she who entered the 
journal. 

 
 

Page 107



 

 

Bank reconciliations 
Bank reconciliations must be approved by the Group Finance Director (or Financial 
Controller in  his/her absence) and be prepared by a second officer. 

 

Bank administration 
Bank administration changes can only be proposed by the Group Finance Director or the 
Financial  Controller, and require both officers to approve the transaction. 

 
Authorised officers for account opening 
The Group Finance Director, the Monitoring Officer, and the Chief Executive are authorised 
officers for the purposes of account opening. Changes to account conditions requires 
approval from those officers signatory to the account opening. 

 
5.3 Treasury Management Authority Chart 

 
Approver Group: 
Group FD, Assistant Director, Financial Controller, Senior Finance Business Partner, SCC Treasury 
 
Transaction Group: 
Financial Services Manager, Senior Revenues Officer, Accounts Payable Officer 

 

 
5.4.1. The responsible officer 

The responsible officer is the person charged with professional responsibility for the 

treasury management function and in SYMCA is the Group Finance Director (This 

post is also  the S73 officer.) This officer will carry out the following duties: - 

a) recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance 

b) submitting cyclical treasury management policy reports 
c) submitting budgets and budget variations 
d) receiving and reviewing management information reports 

e) reviewing the performance of the treasury management function 

f) ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and 

the effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management 

function 
g) ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit 
h) recommending the appointment of external service providers. 

i) The responsible officer has powers to make the most appropriate form of 
investments in approved instruments. 

j) The responsible officer may delegate his power to invest to members of his 
staff, principally the Assistant Director of Finance, to act as temporary cover for 
leave/sickness. 

k) The responsible officer will ensure that Treasury Management Policy is 
adhered to, and if not will bring the matter to the attention of elected members 
as soon as possible. 

l) It is also the responsibility of the responsible officer to ensure that SYMCA 
complies  with the requirements of The Non Investment Products Code 

Page 108



 

 

(formerly known as The London Code of Conduct) for principals and broking 
firms in the wholesale markets. 

 

5.4.2. Financial Controller 

The responsibilities of this post will be: - 

 
a) adherence to agreed policies and practices on a day-to-day basis 
b) maintaining relationships with counterparties and external service providers 
c) supervising staff 
d) monitoring performance on a day-to-day basis 
e) submitting management information reports to the responsible officer 
f) identifying and recommending opportunities for improved practices 

 

5.4.3. The Head of the Paid Service – the Chief Executive 

The responsibilities of this post will be: - 

a) Ensuring that the system is specified and implemented 
b) Ensuring that the responsible officer reports as required to SYMCA Board 

and                          Audit Standards and Risk Committee on treasury policy, activity and 
performance. 

 

5.4.4. The Monitoring Officer 

The responsibilities of this post will be: - 

a) Ensuring compliance by the responsible officer with the treasury management 
policy statement and treasury management practices and that they comply 
with the law. 

b) Being satisfied that any proposal to vary treasury policy or practice complies 
with law or any code of practice. 

c) Giving advice to the responsible officer when advice is sought. 
 

5.4.5. Internal Audit 

The responsibilities of Internal Audit will be: - 

a) Reviewing compliance with approved policy and treasury management 
practices. 

b) Reviewing division of duties and operational practice. 
c) Assessing value for money from treasury activities. 

d) Undertaking probity audit of treasury function. 
 

5.5 Absence Cover Arrangements 

The Assistant Director is also the deputy S73 Officer. The Assistant Director will also 

ensure that cover is available for the Financial Controller role and other officers as  

necessary. 

 

5.6 Dealing Limits 

The following posts are authorised to approve transactions. At all times at least two pre- 
approvals must be granted to enter into transactions: 

 
• The Group Finance Director 

• The Assistant Director 

• The Financial Controller 

• The Senior Finance Business Partner 

• SCC Treasury Team 

Page 109



 

 

5.7 Policy on Brokers’ Services 

It is SYMCA’s policy to rotate business between brokers. 
 

5.8 Policy on Taping of Conversations 

It is not SYMCA’s policy to tape brokers conversations. 
 

5.9 Direct Dealing Practices 

SYMCA will deal directly with counterparties if it is appropriate and SYMCA believes 

that better terms will be available. Direct dealing includes transactions with money 

market funds and banks through fixed-term deposit accounts. 

 
5.10 Settlement Transmission Procedures 

All investments will be settled through Barclays.net using the segregation of duties 

detailed. 

5.11 Documentation Requirements 

For each deal undertaken a record should be prepared giving details of dealer, 

amount, period, counterparty, interest rate, dealing date, payment date(s), broker. 

5.12 Arrangements Concerning the Management of Third-Party Funds. 

SYMCA does not currently manage any third-party funds. 
 

5.13 Authorised Signatories 

The SYMCA Finance Director (S.73 officer) and Assistant Director (Deputy S.73 

officer), are authorized  signatories along with senior SCC Finance officers who remain 

on the bank mandate for the time being to enable SCC to provide treasury services 

under the SLA. 

Page 110



 

 

TMP 6 Reporting Requirements and Management 

Information Arrangements 

6.1 Annual programme of reporting 
 

a) Annual reporting requirements before the start of the year: - 
a. review of the Authority’s approved clauses, treasury management policy 

statement and practices 
b. strategy report on proposed treasury management activities for the year 

comprising of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and the 

Annual Investment Strategy 

b) Mid-year Treasury Management Strategy report 
c) Annual review report after the end of the year within the out-turn Financial Monitoring 

Report. 

 

6.2 Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) 

1. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement sets out the specific expected treasury 
activities for the forthcoming financial year. This strategy will be submitted to the 
SYMCA Board for approval before the commencement of each financial year. 

 
2. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement seeks to ensure that: 

 
a) The MCA’s overarching Borrowing strategy is appropriate in the context of the current 

economic climate  
b) The MCA Group’s capital plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable (as measured 

via a series of prudential indicators); 
c) Prudent charges are made to revenue for the repayment of debt by adopting a minimum 

Revenue provision (MRP) policy that is compliant with statutory MRP guidance 
d) investments and borrowings are organised in accordance with the MCA’s risk appetite 

(as measured via a series of treasury indicators); and  
e) The MCA Group’s investment strategy pays due regard to security (the 

management of risk and the protection of the principal sums invested) and 
liquidity (availability of cash to meet liabilities as they fall due) as first 
priorities and then what level of return (yield) can be obtained based on risk 
appetite and the contribution each investment activity makes. 

 

3. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement will establish the expected move in 
interest rates against alternatives (using all available information such as published 
interest rate forecasts where applicable) and highlight sensitivities to different 
scenarios. 

 
 

6.3 The Annual Investment Strategy 

Included within the Treasury Management Strategy Statement is the report on the 
Annual Investment Strategy which sets out the following: - 

a) SYMCA’s risk appetite in respect of security, liquidity and optimum performance 

b) The definition of high credit quality to determine what are specified investments 
as distinct from non-specified investments 

c) Which specified and non-specified instruments SYMCA will use – if at all 

d) Whether they will be used by the in-house team, external managers or both (if 
applicable) 

Page 111



 

 

e) SYMCA’s policy on the use of credit ratings and other credit risk analysis 
techniques to determine creditworthy counterparties for its approved lending list 

f) Which credit rating agencies SYMCA will use 

g) How SYMCA will deal with changes in ratings, rating watches and rating outlooks 

h) Limits for individual counterparties and group limits 

i) Country limits 

j) Levels of cash balances 

k) Interest rate outlook 

l) Budget for investment earnings 

m) Policy on the use of external service providers 
 

6.4 Policy on Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

1. SYMCA approves before the beginning of each financial year a number of treasury 
limits which are set through Prudential and Treasury Indicators. 

2. The responsible officer is responsible for incorporating these limits into the Annual 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement, and for ensuring compliance with the 
limits. Should it prove necessary to amend these limits, the responsible officer shall 
submit the changes for approval to the SYMCA Board 

 

6.5 Mid-year review 

SYMCA will review its treasury management activities and strategy on at least a six-
monthly basis. This review will consider the following: 

a) activities undertaken 

b) variations (if any) from agreed policies/practices 

c) interim performance report 

d) regular monitoring 

e) monitoring of treasury management indicators for local authorities. 
 

6.7 Year-end performance report 

A year-end performance report will go to SYMCA Board as part of the year-end outturn 
report. This report will contain the following information: - 

 
a) any non-compliance with Prudential limits or other treasury management limits 
b) the position on cash and cash equivalents 

 
6.8 Publication of Treasury Management Reports 

 

The Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement, the Mid-Year Treasury 
Management Strategy Update, and the Annual Treasury Management Report is 
reviewed at the SYMCA Board. Meeting documents are available on SYMCA’s 
website at https://southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk/governance 

Page 112



 

 

TMP 7 BUDGETING, ACCOUNTING AND AUDIT ARRANGEMENTS 

 

7.1 Statutory/Regulatory Requirements 

The accounts are drawn up in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in Great Britain that is recognised by statute as representing proper 
accounting practices. SYMCA has also adopted in full the principles set out in CIPFA’s 
‘Treasury Management in the Public Services - Code of Practice’ (the ‘CIPFA Code’), 
together with those of its specific recommendations that are relevant to SYMCA’s treasury 
management activities. 

7.2 Sample Budgets / Accounts / Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

The Group Finance Director will prepare at least a three-year medium-term financial plan 
with Prudential and Treasury Indicators for treasury management which will incorporate 
the budget for the forthcoming year and provisional estimates for the following two years. 
This will bring together all the costs involved in running the function, together with 
associated income. The Group Finance Director will exercise effective controls over this 
budget and  monitoring of performance against Prudential and Treasury Indicators and will 
report upon                              and recommend any changes required in accordance with TMP6. 

7.3 List of Information Requirements of External Auditors. 
• Calculation of interest on working balances 
• Interest accrual calculation 
• Annual Treasury Report 
• Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

• Review of observance of limits set by Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
• External fund manager(s) valuations including investment income schedules and 

movement in capital values (if applicable) 

7.4 Monthly Budget Monitoring Report 

Monthly Budget Monitoring reports are produced for the Finance Director and are the basis 
of the financial information provided to Board members and other stakeholders via the 
Monthly Operating Report. 

Page 113



 

 

TMP 8 Cash and Cash Flow Management 

8.1 Arrangements for Preparing/Submitting Cash Flow Statements 

Cash flow projections are prepared annually and also prepared to support investment 
decisions. The annual cash flow projections are prepared according to known changes 
in levels of income and expenditure and also changes in payments and receipts dates. 
These details are supplemented on an ongoing basis by information received of new or 
revised amounts to be paid or received as and when they are known. 

8.2 Bank Statements Procedures 

SYMCA reviews its bank accounts on a daily basis, and performs a monthly bank 
reconciliation exercise. These are prepared by the Finance Officer and reviewed by the 
Financial Controller. 

8.3 Payment Scheduling and Agreed Terms of Trade with Creditors 

SYMCA’s policy is to pay all creditors within the agreed terms of trading. Standard terms within 
the MCA’s purchase orders are 30 days. 

8.4 Arrangements for Monitoring Debtors / Creditors Levels 

The Financial Controller is responsible for monitoring the levels of debtors and creditors. 

8.5 Procedures for Banking of Funds 

SYMCA accepts cash payments via secure on-site retail ticket machines. 
Collection, carrying, and counting of cash is performed by an outsourced cash 
processing contractor. Limited volumes of low value cheques are received and 
banked by a postal service offered by our bankers. 

8.6 Practices Concerning Prepayments to Obtain Benefits 

SYMCA does not prepay liabilities unless there is a sound business reason that is 
aligned  to SYMCA’s risk appetite. Prepayments of liabilities would be authorised by 
the Financial Controller and where necessary the Group Finance Director. 

Page 114



 

 

TMP 9 Money Laundering 

 

9.1 Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 
 

Money laundering has the objective of concealing the origin of money generated 
through criminal activity. Legislation has given a higher profile to the need to report 
suspicions of money laundering. The Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) 2002 
established the main offences relating to money laundering. In summary, these are: 

• concealing, disguising, converting, transferring or removing criminal property 
from England and Wales, from Scotland or from Northern Ireland 

• being concerned in an arrangement which a person knows or suspects facilitates 
the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property 

• acquiring, using or possessing criminal property. 

These apply to all persons in the UK in a personal and professional capacity. Any 
person involved in any known or suspected money-laundering activity in the UK risks a 
criminal conviction. Other offences under the POCA include: 

• failure to disclose money-laundering offences 

• tipping off a suspect, either directly or indirectly 

• doing something that might prejudice an investigation – for example, falsifying a 
document. 

9.2 The Terrorism Act 2000 

This act made it an offence of money laundering to become concerned in an 
arrangement relating to the retention or control of property likely to be used for the 
purposes of terrorism, or resulting from acts of terrorism. All individuals and businesses 
in the UK have an obligation to report knowledge, reasonable grounds for belief or 
suspicion about the proceeds from, or finance likely to be used for, terrorism or its 
laundering, where it relates to information that comes to them in the course of their 
business or employment. 

9.3 The Money Laundering Regulations 2007, 2012 and 2015 
 

Organisations pursuing relevant business (especially those in the financial services 
industry regulated by the FSA) are required to appoint a nominated officer and 
implement internal reporting procedures; train relevant staff in the subject; establish 
internal procedures with respect to money laundering; obtain, verify and maintain 
evidence and records of the identity of new clients and transactions undertaken and 
report their suspicions. In December 2007 the UK Government published the Money 
Laundering Regulations 2007, which replaced the Money Laundering Regulations 2003. 

9.4 Local authorities 
 

Public service organisations and their staff are subject to the full provisions of the 
Terrorism Act 2000 and subsequent Terrorism Acts and may commit most of the 
principal offences under the POCA, but are not legally obliged to apply the provisions of 
the Money Laundering Regulations 2007, 2012 and 2015. However, as responsible 
public bodies, they should employ policies and procedures which reflect the essence of 
the UK’s anti-terrorist financing, and anti-money laundering, regimes. Accordingly 
SYMCA will do the following: - 

Page 115



 

 

a) evaluate the prospect of laundered monies being handled by them 

b) determine the appropriate safeguards to be put in place 

c) require every person engaged in treasury management to make themselves aware 
of their personal and legal responsibilities for money laundering awareness 

d) make all its staff aware of their responsibilities under POCA 

e) appoint a member of staff to whom they can report any suspicions. This person is 
the Assistant Director 

f) in order to ensure compliance is appropriately managed, SYMCA will require senior 
management to give appropriate oversight, analysis and assessment of the risks of 
clients and work/product types, systems for monitoring compliance with procedures 
and methods of communicating procedures and other information to personnel. 

g) The officer responsible for the creation and monitoring the implementation of a 
corporate anti money laundering policy and procedures is the Assistant Director and 
it shall be a requirement that all teams implement this corporate policy                         and 
procedures. 

9.6 Methodologies for Identifying Deposit Takers 

In the course of its treasury activities, SYMCA will only lend money to or invest with those 

counterparties that are on its approved lending list. These will be local authorities, the 

DMADF, and authorised deposit takers under the Financial Services and Markets Act 

2000. The FSA register can be accessed through their website on 

www.fca.gov.uk. 
 

All transactions will be carried out through the Barclays.net system. 

Page 116

http://www.fca.gov.uk/


 

 

TMP 10 Training and Qualifications 

 

SYMCA recognises that relevant individuals will need appropriate levels of training in 

treasury  management due to its increasing complexity. There are two categories of 

relevant individuals: - 

a) Finance officers employed by SYMCA 

b) Members charged with governance of the treasury management function 

All treasury management staff should receive appropriate training relevant to the 

requirements of their duties at the appropriate time. SYMCA operates a Personal 

Development Review system which identifies the training requirements of individual 

members of staff engaged on treasury related activities. 

Additionally, training may also be provided on the job and it will be the responsibility of the 

Group Finance Director to ensure that all staff under his / her authority receive the level of 

training  appropriate to their duties. This will also apply to those staff who from time to time 

cover for  absences from the treasury management team. 

10.1 Details of Approved Training Courses 

Treasury management staff and members will go on courses provided by our treasury 

management consultants, CIPFA, or other relevant bodies. 

10.2 Records of Training Received by Treasury Staff 

The HR team will maintain records on all staff and the training they receive. 
 

10.3 Record of Secondment of Senior Management 

Records will be kept of senior management who are seconded into the treasury 

management section in order to gain first-hand experience of treasury management 

operations. 

10.4 Statement of Professional Practice (SOPP) 

1. Where the Group Finance Director or Assistant Director is/are a member of 
CIPFA/ICAEW, there is a professional need for both parties to be seen to be committed 
to professional responsibilities through both personal compliance and by ensuring that 
relevant staff are appropriately trained. 

2. All staff involved in treasury management activities must also comply with the SOPP. 

10.6 Member training records 

Records will be kept of all training in treasury management provided to members. 
 

10.7 Members charged with governance 

Members charged with diligence also have a personal responsibility to ensure that 

they have the appropriate skills and training for their role. 

Page 117



 

 

TMP 11 Use of External Service Providers 

 

11.1 Details of Contracts with Service Providers, Including Bankers, Brokers, 
Consultants, Advisers 

SYMCA will employ the services of other organisations to assist it in the field of 

treasury management. In particular, it will use external consultants to provide 

specialist advice in this ever more complex area. However, it will ensure that it fully 

understands what services are being provided and that they meet the needs of this 

Authority, especially in terms of being objective and free from conflicts of interest. 

It will also ensure that the skills of the in-house Finance team are maintained to a 

high enough level whereby they can provide appropriate challenge to external advice 

and can avoid undue reliance on such advice. 
 

Finance officers will therefore be required to allocate appropriate levels of time to 

using the following sources of information so that they are able to develop suitable 

levels of understanding to carry out their duties, especially in challenge and avoiding 

undue reliance. 
 

• The quality financial press 

• Market data 

• Information on government support for banks 

• The credit ratings of that government support 
 

11.1.1 Banking Services 

a) SYMCA’s banking provider is Barclays Bank. 
 

b) Barclays Bank is authorised to undertake banking activities by the FSA. 
 

c) SYMCA’s banking branch address is:  
Barclays 
Leicester 
LE87 2BBB 

 
d) SYMCA’s banking contract commenced in 2018 for a three-year term extended for a 

further year 
 

e) The cost of banking services is variable depending on a schedule of tariffs set 
annually applied to volumes of transactions. 

 
f) Banking charge payments are due monthly and quarterly. 

Page 118



 

 

 
 

 

11.1.2 Money-Broking Services 

SYMCA does not use the services of money- brokers. 

11.1.3 Consultants’/Advisers’ Services 
 

Treasury Consultancy Services 

SYMCA will seek to take expert advice on interest rate forecasts, annual treasury 

management strategy, timing for borrowing and lending, debt rescheduling, use 

of various borrowing and investment instruments, how to select credit worthy 

counterparties to put on its approved lending list etc. 

The performance of consultants will be reviewed annually by the Group Finance 

Director to check whether performance has met expectations. 
 

a) Name of supplier of service is Link Treasury Solutions. Their address is 65 
Gresham Street, London, EC2V 7NQ 
 

b) Regulatory status: investment adviser authorised by the FCA 

 

c) Contract cost is £2,675 per annum 

 

 
11.1.4 Procedures and Frequency for Tendering Services 

 

As per SYMCA’s contract procedure rules. 

Page 119



 

 

TMP 12 Corporate Governance 

 

12.1.1 List of documents to be made available for public inspection 

a. SYMCA is committed to the principle of openness and transparency in its 
treasury management function and in all of its functions. 

b. It has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury management and 
implemented key recommendations on developing Treasury Management 
Practices, formulating a Treasury Management Policy Statement and 
implementing the other principles of the Code. 

c. The following documents are available for public inspection: - 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
- Treasury Manage Practices 

Annual Statement of Accounts 

Annual Revenue Budget and MTFS 

Capital Strategy 

Minutes of Board / committee meetings 

Third party expenditure via quarterly corporate spend analysis published on 

the website to comply with the coalition government’s transparency agenda. 

Page 120



 

 

 
 

TMP 13 Treasury management practices for non-treasury 

investments 

The proposed changes to the Prudential Code and Treasury management Code of Practice which are 
due to come into effect from 2022/23 define 3 categories of investment; 

• Treasury Management investments that arise from cash flows or treasury risk management 
activity, and ultimately represent balances which need to be invested until the cash is required for 
use in the course of business 

• Service investments held primarily and directly for the delivery of public services (including 
housing, regeneration and local infrastructure) or in support of joint working with others to deliver 
such services. 

• Commercial investments held primarily for financial return and not linked to treasury management 
activity or the delivery of services. 

SYMCA does not hold or plan to invest in commercial investments. 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
 

27 January 2022 
 

Governance Improvement Plan 2021/22 – Progress Update 
 

Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Purpose of this report: 
 

Monitoring/Assurance 
 

Is this a Key Decision?                                   No 
 
Has it been included on the                    Not a Key Decision 
Forward Plan? 
 

 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Ruth Adams, Deputy Chief Executive 
 
Report Author(s): 
Claire James 
Claire.james@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk  
 

Ruth Adams 
Ruth.adams@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk  
 

 
Executive Summary 
This paper updates the Committee on progress against the 2021/22 Governance Improvement 
Plan. 
 

What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
Continually improving governance enables the Combined Authority to pursue its ambitions and 
objectives in the most effective and efficient way, bringing about better outcomes for people 
and businesses in South Yorkshire. 
 

Recommendations   
The Committee is asked to consider progress against the plan to consider whether the 
monitoring updates provides the assurance required of progress against the 21/22 plan. 
 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
Audit and Standards Committee 28 October 2021 

 
 

Page 123

Agenda Item 13

mailto:Claire.james@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk
mailto:Ruth.adams@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk


1.  Background  
  
1.1 CIPFA guidance on the preparation of an Annual Governance Statement 

prescribes that the statement should include an ‘agreed action plan showing 
actions taken, or proposed, to deal with significant governance issues’ 
(Governance Improvement Plan). This paper provides an update on the progress of 
the Governance Improvement Plan for 2021/22 which forms part of the Annual 
Governance Statement for the previous financial year. The Governance 
Improvement Plan can be found at appendix A. 

  
2. Key Issues 
  
2.1 The Governance Improvement Plan, highlights issues by assigning status, 

highlighting actions that are: 

• Completed 

• On-track 

• Slipped 
  

2.2 Since developing the plan a number of actions have been identified as having a 
development and an implementation phase, which was not sufficiently described in 
the original plan. These areas have highlighted where the first development stage 
has concluded and made clear any other milestones required to fully deliver the 
outcome. 

  

3. Consultation on Proposal  
  
3.1 The Committee considered the proposed Governance Improvement Plan at their 

meeting 15th July 2021 and review at each meeting. 
  
4. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   
  
4.1 The Governance Improvement Plan will be implemented and monitored during the 

remainder of the finance year 2021/22. 
  
5. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  
5.1 There are no financial implications relating to the proposal set out regarding the 

annual governance review however, non-compliance with the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations may result in a qualified audit opinion which could lead to a potential 
withdrawal or withholding of funding. 

  
6. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
6.1 There are no legal implications relating to the Governance Improvement Plan. 
  
7. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  
7.1 There are no human resources implications related to this report. 
  
8. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  
8.1 There are no equality and diversity implications related to this report. 

Page 124



  
9. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
  
9.1 There are no climate change implications related to this report. 
  
10. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  
10.1 There are no information and communication technology implications related to this 

report. 
  
11. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   

 
11.1 There are no communications or marketing implications related to this report. 

 
List of Appendices Included 
 
A Governance Improvement Plan – Progress Update 
   

Background Papers 
Item 15 – Audit and Standards Committee agenda, 15th July 2021 – Draft AGS 
https://moderngov.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=142&MId=386&Ver=4  
  
  

 

Page 125

https://moderngov.sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=142&MId=386&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A       January 2022 

Governance Improvement Plan 2021-2022 

No. Focus for 2021/22  Lead Milestones/ 
Deadline 

Status Update RAG Rating 

     OCT JAN 

 Strategic      

1 Continued implementation of 
operational improvements to public 
transport as a consequence of the 
Bus Review and subsequent national 
policy statements 

Head of Paid Service / 
PTE DG 

CONFIRMED 
DATES 
 
Oct 21 
 
 
 
 
Jan 22 
 
 
 
 
 

ON-TRACK 
Development of the Bus Service Improvement Plan 
(BSIP) as required by the National Bus Strategy (NBS) 
is on track for submission to DfT by 31 Oct. As well as 
the development of a robust evidence base the BSIP 
has drawn heavily on the findings of the Bus Review 
and engagement with a variety of stakeholder groups. 
Once submitted the BSIP will form the basis of an 
Enhanced Partnership Plan which will go out to public 
consultation in Jan 22. 
 
Government support for bus services moved to Bus 
Recovery Funding which will run from September 
through to April next year. As part of this process 
baselines for service delivery have been agreed with 
local operators to maintain current service provision. 
 
In spite of this challenges remain to service delivery, 
primarily as a result of staff shortages. 
 
The extension of the 18 – 21 concession extension will 
run through to June 2022 with the volume of journeys 
increasing as University and college students return. 
The Summer Discount, introduced by the MCA, ran 
through August and September and take up of the 
offer has been very positive with sales comparable to 
pre-COVID levels. 

A G/A 

P
age 127



Appendix A       January 2022 

2 Implementation of the assured plan 
for full integration of the PTE into 
the MCA 

Head of Paid Service / 
Deputy CEX 

March 22 ON-TRACK 

• The plan is in deployment and Management 
Board are currently assured the fundamental 
milestone of an integrated organisation is 
achievable by the deadline of end of 21/22 
financial year.  

A G 

TBC • The formal dissolution will not take place until 
later in 2022 (no date given by HMG) but 
engagement to progress this is continuing 

A A 

3 Implementation of new decision-
making arrangements eg broadening 
the scope of the Transport Thematic 
Board 

Head of Paid Service / 
Monitoring Officer 

Dec 21 COMPLETED 
New ToR have been introduced and implemented. A 
supporting Officer Group, chaired by the lead CEX has 
been established to inform and support Decision 
Makers 

G G 

4 Development, agreement to and 
Implementation of the Strategic 
Investment Framework 

Head of Paid Service March 22 ON-TRACK 
Development of the framework for the Strategic 
Investment Framework is well underway. To date in 
21/22 

• Leaders have agreed the principles 
underpinning the fund (23.03.21) and a 4 
stage programme of activity has been agreed 
to develop the detail of the fund 

• Stage 1 focused on priorities and has been 
completed 

• Stage 2 focuses on outcomes and these 
conversations are underway with LA 

• Stage three meetings (focusing on 
interventions and subsidiarity) will commence 
in October and run till December.  

• Stage four discussions (focusing on process 
and access to funding will run concurrently 
with stage three as this will have implications 
for the Assurance Framework, which needs to 

G G 

P
age 128



Appendix A       January 2022 

be considered by the LEP and MCA Boards in 
January and approved in March 2022. 

• The MCA will consider (potentially make 
decision on) the Borrowing Cap 21/22 to be 
agreed with HMT in November 2021. This cap 
will be agreed annually with HMT and work 
on the 22/23 borrowing cap could follow 
quickly – time to be confirmed but potentially 
for a decision March 22.  

• Proposal to go out to market for support for 
the Financial Investment Framework w/c 
11.10.21 

• The SY Renewal Fund is expected to be fully 
operational from April 2022. 

 Operational      

5 Development of new corporate 
structure and clearly defined 
responsibilities for the single 
integrated organisation 
 
 
 

Head of Paid Service / 
Deputy Chief 
Executive 

September 
21 
 
 
 
 
 

COMPLETED 

• Work on the Management Board structure 
and the consultation and confirmation of 
roles has been completed  

• The detailed structure and operating model 
have been published and presented to all 
employees (December 2021) 

A G 

Implementation phase December 
21- March 22 

ON-TRACK 
Work has commenced to brief the Trades unions, set 
up team and individual consultations (due to conclude 
28 January) 
Recruitment to new or changed positions scheduled 
to commence mid-Feb 

A G/A 

6 Development of a target operating 
model for governance to be 
developed and implemented within 
the year 

Deputy Chief 
Executive / Monitoring 
Officer 

September 
21 

COMPLETED 
As timeline above for the structural considerations.  

• Programme Board have considered a detailed 
paper on ‘ways of working’ for governance.  

• This discussion paper was delivered by June 

G G 

P
age 129



Appendix A       January 2022 

21. More detailed actions flowing from this 
will continue to be refined and implemented 
before the end of the financial year.   

7 Development of a target operating 
model for risk management to be 
developed and implemented within 
the year 

Deputy Chief 
Executive / Monitoring 
Officer 

January 22 ON-TRACK 
After being originally delayed and a revised date set, 
work is progressing quickly.  

• Interim Risk Manager has been appointed 
(commenced in role Sept 21) 

• A full review of MCA and PTE risk reporting 
has concluded. 

• A number of risk deep dives are being 
undertaken 

• A new process / protocol is in development 
for the new organisation, for risk 
management to be embedded at team level – 
with appropriate escalation routes.  

• A Risk Management TOM is planned to be 
presented to the January 22 A,S&R 
Committee. 

A G/A 

8 Development of a target operating 
model for financial management to 
be developed and implemented 
within the year 

S73 Officer September 
21 

ON-TRACK 
Work has progressed to: 

• scope out the management structure for the 
finance team (completed Sept 21) 

• To agree all of the systems flows between 
finance and procurement, PMO and Contract 
Management (completed Sept 21) 

• A Project Accountant has been appointed to 

support integration activity and the move to 

the new operating model 

A G/A 

9 Development of a target operating 
model for procurement to be 
developed and implemented within 

S73 Officer / 
Monitoring Officer 

September 
21 

ON-TRACK 
Work has progressed to: 

• scope out the management structure for the 

A G/A 

P
age 130



Appendix A       January 2022 

the year finance team (completed Sept 21) 

• To agree all of the systems flows between 
finance and procurement, PMO and Contract 
Management (completed Sept 21) 

• Interim procurement support has been 

appointed to support integration activity and 

the move to the new operating model 

10 Development of a target operating 
model for programme management 
to be developed and implemented 
within the year 

S73 Officer September 
21 
 
 
 
 
 
 
October 21 

ON-TRACK 
Work has progressed to: 

• scope out the management structure for the 
team (completed Sept 21) 

• To agree all of the systems flows between 
finance and procurement, PMO and Contract 
Management (completed Sept 21) 

• Additional work is required to ensure clarity 
as to what the scope of a formal PMO is and 
how a business partnering approach could 
work. This deadline is for the end October 21 

G G/A 

11 Review, agree and implement a new 
officer scheme of delegation 

S73 / Monitoring 
Officer 

December 21 COMPLETED 

• This has been developed and approved by the 
MCA in September. 

• Guidance Notes have been drafted and work 
to implement is underway. 

G G 

12 Embedding of new CPRs and a Social 
Value Policy and officer briefing and 
training 

S73 Officer December 21 ON-TRACK 

• The CPRs have been embedded and tested 
through an internal audit report that provides 
substantial assurance 

• Work continues with Policy colleagues to 
develop a Social Value Policy 

G G/A 

13 Roll out of new corporate induction Deputy Chief 
Executive 

June - July 21 
 
 

COMPLETED 

• Roll-out of all resources on the eLearning 
portal, supplemented by face to face office 

G G 

P
age 131



Appendix A       January 2022 

 
 
ADDITIONAL 
WORK DATE 
March 22 

induction, CEX meet and greet and 
organisational induction 

• Resources require updating to reflect the 
move to joint MCA Exec / PTE induction in a 
single programme 

• This work will commence alongside the 
integration planning but will not pause 
induction from progressing 

14 Roll out and evaluation of single 
process for performance 
development reviews across the 
integrated organisation 

Deputy Chief 
Executive 

May 21 
 

COMPLETED 

• Roll out of process commenced May 2021. 

• Process is subject to review and re-design to 
fully reflect vision, values and ways of 
working changes that arise from the 
integration into a single organisation 

G G 

15 Implementation of new job 
evaluation system for the integrated 
organisation, including renewal of all 
MCA Exec job profiles to update 
these to reflect new values etc 

Deputy Chief 
Executive 

December 21 COMPLETED 

• Work has concluded on the job evaluation 
and read across between MCA and PTE 

G G 

16 Implement arrangements for the 
monitoring of the Corporate and 
business plans. Including the 
introduction of new reporting 
arrangements 

Deputy Chief 
Executive / S73 Officer 

November 
22 
 
REVISED 
DATE 
March 22 

ON-TRACK 
After being delayed 

• Management Board considered a report on 
Corporate Plan monitoring in November 

• Further work is due to be reported at the end 
of the financial year 

A G/A 

17 Introduce a new corporate 
assurance management board to 
review all aspects of corporate 
assurance oversight 

Deputy Chief 
Executive 

REVISED 
DATE 
March 22 

DELAYED 

• This remains part of the planning, but 
implementation has been delayed. This is not 
impacting on any decision making or 
governance improvement actions as all 
matters continue to be considered by the full 
Management Board.  

• The role of a Corporate Assurance Board to 

A R/A 

P
age 132



Appendix A       January 2022 

be considered and agreed as part of the next 
steps work for governance TOM and as part 
of a piece of work on internal and external 
officer boards. 

18 Monitor and manage the impact of 
the integration on BAU strategic and 
operational risks 

Deputy Chief 
Executive 

January 22 ON-TRACK 
The review is underway, a revised Risk Framework is 
being scoped at a Management Workshop to be held 
in November. 
A presentation of a new framework is scheduled for 
January 2022 

G G 

19 Refresh core policy documents inc 
Assurance Framework, Monitoring 
and Evaluation Framework etc 

Deputy Chief 
Executive 

March 22 ON-TRACK 
Update scheduled to commence Jan-March 22 

G G 

20 Review learning from 2018 and 
implement a plan to run the 2022 
Mayoral Election 

Head of Paid Service 
(CARO) / Monitoring 
Officer 

December 21 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COMPLETED 
Planning has commenced, specific milestones 

• Election manager has commenced in post and 
planning underway.  

• Election Manager Review Meeting took place 
in November 2021, to consider 2018 lessons 
and from running elections in COVID 

• A meeting has been held with the Electoral 

Commission to update them on the activity 

underway to plan for the election 

G G 

ON-GOING 
March 2022 

ON-TRACK 

• Work to scope the Mayoral Address booklet 
has commenced, to bring forward 
development and printing to February 22 to 
ensure that a printer is in place within the 
required timescales. 

G G 

21 Develop an action plan to implement 
improvements to compliance with 
the Financial Management Code 

S73 Officer December 21 ON-TRACK 

• Work is programmed to commence ahead of 
the new calendar year to feed into the 

A G 

P
age 133



Appendix A       January 2022 

forthcoming Business Planning and Budgeting 
cycle. 

 Delivery      

22 Embed cross organisational 
Collaboration Teams to improve the 
effectiveness of major programme 
delivery 

Deputy Chief 
Executive 

Mar 22 ON-TRACK 

• The Organisational Operating Model is built 
around cross organisational collaboration / 
matrix teams, which now needs embedding  

• The City Region Sustainable Transport 
Settlement (CRSTS) work has piloted models 
of Collaboration Teams, which will be 
reviewed for lessons learned 

A G/A 

23 Full review of the lifecycle of 
programme development concluded 
and improvements made to inform 
continual improvements 

Deputy Chief 
Executive 

June 21 
(report) 

ON-TRACK 

• The business process Re-engineering work 
concluded the independent review phase and 
reported in July to the regions LA CEX 

• A new phase is being scoped led by the 
Director of Resources for SCC and the Dep 
CEX MCA, including all LA Eds to plan and 
implement actions arising from the review.  

• There is no fixed end date on this work, the 
ambition is to have an initial implementation 
plan developed this calendar year  

G/A G/A 

 

P
age 134



 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
 

27 January 2022 
 

Governance Improvement Plan 2021/22 – Progress Update 
 

Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Purpose of this report: 
 

Monitoring/Assurance 
 

Is this a Key Decision?                                   No 
 
Has it been included on the                    Not a Key Decision 
Forward Plan? 
 

 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Ruth Adams, Deputy Chief Executive 
 
Report Author(s): 
Claire James 
Claire.james@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk  
 

Ruth Adams 
Ruth.adams@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk  
 

 
Executive Summary 
This paper sets out the proposed process for the Annual Governance Review of the financial 
year ending 31st March 2022 
 

What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
Continually improving governance enables the Combined Authority to pursue its ambitions and 
objectives in the most effective and efficient way, bringing about better outcomes for people 
and businesses in South Yorkshire. 
 

Recommendations   
The Committee is asked to consider the proposed process for conducting the Annual 
Governance Review for the financial year ending 31st March 2022. 
 
Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
None  

 
 

Page 135

Agenda Item 14

mailto:Claire.james@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk
mailto:Ruth.adams@sheffieldcityregion.org.uk


1.  Background  
  
1.1 Regulation 6(1)(a) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require an authority 

to conduct a review, at least once in a year, of the effectiveness of its systems of 
internal control and include a statement reporting on the review with any published 
Statement of Accounts.  
 
The scope of the MCA’s governance and internal control framework spans the 
whole of the organisation’s activities and, as recommended in the CIPFA/SOLACE 
Framework Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 2016, is described 
in MCA’s Local Code of Corporate Governance. The Code demonstrates that 
governance arrangements comply with the core and sub-principles contained in the 
Framework.  
 
The proposed process for conducting the required annual review of MCA 
governance arrangements is outlined in section 2.1. The findings of the review will 
inform the Annual Governance Statement which will be published with the 21/22 
Accounts. 

  
2. Key Issues 
  
2.1 Review Process 

During February and March, the MCA Executive will conduct an assessment of 
compliance with the Local Code of Corporate Governance; to gain assurance the 
effectiveness of current arrangements and to; identify any opportunities for 
improvement. 
 
This process will include:  

• a review with MCA Statutory Officers 

• a review with Management Board 

• One to ones with Assistant Directors and specific team members where 
required. 
 

The initial findings of the review will be reported to the Committee in March 2022 
and a draft Annual Governance Statement is scheduled to be presented to the 
Audit and Standards Committee in June 2022. 

 
  

3. Consultation on Proposal  
  
3.1 The Management Board of the MCA Executive and Statutory Officers have and will 

continue to be consulted in the undertaking of this review.  
  
4. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   
  
4.1 The Annual Governance Review will be conducted and concluded by March 2022 

in order to prepare the Annual Governance Statement and the Governance 
Improvement Plan for 22/23. 

  
5. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice  
  

Page 136



5.1 The outcome of the annual governance review will be published in the Annual 
Governance Statement as part of the Authority’s statutory accounts. It is important 
that the review assesses the adequacy of the Authority’s internal financial controls 
as per the Financial Regulations. Failure to do so could result in a qualified value 
for money opinion issued by the external auditor, thus undermining confidence in 
the Authority’s stewardship of public funding. 
 
Furthermore, the risk associated with poor governance practice could result in poor 
financial decision making and, could result in material financial penalties including 
the withholding or reduction in grant received. 

  
6. Legal Implications and Advice  
  
6.1 Failure to comply with the principles of good governance ultimately could lead to 

and External Audit opinion qualification. Additionally, in the context of LEP 
governance could result in MHCLG intervention. 

  
7. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  
7.1 There are no human resources implications related to this report. 
  
8. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  
8.1 There are no equality and diversity implications related to this report. 
  
9. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
  
9.1 There are no climate change implications related to this report. 
  
10. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  
10.1 There are no information and communication technology implications related to this 

report. 
  
11. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice   

 
11.1 The activity described in this paper is internally focussed however it will culminate 

in the publication of the Annual Governance Statement alongside the Authority’s 
accounts.  

  
List of Appendices Included 
 
A None 
   

Background Papers 
           None  
  

 

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Commercial in confidence 

 
Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 

 
27 January 2022 

 
Internal Audit Plan 21/22 Progress Report 

 

Is the paper exempt from the press and public? No 
  
Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: 
 

Discussion 
 

Is this a Key Decision?                                                                           No 
 
Has it been included on the Forward Plan?                       Not a Key Decision 
 

Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Ruth Adams, Deputy Chief Executive 
 
Report Author(s): 
Lisa Mackenzie, Internal Audit – Grant Thornton 
 

 
Executive Summary 
This report provides an update on the progress of the 2021/22 Group Internal Audit Plan 
 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
Internal Audit supports the organisation in helping to achieve its objectives by giving assurance 
on its internal control and governance arrangements. Good governance enables the Combined 
Authority to pursue its ambitions and objectives in the most effective and efficient way, bringing 
about better outcomes for residents and businesses in South Yorkshire. 
 
Recommendations   
The Audit, Standards and Risk Committee are asked to note the progress of 2021/22 audit 
activity undertaken by Grant Thornton for:  

• Joint MCA & SYPTE audits  

• MCA audits  

• SYPTE audits 
 
List of Appendices Included 
A Internal Audit Progress Report January 2022 
   

Background Papers 

None. 
 

Page 139

Agenda Item 15



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 141

mailto:emily.j.mayne@uk.gt.com
mailto:lisa.p.mackenzie@uk.gt.com


Commercial in confidence

•

•

P
age 142



Commercial in confidence

P
age 143



Commercial in confidence

Annual reviews for HOIA opinion

Governance

Critical IT Controls

Group audits

P
age 144



Commercial in confidence

MCA

AEB

PTE

P
age 145



Commercial in confidence

P
age 146



grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 147



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 149

mailto:emily.j.mayne@uk.gt.com
mailto:lisa.p.mackenzie@uk.gt.com
mailto:matt.d.lee@uk.gt.com


Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 150



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 151



Commercial in confidence

P
age 152



Commercial in confidence

P
age 153



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 154



Commercial in confidence

1.1

P
age 155



Commercial in confidence

1.2

P
age 156



P
age 157



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 158



Commercial in confidence

P
age 159



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 160



P
age 161



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 163

mailto:emily.j.mayne@uk.gt.com
mailto:lisa.p.mackenzie@uk.gt.com
mailto:john.owens@uk.gt.com


Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 164



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 165



Commercial in confidence

P
age 166



Commercial in confidence

P
age 167



Commercial in confidence

P
age 168



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 169



Commercial in confidence

1.

P
age 170



Commercial in confidence

2.

•

•P
age 171



Commercial in confidence

3.

•

•

•

P
age 172



Commercial in confidence

4.

P
age 173



Commercial in confidence

5.

P
age 174



P
age 175



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 176



Commercial in confidence

P
age 177



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 178



P
age 179



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 181

mailto:emily.j.mayne@uk.gt.com
mailto:lisa.p.mackenzie@uk.gt.com
mailto:john.owens@uk.gt.com


Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 182



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 183



Commercial in confidence

P
age 184



Commercial in confidence

P
age 185



Commercial in confidence

P
age 186



Commercial in confidence

•

•

P
age 187



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 188



Commercial in confidence

P
age 189



Commercial in confidence

P
age 190



Commercial in confidence

P
age 191



Commercial in confidence

P
age 192



Commercial in confidence

P
age 193



Commercial in confidence

P
age 194



Commercial in confidence

P
age 195



P
age 196



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 197



Commercial in confidence

P
age 198



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 199



P
age 200



P
age 201

mailto:emily.j.mayne@uk.gt.com
mailto:lisa.p.mackenzie@uk.gt.com
mailto:peter.re.rought@uk.gt.com


Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 202



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 203



Commercial in confidence

•

-

-

•

-

-

•

-

-

•

-

-

•

-

-

P
age 204



Commercial in confidence

P
age 205



Commercial in confidence

•

-

-

•

-

-

•

-

-

•

-

-

•

-

-

P
age 206



Commercial in confidence

1

•

•

•

P
age 207



Commercial in confidence

2.1

•

•

•

P
age 208



Commercial in confidence

2.2

P
age 209



Commercial in confidence

3

P
age 210



Commercial in confidence

4

P
age 211



Commercial in confidence

5

•

•

•

P
age 212



Commercial in confidence

6

P
age 213



P
age 214



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 215



Commercial in confidence

P
age 216



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 217



P
age 218



P
age 219



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker Report | Year ending 31 March 2022

Commercial in confidence

2

4

2

3

5

4

1

4

1

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Implemented Superseded Overdue Not Yet Due

Low Medium High

P
age 220



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker Report | Year ending 31 March 2022

Commercial in confidence

3

10

1

3

4

Not yet due Overdue High Medium Low risk

3

1

0

1

2

3

4

5

Group Finance Director

Low Medium High

P
age 221



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker Report | Year ending 31 March 2022

Commercial in confidence

4

Management Comment

GT Comment:

P
age 222



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker Report | Year ending 31 March 2022

Commercial in confidence

The table below describes how we grade our audit recommendations based on risks: 

Appendix 1: 

Our recommendation ratings

5

Rating Description Possible features

Findings that are fundamental to the management 

of risk in the business area, representing a 

weakness in the design or application of activities 

or control that requires the immediate attention of 

management

• Key activity or control not designed or operating effectively

• Potential for fraud identified

• Non-compliance with key procedures/standards

• Non-compliance with regulation

Findings that are important to the management of 

risk in the business area, representing a moderate 

weakness in the design or application of activities 

or control that requires the immediate attention of 

management

• Important activity or control not designed or operating effectively 

• Impact is contained within the department and compensating controls would detect errors

• Possibility for fraud exists

• Control failures identified but not in key controls

• Non-compliance with procedures/standards (but not resulting in key control failure)

Findings that identify non-compliance with 

established procedures, or which identify changes 

that could improve the efficiency and/or 

effectiveness of the activity or control but which are 

not vital to the management of risk in the business 

area. 

• Minor control design or operational weakness 

• Minor non-compliance with procedures/standards

•

•

P
age 223



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Recommendation Tracker October 2020

Commercial in confidence

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 224



Committee/Board Name and Date of Meeting: 
Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 

Meeting Date: 
27 January 2022 

Report Title 
Integration Assurance Update 

Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

Reason why exempt:   Not applicable 

Purpose of this report: Monitoring/Assurance 

Is this a Key Decision?    No 

Has it been included on the   No 
Forward Plan? 

Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Ruth Adams, Deputy Chief Executive 

Report Author(s): 
Claire James 
Claire.james@Southyorks-ca.gov.uk 

Executive Summary 
This paper reports on the assurance activity for the Integration Programme. 

What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
The decision to formally integrate the PTE and MCA was made in order to ensure greater 
political oversight and decision making of passenger transport services in South Yorkshire. 

Recommendations   
The Committee are asked to consider the report and verbal update provided by the Chair of the 
Audit, Standards and Risk Advisory Panel in seeking assurance on the progress towards 
integration. 

Consideration by any other Board, Committee, Assurance or Advisory Panel 
Appendix 1 of this report was considered by the Audit and Risk Advisory Panel 13th January 
2022. 

Page 225

Agenda Item 16

mailto:Claire.james@Southyorks-ca.gov.uk


1. Background

1.1 The Audit, Standards and Risk Advisory Panel terms of reference include 
undertaking assurance of the Integration Programme. This report updates the 
Committee on the assurance received by the Panel at its last meeting held on 13th 
January. The report also provides an update on the progress of the Integration 
Programme. 

2. Key Issues

2.1 Programme Progress

The Programme Plan for Integration set out two key milestones:

• Integration of two organisations into a single MCA Executive (operational by
01.04.22)

• Legal dissolution of the PTE via a statutory order (by 31.03.22)

The first of these milestones is on track to be achieved within timescales set out. 
The second will not be achieved as government have confirmed that they are 
unable to progress the statutory process to dissolve the PTE prior to the May 
elections.  

The implications of this are that the legal identities of the two organisations will 
continue into the new financial year. Work has been undertaken that sets out the 
implications of the delay to the statutory order for consideration by the Programme 
Board and scrutiny by the ASRC Panel. An example of this is that 2 sets of 
accounts will still be required to be produced in 22/23. The mitigation plan was 
agreed by the Programme Board on 11th January.  

2.2 Programme Governance and Assurance Activity 

The Advisory Panel on 13th January, considered a summary of the assurance 
activity undertaken by the Programme Management Office since the Panel last 
met in October. This included: 

• An overview of the Programme Governance meetings held and their remit
and outputs

• The actions taken to strengthen Programme Management (including the
introduction of a formal change management process)

• The outputs from the Phase One Programme Review activity at the end
October/beginning of November which included lessons learned
recommendations and change requests

• An overview of the business areas requiring workarounds due to the delay
of the dissolution Order

• The outline timetable for the next phase of the Programme which is
focussed on mobilising the new structure and operating model.

2.3 The Panel also received a presentation that focussed on the overall condition or 
health of the Programme by examining key indicators including: 

• Critical milestones – are these being met?

• Change Requests – are we making a significant number of changes to the
programme plan and will this impact on achievement of objectives/benefits
realisation and timescales?

Page 226



• Slippage – are we managing to stick to our plan and any slippage brought
back on line?

• Resources – is the Programme resourced appropriately and keeping within
budget?

• Engagement - how are we making sure our people are on board, do they
understand what’s going on and why and what it means for them?

2.4 Next Steps 

Work is continuing to fully implement the new integrated structure before 
commencement of the new financial year, and thus conclude the formal 
integration.  

In addition, but largely separate to the integration programme plan work has 
continued to scope the next phases of work for the new organisation, including  
planning the activity that will begin to transform the organisation - in essence the 
integrated 2022/23 business planning activity that is currently underway.  
The third strand - ‘Realisation’, deals with driving the longer-term benefits we aim 
to achieve from the Programme.   

3. Risks and Mitigations

3.1 Programme workstream risks are reviewed on a fortnightly basis and updated risk
registers are provided to the Programme Board at their monthly meetings. The risk
profile of the Programme will be reviewed following confirmation of the approach to
phase 3 delivery and any impacts on staffing due to the prevalence of Covid in
South Yorkshire.

3.2 The Panel also received a report on the work in progress to combine the risk
registers of the MCA and the PTE into a new risk framework.  The Integration
project and its current risk rating appears on the combined risk register for the
integrated organisation – included on today’s agenda.

4. Consultation on Proposal

4.1 This report is provided for update and assurance.

5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision

5.1 This report is provided for update and assurance.

6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice

6.1 There are no direct financial implications of this update. The Budget and
Programme Board reports, report on spend on integration.

7. Legal Implications and Advice

7.1 No direct implications as a result of this update.

8. Human Resources Implications and Advice

8.1 No direct implications as a result of this update.

Page 227



9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice

9.1 No direct implications as a result of this update.

10. Climate Change Implications and Advice

10.1 No direct implications as a result of this update. 

11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice

11.1 No direct implications as a result of this update. 

12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice

12.1 An internal communication plan and stakeholder plan has been agreed by the 
Programme Board. 

List of Appendices Included 
1 Slide deck presented to Audit, Standards and Risk Advisory Panel Report 13th January 

2022 

Page 228



Advisory Panel – 13th January 2022

Presented by

Ruth Adams/Claire James

Appendix 1

P
age 229



South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority

Key Indicators

Critical Milestones
• 31st October – decision on high-level organisational structure - met
• 7th January - confirmation of Statutory Order – not met
• 31st March - Dissolution of PTE – new date to be confirmed
• 1st April – Integrated Organisation – on target

Change Requests

Slippage

Resources

Engagement

P
age 230



South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority

Focus for Phase 3

P
age 231



Thank you

P
age 232



 

Audit and Standards Committee 
 

27 January 2022 
 

Contract Procedure Rules: Breach Report 
 

Is the paper exempt from the press 
and public? 

No 

  
Purpose of this report: 
 

Discussion 
 

Is this a Key Decision?                                   No 
 
Has it been included on the                    Not a Key Decision 
Forward Plan? 
 

 
Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Gareth Sutton, Chief Finance Officer/s73 Officer 
 
Report Author(s): 
Gareth Sutton 
Gareth.sutton@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk 
 

 
Executive Summary 
How the MCA procures activity and manages contracts is governed by the Contract Procedure 
Rules (CPRs).  
 

The CPRs are a Constitutional document and must be adhered to by all officers. The Group 
Finance Director is responsible for the content and application of these rules through Finance, 
Procurement and Contracting teams. 
 
This report provides details on occasions where the CPR rules have been breached. Providing 
transparency on breaches affords the Committee oversight on potential control weaknesses 
and supports learning. The report notes that since the last reporting date there have been now 
new identified breaches. 
 
What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
The CPRs are a key internal control, designed to maximise the value of MCA expenditure and 
mitigate inherent risk. 
 

Recommendations   
Note the breach report. 
  

Page 233

Agenda Item 17



 
1.  Background  
  
1.1 This report provides an update on breaches to the CPRs. Those breaches are 

reported through Appendix A, with narrative on the nature of the breach, value, 
actions taken and lessons learnt. 

  
1.2 The breach report is designed to provide oversight for the ASC on where breaches 

are occurring and how the MCA responding. This process will support review of 
potential systemic internal control weakness and formal learning. 

  
2. Key Issues 
  
2.1 No instances of procurement breaches have been noted since the last reporting 

date where two issues were identified. Actions associated with those issues have 
previously been discussed and delivered. 

  

2.2 Work continues to develop procurement and contracting practices and as part of 
the integration exercise a new target operating model has been developed that will 
bring procurement and contracting together in a new unified function. 

  
2.3 As part of the integration changes new Contract Procedure Rules will be presented 

to Board for consideration in March. 
 

  

3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal 
  
3.1 Option 1 
 Not applicable. 
  
4. Consultation on Proposal 
  
4.1 N/a 
  
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision   
  
5.1 The breach report will be represented to ASC next quarter. 
  
6. Financial and Procurement Implications and Advice 
  
6.1 This report provides an update on breaches to the CPRs. The report notes that 

where breaches occur issues are reviewed to identify lessons to be learned. 
  
7. Legal Implications and Advice 
  
7.1 None 
 
 

 

8. Human Resources Implications and Advice 
  
8.1 None  
  

Page 234



9. Equality and Diversity Implications and Advice 
  
9.1 None 
  
10. Climate Change Implications and Advice 
  
10.1 None  
  
11. Information and Communication Technology Implications and Advice 
  
11.1 None 
  
12. Communications and Marketing Implications and Advice 

 
12.1 None  

 
List of Appendices Included 
 
A Breach Report 
   

Background Papers 
None 
  
  

 

Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank



Ref Directorate Date 
Reported 

Activity Value Breach Type Action and Lessons Learnt Status 

1 THIP 
(Active 
Travel) 

November 
21 

Communications support 
for Active Travel 
programme 

£5k Appointment of a contractor 
without authorisation and 
contract 

Retrospective authorisation agreed. 
Retrospective contract agreed. 
Internal audit investigation undertaken. 
Review highlighted a breakdown in 
communication between senior and 
junior officers, and a lack of awareness 
around HR and procurement 
procedures, particularly with new 
officers. 
Contract and Procurement officers have 
reissued guidance and undertaken a 
number of team and one-to-one 
sessions. 
An integrated induction module covering 
Financial, Procurement, and Contracting 
rules has now been set up that is 
mandatory for all new starters. 

Resolved 

2 THIP 
(Housing) 

November 
21 

Professional services for 
Business Case 
development 

£15k Contract overspend Retrospective authorisation for contract 
extension agreed. 
Retrospective contract extension 
formalised with supplier. 
Review of the circumstances highlighted 
a misunderstanding in authority to vary 
contract specifications, and a lack of 
understanding on proper process for 
instructing suppliers.  
Contract and Procurement officers have 
undertaken a number of team and one-
to-one sessions. 

Resolved 

 

Appendix A  

P
age 237



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Audit, Standards and Risk Committee 
 

27 January 2022 
 

Committee Work Plan 
 

 
Is the paper exempt from the press and public? No 
  
Reason why exempt:   
 

Not applicable 

Purpose of this report:  Discussion 
 

Funding Stream: Not applicable 
 
Is this a Key Decision?                                                              No 

 
Has it been included on the Forward Plan?                  Not a Key Decision 

Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Ruth Adams, Deputy Chief Executive 
 
Report Author(s): 
Christine Marriott 
christine.marriott@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk   

 
Executive Summary 
This report presents an updated work plan for 2021/22. 
 

What does this mean for businesses, people and places in South Yorkshire?    
Good governance enables the MCA to pursue its ambitions and objectives in the most effective  
and efficient way, bringing about better outcomes for residents and businesses in South Yorkshire.  
 
Recommendations  
Members review the work plan for 2021/22 and agree any changes or additional items to be 
scheduled. 
 
List of Appendices Included 
A Work Plan - chronologically 

 

Page 239

Agenda Item 18

mailto:christine.marriott@southyorkshire-ca.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 

Date Agenda items 

21 October 2021 Advisory Panel Update 
Health and Safety Update/Report 
Strategic Risk Monitoring 
Annual review of Risk Management arrangements 
Update on 21/22 AGS Governance Improvement Plan Action 
Internal Audit Reports – Fraud 
Integration Update 
Breach Report 

27 January 2022 Advisory Panel Update 
Health and Safety Update/Report 
Strategic Risk Monitoring 
Mid-year Treasury Management Strategy report 
Update on 21/22 AGS Governance Improvement Plan Action 
21/22 AGR Process 
Internal Audit Reports – tbc 
Integration Update 
NEW - Breach of Controls Report 

24 March 2022 
(A morning and  
afternoon session have 
been scheduled)  

Advisory Panel Update 
Health and Safety Update/Report 
Strategic Risk Monitoring 
Initial findings of the Annual Governance Review 
2022/23 Internal Audit Plan/Internal audit strategy 
Committee Effectiveness 
Draft Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23 
Update on 21/22 AGS Governance Improvement Plan Action 
Internal Audit Reports - tbc 
External Audit Annual Plan 
Annual Review of Code of Corporate Governance 
Integration Update 
Updated Assurance and Accountability Framework 

9 June 2022 Advisory Panel Update 
Health and Safety Update/Report 
Strategic Risk Monitoring 
External Auditor’s Annual Audit and Inspection Letter 
Findings of the Annual Governance Review 
Draft Annual Governance Statement 
AMP Technology Centre Performance Update 
Update on 21/22 AGS Governance Improvement Plan Action 
Internal Audit Reports – tbc 
NEW - Breach of Controls Report 
NEW – MCA/SYPTE integration 

14 July 2022 Advisory Panel Update 
Health and Safety Update/Report 
AGR Findings and Draft AGS and GIP 
Draft Accounts 
IA Annual Report/Head of Audit Opinion  
2022/23 Internal Audit Plan Progress Report 
Internal Audit Reports  
Internal Audit Reports - tbc 
Work plan for 2022/23 

 

Page 241



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 Minutes and Actions of the Previous Meeting held on 21 October 2021
	07ii  Matters Arising_Action Log v2

	9 Health and Safety Update/Report
	09i Appendix A Health and Safety Quarterly Update Report v5
	09ii HS Report - Annex 1
	09iii HS Report - Annex 2
	09iv HS Report - Annex 3

	10 Strategic Risk Monitoring
	10i  Appendix A  - Strategy Focus Risk Management Action Plan
	10ii Appendix B - Organisational Management Risk Management Action Plan
	10iii  Appendix C - Budget & Financial Management Risk Management Action Plan
	10iv  Appendices D - Programme Management Risk Management Action Plan
	10v Appendix E - Governance & Compliance Management Risk Management Action Plan

	11 Risk Dashboard
	11i Appendix A - Risk Management Framework - Draft
	11ii Appendix B - Corporate Risk Register Draft v2

	12 Draft 2022/23 Treasury Management Strategy Report
	12i Appendix 1 - Draft Treasury Management Strategy 2022-23 v1
	12ii Appendix 2 - Draft SYMCA Treasury Management Practices

	13 Update on 21/22 AGS Governance Improvement Action Plan
	13i App A Governance Improvement Plan 2021 January 22 update v2

	14 2021/22 Annual Governance Review Process
	15 Internal Audit Reports
	15ai Internal Audit Progress Report January 2022
	15bi Critical IT Controls Final Report
	15bii Asset Management Final Report
	15bii Supplier Resilence Final Report
	15biv Core Financial Controls Final Report
	15ci App A Internal Audit Recommendation Tracker Report January 2022

	16 Integration Update
	16i Appendix 1 - Advisory Panel Update Jan 22
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4


	17 Breach of Controls Report
	17i Appendix A - CPR Breach Report

	18 Committee Work Plan 2021/22
	18i Appendix 1 - Work Plan chronological




